UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2023
[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

GENELUX CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 001-41599 77-0583529
(State or other jurisdiction of Commission (IRS Employee
incorporation or organization) File Number Identification No.)

2625 Townsgate Road , Suite 230 , Westlake Village , California 91361
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(805) 267-9889
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act:

Title of each class registered: Trading symbol: Name of each exchange on which registered:
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share GNLX The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(Nasdaq Capital Market)

Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the issuer (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements
for the past 90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting company filer.
See definition of “accelerated filer” and “large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer O Non-Accelerated Filer
Accelerated Filer OJ Smaller Reporting Company
Emerging Growth Company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new
or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Yes O No

The number of shares issued and outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common equity as of August 9, 2023 was 26,182,892 .

GENELUX CORPORATION
FORM 10-Q
June 30, 2023
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I— FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Financial Statements 3
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 21
Item 3 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 34
Item 4. Control and Procedures 35
PART Ill— OTHER INFORMATION 36

Item 1 Legal Proceedings 36



Item 1A Risk Factors 36
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 109
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 110
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 110
Iltem 5. Other Information 110
Item 6. Exhibits 110
SIGNATURES 111
2
Genelux Corporation
Condensed Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except for share amounts and par value data)
June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ 27,140 $ 397
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,543 1,495
Total Current Assets 28,683 1,892
Property and equipment, net 878 644
Right of use asset 1,710 1,335
Deferred offering costs - 1,568
Other assets 92 92
Total Other Assets 2,680 3,639
TOTAL ASSETS $ 31,363 $ 5,531
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 4,484 $ 6,775
Accrued compensation 2,684 2,852
Accrued interest payable - 1,178
Accrued interest payable - director and shareholders 60 3,817
Deferred revenue - 170
Warrant liabilities - 169
Lease liability, current portion 585 266
Notes payable - shareholders, net of debt discount of $ 108 in 2022 - 992
Convertible notes payable - shareholders, current portion, including $ 65 and $ 105 past
due, respectively 65 15,407
Total Current Liabilities 7,878 31,626
Long-term Liabilities
Lease liability, long-term portion 1,229 1,164
Convertible notes payable, net of debt discount of $ 541 in 2022 - 8,524
Total Long-term Liabilities 1,229 9,688
Total Liabilities 9,107 41,314
Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Preferred stock, Series A through K, par value $ 0.001, 10,000,000 shares authorized; no
shares and 22,094,889 shares issued and outstanding, respectively; - 22
Common stock, par value $ 0.001 , 200,000,000 shares authorized; 25,855,511 and
9,126,726 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 26 9
Treasury stock, 433,333 shares, at cost (433) (433)
Additional paid-in capital 232,073 154,401
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2 2
Accumulated deficit (209,412) (189,784)
Total Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) 22,256 (35,783)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 31,363 $ 5,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Genelux Corporation

Condensed Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except for share amounts and per share data)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023

2022

(Unaudited)

Revenues $ - $

(Unaudited)

170

$




Operating expenses:

Research and development 2,943 1,827 5,788 4,196

General and administrative 2,452 972 6,239 2,067
Total operating expenses 5,395 2,799 12,027 6,263
Loss from operations (5,395) (2,799) (11,857) (6,263)
Other expenses:

Interest expense (24) (285) (167) (573)

Debt discount amortization - (50) (649) (99)

Financing costs - - (3,110) -

Debt extinguishment costs (402) - (402) -

Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan payable = 314 - 314
Total other expenses (426) (21 (4,328) (358)
NET LOSS $ (5,821) $ (2,8200 $ (16,185) $ (6,621)
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER COMMON SHARE $ (0.23) $ (0.31) $ (0.72) $ (0.73)
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE COMMON SHARES
OUTSTANDING -BASIC AND DILUTED 25,068,334 9,111,694 22,334,311 9,111,039

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Genelux Corporation
Condensed Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share amounts)
Accumulated
Preferred Stock Additional Other
Series A through K Common Stock Treasury Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Total

Balance, March 31, 2023 (
(unaudited) - % - 24,553,470 $ 24 433,333) $ (433) $ 206,689 $ 2 $ (203,591) $ 2,691
Stock compensation - - - - - - 240 - - 240
Issuance of common
shares upon the closing of
private financings, net of
offering costs - - 1,117,079 2 - - 21,640 - - 21,642
Conversion of notes
payable-shareholders and
accrued interest - - 73,134 - - - 1,865 - - 1,865
Fair value of vested
restricted stock units - - - - - - 429 - - 429
Cost of stock option
repricing - - - - - - 36 - - 36
Issuance of common
shares upon exercise of
stock warrants - - 111,828 - - - 1,174 - - 1,174
Net loss during the three
months ended June 30,
2023 = = = = = = = - (5,821) (5,821)
Balance, June 30, 2023 (
(unaudited) -3 - 25,855,511 26 433,333) $ (433) $ 232,073 $ 2 $ (209,412) $22,256
Balance, December 31, ( (
2022 22,094,889 $ 22 9,126,726 $ 9 433,333) $ (433) $ 154,401 $ 2 $ (189,784) $35,783)
Stock compensation - - - - - - 467 - - 467
Issuance of common
shares upon the closing of
the initial public offering,
net of offering costs - - 2,653,000 3 - - 12,629 - - 12,632
Issuance of common
shares upon the closing of
private financings, net of
offering costs - - 1,117,079 2 - - 21,640 - - 21,642



Issuance of common
shares upon conversion of
preferred stock 22,094,889) (22) 8,355,610 8 - - 14 - - -

Issuance of common

shares upon conversion of

convertible notes payable,

accrued interest and loan

fees - - 4,134,367 4 - - 29,892 - - 29,896

Issuance of common

shares upon conversion of

preferred stock dividends

payable - - 272,101 - - - 3,443 - (3,443) -

Fair value of vested
restricted stock units - - - - - - 627 - - 627

Cost of stock option
repricing - - - - - - 2,642 - - 2,642

Reclassification of warrant
liabilities upon the closing
of the initial public offering - - - - - - 169 - - 169

Fair value of warrants

issued in connection with

the conversion of

convertible notes payable - - - - - - 3,110 - - 3,110

Conversion of notes
payable-shareholders and
accrued interest - - 73,134 - - - 1,865 - - 1,865

Issuance of common
shares upon exercise of

stock warrants - - 123,494 - - - 1,174 - - 1,174
Net loss during the six

months ended June 30, (
2023 - - - - - - - - (16,185) 16,185)
Balance, June 30, 2023 (

(unaudited) - $ - 25,855,511 $ 26 433,333) $ (433) $ 232,073 $ 2 $  (209,412) $22,256
Balance, March 31, 2022 ( (
(unaudited) 22,094,889 $ 22 9,110,060 $ 9 433,333) $ (433)$ 152,238 $ 2 $ (188,378) $36,540)
Stock compensation - - - - - - 297 - - 297

Shares issued upon
exercise of stock warrant - - 3,333 - - c - - - i

Net loss during the three
months ended June 30,

2022 - - - - - - - - (2,820) (2,820)
Balance, June 30, 2022 ( (
(unaudited) 22,094,889 $ 22 9,113,393 $ 9 433,333) $ (433) $ 152,535 $ 2 $ (191,198) $39,063)
Balance, December 31, ( (
2021 22,094,889 $ 22 9,110,060 $ 9 433,333) $ (433)$ 151,866 $ 2 $ (184,577) $33,111)
Stock compensation - - - - - - 669 - - 669

Shares issued upon
exercise of stock warrant - - 3,333 - - - - - - -

Net loss during the six
months ended June 30,

2022 . . . . . . . 5 (6,621) (6,621)
Balance, June 30, 2022 ( (
(unaudited) 22,094,889 $ 22 9,113,393 $ 9 433,333) $ (433)$ 152,535 $ 2 $ (191,198) $39,063)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Genelux Corporation
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Six Months Ended



June 30,

2023 2022
(Unaudited)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss $ (16,185) $ (6,621)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation expense 271 277
Right-of-use asset 274 205
Amortization of debt discount 649 99
Stock compensation 467 669
Fair value of restricted stock units 627 -
Cost of stock option repricing 2,642 -
Debt extinguishment costs 402 -
Fair value of warrants issued in connection with the conversion of convertible notes payable 3,110 -
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan payable - (314)

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase) Decrease in:

Prepaid expenses and other assets (48) (514)
(Decrease) Increase in:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,658) 940
Accrued compensation (168) 12
Accrued interest payable 44 388
Deferred revenue (170) 5,460
Lease liability (265) (184)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (10,008) 417
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment ( 505) (16)
Net cash used in investing activities (505) (16)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from notes payable - shareholders 900 -
Repayment of notes payable - shareholders (660) =
Repayment of convertible notes payable - shareholders - (130)
Payment of deferred offering costs (303) (564)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock warrants 1,174 -
Proceeds from common stock issued for cash in connection with the closing of the IPO 14,503 -
Proceeds from common stock issued for cash in connection with the closing of private financings 21,642 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 37,256 (694)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 26,743 (293)
Cash beginning of period 397 4,495
Cash end of period $ 27,140 $ 4,202
Supplemental cash flows disclosures:

Interest paid $ 50 $ 185
Taxes paid $ - $ R
Supplemental non-cash financing disclosures:

Effect of the extension of right-of-use asset and operating lease $ 649 $ 686
Reclassification of deferred offering costs to shareholders’ equity $ 1,871 $ -
Reclassification of warrant liabilities to shareholders’ equity $ 169 $ -
Conversion of convertible notes payable, accrued interest and loan fees to shareholders’ equity $ 29,896 $ -
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock $ 22 $ =
Conversion of dividends payable to shareholders’ equity $ 3,443 $ -
Conversion of notes payable-shareholders and accrued interest to shareholders’ equity $ 1,463 $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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GENELUX CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(In thousands, except for share amounts and per share data)

NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Organization and Operations

Genelux Corporation (“Genelux” or the “Company”), a Delaware Corporation, incorporated on September 4, 2001, is a biomedical company located in
Westlake Village, California. The Company is engaged in the research and development of diagnostic and therapeutic solutions for cancer for which there
is no effective treatment today. The Company is focused on the development of therapeutic approaches for cancer that are designed to generate a
personalized multi-prong attack to overwhelm a tumor’s sophisticated defense mechanisms.

Basis of Presentation of Unaudited Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X.



Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial
statements. In the opinion of management, all normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating
results for the six months ended June 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The accompanying condensed financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred a net loss of $ 5,207 and used cash in operations of $ 3,571 and had a shareholders’
deficit of $ 35,783 as of December 31, 2022. As reflected in the accompanying condensed financial statements, during the six months ended June 30,
2023, the Company incurred a net loss of $ 16,185 and used cash in operations of $ 10,008 .

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company closed its initial public offering (“IPO”") and the two Private Placements (see Note 9) and
received $ 34,274 of net proceeds from these offerings. At June 30, 2023, the Company had cash on hand in the amount of $ 27,140 . The Company
also received commitments through the Private Placements in which the Company will receive an additional $ 27,500 subsequent to June 2023, but
before the end of 2023. Due to the funds received through these offerings, and the conversion of preferred stock and convertible notes payable upon the
closing of the IPO, the Company had shareholders’ equity of $ 22,256 at June 30, 2023. The Company now expects its cash on hand at June 30, 2023,
together with the $ 27,500 of future commitments from the Private Placements, will last for at least the next 12 months.

The ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the Company attaining and maintaining profitable operations in the future and raising
additional capital to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities arising from normal business operations when they come due. Since inception, the
Company has funded its operations primarily through equity and debt financings, and licensing income, and it expects to continue to rely on these sources
of capital in the future.

No assurance can be given that any future financing will be available or, if available, that it will be on terms that are satisfactory to the Company. Even if
the Company is able to obtain additional financing, it may contain undue restrictions on our operations, in the case of debt financing, or cause substantial
dilution for our stockholders, in case of equity financing, or grant unfavorable terms in licensing future licensing agreements.
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Reverse Stock Split

In August 2022, the Company effected a 1-for-3 reverse stock split of its common stock. The par value and the authorized shares of the common stock
were not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. The reverse stock split resulted in an adjustment to the conversion prices of the convertible
preferred stock to reflect a proportional decrease in the number of shares of common stock to be issued upon conversion. The accompanying financial
statements and notes to the financial statements give retroactive effect to the reverse stock split for all periods presented.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the financial
statement date, and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates are used in the valuation of accruals for
potential liabilities, valuations of stock-based compensation, and realization of deferred tax assets, among others. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of outstanding common
shares during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding plus the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if all dilutive potential common shares
had been issued.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the basic and diluted shares outstanding were the same, as potentially dilutive shares were
considered anti-dilutive. The potentially dilutive securities consisted of the following:

June 30, June 30,
2023 2022
Convertible notes payable - 3,339,752
Common stock equivalent of Series A through K convertible preferred stock - 7,567,630
Stock options 4,201,019 3,962,719
Stock warrants 932,854 751,745
Restricted stock units 113,500 -
Stock warrants, issuable in connection with convertible notes payable 105,943 183,852
Total 5,353,316 15,805,698

Revenue Recognition
The Company records revenue under the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606) which requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration
it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services.
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

e |dentification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

e |dentification of the performance obligations in the contract

e Determination of the transaction price

e Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract



e Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.
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Under certain of the Company'’s licensing, supply and collaboration agreements, it is entitled to receive payment upon the achievement of contingent
milestone events or the performance of obligations. The Company recognizes revenue based on guidance in ASC 606. In evaluating revenue recognition
under a license agreement, the Company uses a two-step process for determining whether a promised good or service (including a license of intellectual
property) is distinct and, therefore, is a performance obligation: (1) consideration of the individual good or service (i.e., whether the good or service is
capable of being distinct); and (2) consideration of whether the good or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e., whether
the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct in the context of the contract). Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria
are recorded as deferred revenue on the Company’s balance sheet. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue in the next 12 months following the
balance sheet date are classified as current liabilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company, under its Newsoara agreement, invoiced and collected $170 relating to supplying product for
Newsoara to use in their clinical trials. As the product did not ship during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded the cash received
as deferred revenue until the product was shipped. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company shipped the product to Newsoara and thus
recognized the revenue.

Deferred Offering Costs

The Company capitalizes certain legal, professional, accounting and other third-party fees that are directly associated with in-process equity issuances as
deferred offering costs until such equity issuances are consummated. After consummation of the equity issuance, these costs are recorded as a reduction
in the capitalized amount associated with the equity issuance. Should the equity issuance be delayed or abandoned, the deferred offering costs will be
expensed immediately as a charge to operating expenses in the Statement of Operations. As of December 31, 2022, the Company incurred $ 1,568 of
deferred offering costs related to the Company’s IPO, and during the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company incurred an additional $ 303 of
costs. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, a total of $ 1,871 of deferred offering costs were recorded against the net proceeds received from the
IPO.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company determines the fair value of its assets and liabilities based on the exchange price in U.S. dollars that would be received for an asset or paid
to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. The Company uses a fair value hierarchy with three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last
unobservable, to measure fair value:

e Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e [evel 2 — Inputs, other than Level 1, that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

e Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The carrying amount of the Company’s warrant liabilities of $ 169 at December 31, 2022 was based on Level 3 measurements. The carrying amounts of
financial instruments such as cash, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate the related fair values due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments. The carrying amounts of the Company’s convertible notes payable approximate their fair values as the interest rates of the notes
payable are based on prevailing market rates.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures all stock options and other stock-based awards granted based on the fair value of the award on the date of the grant and
recognizes compensation expense for those awards over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. The
Company has elected to recognize forfeitures as they occur. The reversal of compensation cost previously recognized for an award that is forfeited
because of a failure to satisfy a service or performance condition is recognized in the period of the forfeiture. Generally, the Company issues stock
options with only service-based vesting conditions and records the expense for these awards using the straight-line method over the requisite service
period.

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its statements of operations in the same manner in which the award recipient’s payroll
costs are classified or in which the award recipients’ service payments are classified.

The Company was a private company until the completion of its IPO on January 30, 2023. In 2022 and prior, the Company estimated the fair value of
common stock using an appropriate valuation methodology, in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’
Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. Each valuation methodology includes estimates
and assumptions that require the Company’s judgment. These estimates and assumptions include a number of objective and subjective factors, including
external market conditions, guideline public company information, the prices at which the Company sold its common stock to third parties in arms’ length
transactions, the rights and preferences of securities senior to the Company’s common stock at the time, and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event
such as an initial public offering or sale. Significant changes to the assumptions used in the valuations could result in different fair values of stock options
at each valuation date, as applicable.

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company was a private company and lacked
company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it estimated its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of a
publicly traded set of peer companies within the biotechnology industry with characteristics similar to the Company. The expected term of the Company’s
stock options has been determined utilizing the “simplified” method for awards that qualify as “plain-vanilla” options. The expected term of stock options
granted to non-employees is equal to the contractual term of the option award. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is
zero, based on the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements



In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Credit Losses—Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASC 326"). The standard
significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets, including accounts and notes receivables. The standard will replace
today’s “incurred loss” approach with an “expected loss” model, under which companies will recognize allowances based on expected rather than
incurred losses. Entities will apply the standard’s provisions as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first
reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The standard is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2023. The adoption of ASU 2016-13
did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In May 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50),
Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’'s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Issuer’'s Accounting
for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options. ASU 2021-04 provides clarification and reduces diversity in
an issuer’s accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options (such as warrants) that remain equity classified
after modification or exchange. An issuer measures the effect of a modification or exchange as the difference between the fair value of the modified or
exchanged warrant and the fair value of that warrant immediately before modification or exchange. ASU 2021-04 introduces a recognition model that
comprises four categories of transactions and the corresponding accounting treatment for each category (equity issuance, debt origination, debt
modification, and modifications unrelated to equity issuance and debt origination or modification). ASU 2021-04 is effective for all entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021. The adoption of ASU 2021-04 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.
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Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, including its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company’s
present or future consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

June 30, December 31,
2023 2022

Furniture and office equipment $ 148 % 148
Laboratory equipment 2,762 2,762
Computer equipment 127 127
Leasehold improvements 557 557
Construction-in-progress 505 =

4,099 3,594
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,221) (2,950)
Property and equipment, net $ 878 % 644

Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $ 271 and $ 277 , respectively.
NOTE 4 - ACCRUED COMPENSATION

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had accrued compensation owed to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, another
employee and two former employees that had accrued over a several year period. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company repaid $
283 of the amounts that were accrued over the several year period. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, a total of $ 2,684 and $ 2,852,
respectively, was owed to employees for these past due balances and for current accrued payroll and other compensation related benefits.

NOTE 5 - LEASE LIABILITIES
Operating Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, which requires a lessee to record a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
at the inception of the lease initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. In July 2018, the Company entered into a long-term non-
cancellable lease agreement for its manufacturing facility that requires aggregate average monthly payments of $ 10 beginning October 2018. The lease
terminates in September 2023, with a Company option to extend for an additional five years . The Company classified the lease as an operating lease
and determined that the value of the right of use asset and lease liability at the adoption date was $ 518 and $ 519, respectively, using a discount rate of
4.00 %. Effective April 2022, the Company extended the lease for the additional five-year period, with no changes to any of the other terms of the lease,
and has the option to extend the lease for an additional five years . Prior to the extension, the remaining lease liability amounted to $ 174 . On the date of
the extension, the Company determined that the value of the new right of use asset and lease liability was $ 860 , respectively, using a discount rate of
4.00 %. As such, the Company recorded an increase in lease liability of $ 686 as a result of the lease extension.

In December 2020, the Company entered into a long-term non-cancellable lease agreement for a laboratory facility that requires aggregate average
monthly payments of $ 18 beginning January 2021. The lease terminates in February 2023. The Company classified the lease as an operating lease and
determined that the value of the right of use asset and lease liability at the adoption date was $ 439, respectively, using a discount rate of 4.00 %.
Effective February 2023, the Company extended the lease through December 2024, with no changes to any of the other terms of the lease . The average
monthly rent payment on the extended lease is approximately $ 30 per month. Prior to the extension, the remaining lease liability amounted to $ 12 . On
the date of the extension, the Company determined that the value of the new right of use asset and lease liability was $ 649, respectively, using a
discount rate of 5.5 %. As such, the Company recorded an increase in lease liability of $ 637 as a result of the lease extension.
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In July 2021, the Company entered into a long-term non-cancellable lease agreement for its new corporate headquarters that requires aggregate average
monthly payments of $ 10 beginning August 2021. The lease terminates in July 2027. The Company classified the lease as an operating lease and
determined that the value of the right of use asset and lease liability at the adoption date was $ 656 , respectively, using a discount rate of 4.00 %.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company made combined aggregate payments of $ 265 and $ 184 , respectively, towards the
lease liabilities. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the combined lease liability amounted to $ 1,814 and $ 1,430, respectively.

ASC 842 requires recognition in the statement of operations of a single lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease
term, generally on a straight-line basis. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company reflected combined amortization of the right
of use assets of $ 274 and $ 205, respectively, related to the leases, resulting in a combined net asset balance of $ 1,710 and $ 1,335 as of June 30,
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.



Other Leases

In November 2019, the Company entered into a short-term lease agreement for one of its office facilities, which was subsequently extended until
December 2022 and is currently on a month-to-month basis. Rent expense was $ 18 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

NOTE 6 - NOTES PAYABLE - SHAREHOLDERS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company, in anticipation of closing its IPO, entered into note payable agreements with several
shareholders totaling $ 1,100 . The notes accrue interest at 12 % per annum, are unsecured and are due at the earlier of June 15, 2023 or the month after
the closing of the IPO. As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest balances on the notes were $ 1,100 and $5 ,
respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company extended the due date on the notes until April 30, 2023. During the six months ended June 30,
2023, the Company borrowed an additional $ 900 from its shareholders, repaid $ 600 of principal and $ 11 of accrued interest, and $ 1,400 of principal
and $ 63 of accrued interest was converted into 73,134 shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair value of $ 1,865 . The notes accrued interest
of $ 69 during the six-month period. As of June 30, 2023, there was no outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest owed on the notes. Upon
conversion of the notes payable, the Company incurred a debt extinguishment cost of $ 402 , as the conversion price was lower than the fair value of the
shares on the conversion date. This amount was recorded as debt extinguishment costs in the Statements of Operations during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023.

In consideration for the notes issued in 2022, the Company issued the note holders stock warrants to purchase up to an aggregate total of 44,441 shares
of its common stock with an exercise price per share equal to 90% of the IPO price, or $5.40 per share, based on the IPO closing price (see Note 9). The
issuance of the warrants was contingent upon the closing of the IPO, and as such, were not formally granted until the closing of the IPO in January 2023.
The warrants expire in December 2025. The Company determined the warrants should be accounted for as a liability on the date of issuance. The
Company calculated the fair value of the warrants issued to the noteholders to be $ 169 using a Black Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions:

Exercise price $ 6.00

Expected dividends —

Expected volatility 96.0%

Risk free interest rate 3.50%

Life of the warrants 3.0
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The Company recognized a liability and recorded a debt discount at the date of issuance in 2022 in the amount of $ 169 . The Company recorded the fair
value of the warrants as warrant liabilities as of December 31, 2022. The notes’ discounts are being amortized over the term of the notes and the
unamortized portion is recognized as a reduction to the carrying amount of the notes (a valuation debt discount). During the year ended December 31,
2022, the Company amortized $ 61 of debt discount, leaving an unamortized balance of $ 108 at December 31, 2022. During the six months ended June
30, 2023, the Company amortized $ 108 of debt discount, leaving no unamortized balance at June 30, 2023.

NOTE 7 - CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE - SHAREHOLDERS

Convertible notes payable to shareholders consisted of the following as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

June 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Convertible notes payable - shareholders (a) $ 65 $ 7,838
Convertible note payable - shareholder (b) — 1,500
Convertible notes payable — shareholders (c) — 700
Convertible notes payable - shareholders (d) — 5,369
65 15,407
Less: current portion (65) (15,407)
Convertible notes payable — shareholders — long - term portion $ — % _

(a) During the years ended December 31, 2011 through 2016, the Company entered into convertible note payable agreements with individuals
aggregating to a total amount of $ 7,988 . The notes initially accrued interest at 8 % per annum, are unsecured and are convertible into the
Company’s Series K preferred stock at $ 25.73 per share.

As of December 31, 2022, the principal amount due on the notes aggregated to $ 7,838 and total accrued and unpaid interest of $ 2,890 was owed
on the notes. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, $ 60 of principal and $ 36 of accrued and unpaid interest were paid on the notes, and the
notes accrued interest of $ 15. On January 30, 2023, the date of the closing of the IPO, total principal of $ 7,778 and total accrued and unpaid
interest of $ 2,867 was owed on the notes.

Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, except for $ 65 of principal and $ 58 of accrued and unpaid interest,
automatically converted into 1,554,814 shares of the Company’s common stock based on the conversion price of $ 6.78 per share.

As of June 30, 2023, total principal of $ 65 and total accrued and unpaid interest of $ 60 was owed on the notes. The notes accrue interest at 8 % per
annum, are unsecured and are past due and payable on demand.

(b) In April 2016, the Company entered into a convertible note payable agreement with a shareholder in the amount of $ 2,661 . The note accrued
interest at 11.51 % per annum, was unsecured, had an initial maturity date of May 2018 and was convertible into the Company’s common stock at the
price of $ 6.78 per share. Interest payments are due monthly. In May 2018, the note was amended to include a provision under which the loan will
accrue $ 10 per month of loan fees through the date the loan is repaid or is converted into the Company’s common stock. The loan fees can be
converted into shares of the Company’s common stock at $ 6.78 per share.

As of December 31, 2022, total principal of $ 1,500 and total accrued and unpaid loan fees of $ 560 was owed on the note. During the six months
ended June 30, 2023, the note accrued loan fees of $ 10, and on January 30, 2023, the date of the closing of the IPO, total principal of $ 1,500 and
total accrued and unpaid loan fees of $ 570 was owed on the notes.

Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the principal plus accrued and unpaid loan fees automatically converted into 303,835 shares of the Company’s
common stock based on the conversion price of $ 6.78 . As of June 30, 2023, no principal, interest or loan fees was due on the notes.
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(d)

In April 2018, the Company entered into two convertible note payable agreements with a shareholder under which the Company borrowed an
aggregate total of $ 700 . The notes accrue interest at 5.0 % per annum, are unsecured, and are convertible into the Company’s common stock at the
lesser of $ 12.00 per share, or 90 % of the Company’s IPO price, if it were to occur.

As of December 31, 2022, total principal of $ 700 and total accrued and unpaid interest of $ 164 was owed on the notes. During the six months
ended June 30, 2023, the notes accrued interest of $ 3 , and on January 30, 2023, the date of the closing of the IPO, total principal of $ 700 and total
accrued and unpaid interest of $ 167 was owed on the notes.

Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest automatically converted into 160,563 shares of the Company’s
common stock based on the conversion price of $ 5.40 , which was 90 % of the IPO closing price. As of June 30, 2023, no principal or interest was
due on the notes.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 through 2021, the Company entered into convertible note payable agreements with several shareholders
under which the Company borrowed an aggregate amount of $ 5,369 . The notes accrue interest at 5.0 % per annum, are unsecured, and are
convertible into the Company’s common stock at the price of $ 12.00 per share, or 90 % of the Company’s IPO price, if it were to occur.

As of December 31, 2022, total principal of $ 5,369 and total accrued and unpaid interest of $ 758 was owed on the notes. During the six months
ended June 30, 2023, the notes accrued interest of $ 22 , and on January 30, 2023, the date of the closing of the IPO, total principal of $ 5,369 and
total accrued and unpaid interest of $ 780 was owed on the notes.

Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest automatically converted into 1,134,063 shares of the Company’s
common stock based on the conversion price of $ 5.40 , which was 90 % of the IPO closing price. As of June 30, 2023, no principal or interest was
due on the notes. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company issued the shareholders stock warrants to purchase up to 111,828
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $ 10.50 . All of the warrant shares were exercised during the six months ended June
30, 2023 (see Note 9).

NOTE 8 - CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

Convertible notes payable consisted of the following as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

June 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Convertible note payable $ — $ 9,065
Less: debt discount — (541)
Convertible notes payable, net $ — $ 8,524

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company entered into convertible note payable agreements with an investing group under
which the Company borrowed an aggregate amount of $ 9,065 . The notes accrue interest at 6.0 % per annum, are unsecured, and are convertible into
the Company’s common stock at the price of $ 10.50 per share. In consideration for the notes, the Company issued the noteholder stock warrants to
purchase up to 146,641 shares of its common stock with an exercise price of $ 10.50 per share. The warrants expire in September 2025.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company owed $ 9,065 of principal on the notes and $ 1,178 of accrued and unpaid interest. During the six months ended
June 30, 2023, the notes accrued interest of $ 45, and on January 30, 2023, the date of the closing of the IPO, total principal of $ 9,065 and total accrued
and unpaid interest of $ 1,223 was owed on the notes.

The Company calculated the relative fair value of the warrants issued to the noteholder and recognized a debt discount at the date of issuance. The note
discount is being amortized over the term of the note and the unamortized portion is recognized as a reduction to the carrying amount of the note (a
valuation debt discount). As of December 31, 2022, the notes had an unamortized debt discount balance of $ 541 . During the six months ended June 30,
2023, the Company amortized $ 541 of debt discount, leaving no unamortized balance at June 30, 2023.

Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest automatically converted into 979,619 shares of the Company’s common
stock based on the conversion price of $ 10.50 per share. As of June 30, 2023, no principal or interest was due on the notes.

NOTE 9 - SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2022, authorized shares and shares issued and outstanding of the Company’s preferred stock by series were as follows:

Authorized Issued and Par
Shares Outstanding Value
Series A Preferred Stock 4,500,000 4,500,000 4,500
Series B Preferred Stock 608,000 608,000 608
Series C Preferred Stock 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000
Series D Preferred Stock 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000
Series E Preferred Stock 1,591,994 1,591,994 1,592
Series F Preferred Stock 953,000 953,000 953
Series H Preferred Stock 5,000,000 536,000 536
Series | Preferred Stock 2,775,000 2,757,442 2,757
Series J Preferred Stock 2,500,000 1,281,600 1,282
Series K Preferred Stock 4,000,000 1,866,853 1,867
Total 29,927,994 22,094,889 22,095

Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO on January 30, 2023, all of the Company’s 22,094,889 outstanding shares of Series A through Series K preferred
stock automatically converted into 8,355,610 shares of common stock, of which 991,172 shares were attributable to conversion price adjustments based
on a weighted-average anti-dilution formula.



As of January 30, 2023, earned but undeclared and unpaid Series H dividends were $ 3,443 . Upon the closing of the IPO, the unpaid dividends were
automatically converted into 272,101 shares of the Company’s common stock.

In January 2023, the Company'’s Certificate of Incorporation with the state of Delaware was amended to change the number of authorized preferred
shares from 29,927,994 to 10,000,000 .

Common Stock

Authorized Shares

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue up to 200,000,000 of its common shares. Holders of shares of common
stock have full voting rights, one vote for each share held of record. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as may be declared by the Board out of
funds legally available therefore and share pro rata in any distributions to shareholders upon liquidation. Shareholders have no conversion, pre-emptive or
subscription rights. All outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and non-assessable. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were
25,855,511 and 9,126,726 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

In January 2023, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation with the state of Delaware was amended to change the number of authorized common
shares from 75,000,000 to 200,000,000 .
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Common Stock Issued for Cash Upon Closing of the Company’s IPO

On January 30, 2023, the Company completed its underwritten IPO of its common stock, in which the Company issued and sold 2,500,000 shares of its
common stock at a public offering price of $ 6.00 per share. In February 2023, the Company sold an additional 153,000 shares of common stock at $ 6.00
per share pursuant to the underwriters’ partial exercise of their option to purchase additional shares of common stock. The total gross proceeds of the IPO
were $ 15,918 and the Company raised $ 12,632 in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable
by the Company.

Common Stock Issued for Cash Upon Closing of the Company’s Private Placements

On May 12, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “PIPE 1 SPA”) with certain investors (the “PIPE 1 Purchasers”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue 1,665,213 shares of its common stock in a private placement transaction (the “First Private
Placement”). The purchase price per share of common stock was $ 20.00 per share. The initial closing of the First Private Placement occurred in May
2023 (the “PIPE 1 Initial Closing”) subject to customary closing conditions. The total gross proceeds to the Company at the PIPE 1 Initial Closing from the
First Private Placement are expected to be approximately $ 33,300, including $ 1,463 from the cancellation of certain of the Company’s bridge loans and
accrued interest (see Note 6). Two of the PIPE 1 Purchasers will, and are contractually obligated to, fund up to $ 17,500 of such PIPE 1 Purchasers’
investment amounts following the PIPE 1 Initial Closing but no later than November 15, 2023. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company
received $ 2,500 of the committed amount of $ 17,500, and subsequent to June 30, 2023, the Company received another $ 2,500 of the committed $
17,500 (see Note 11). As of June 30, 2023, the Company sold 842,079 shares of its common stock under the PIPE 1 SPA resulting in gross and net
proceeds to the Company of $ 16,842 and $ 16,342, respectively.

On June 9, 2023, the Company entered into another securities purchase agreement (the “PIPE 2 SPA”, and, together with the PIPE 1 SPA, the
“Purchase Agreements”) with certain investors (the “PIPE 2 Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue 900,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock in a private placement transaction (the “Second Private Placement”, and, together with the First Private Placement, the
“Private Placements”). The purchase price per share of Common Stock was $ 20.00 per share. The initial closing of this Second Private Placement
occurred in June 2023 (the “PIPE 2 Initial Closing”), subject to customary closing conditions. The total gross proceeds to the Company from the Second
Private Placement are expected to be approximately $ 18,000 . One of the PIPE 2 Purchasers will, and is contractually obligated to, fund upto $ 12,500
of such PIPE 2 Purchaser’s investment amounts following the PIPE 2 Initial Closing, but no later than November 15, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the
Company sold 275,000 shares of its common stock under the PIPE 2 SPA resulting in gross and net proceeds to the Company of $ 5,500 and $ 5,300,
respectively.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company sold 1,117,079 shares of its common stock under the Purchase Agreements resulting in the total gross and net
proceeds to the Company from the First Private Placement and the Second Private Placement of $ 22,342 and $ 21,642 , respectively.

Grant of Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes restricted common stock activity during the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant
Restricted Date Fair
Shares Fair Value Value
Non-vested, December 31, 2022 - $ - -
Granted 113,500 746 6.57
Vested - (627) 6.57
Forfeited - - -
Non-vested, June 30, 2023 113,500 $ 119 $ 6.57
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On February 17, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the issuance of a combined total of 113,500 restricted shares of the Company’s
common stock to certain of its officers, directors and consultants. The fair value of the shares on the date of grant was $ 746 . All of the shares vested on
July 25, 2023, but the shares will be issued to the RSU holders in August 2023. As such, no common shares were issued during the six months ended
June 30, 2023. The RSU shares were granted under the Company’s 2022 Equity Incentive Plan.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded $ 627 of stock compensation for the fair value vesting of restricted common stock
and as of June 30, 2023, unamortized compensation of $ 119 remained that will be amortized over the remaining vesting period, through July 2023.

Stock Options

In August 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (“the 2009 Plan”). The 2009 Plan was
initiated to encourage and enable employees, directors and consultants of the Company to acquire and retain a proprietary interest in the Company by



ownership of its common stock. A total of 6,166,666 of the authorized shares of the Company’s common stock may be subject to, or issued pursuant to,
the terms of the plan. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, no shares were available for grant under the 2009 plan.

In September 2018, the Company’'s Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (“the 2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan was
initiated to encourage and enable employees, directors and consultants of the Company to acquire and retain a proprietary interest in the Company by
ownership of its common stock. The 2019 Plan allows for the following types of awards: (i) Incentive Stock Options; (ii) Nonstatutory Stock Options; (iii)
Stock Appreciation Rights; (iv) Restricted Stock Awards; (v) Restricted Stock Unit Awards; (vi) Other Stock Awards. The maximum number of shares of
our common stock that may be issued under our 2019 Plan is 2,059,073 shares. Outstanding stock awards granted under the 2009 Plan that (i) expire or
terminate for any reason prior to exercise or settlement; (ii) are forfeited because of failure to meet a contingency or condition required to vest such shares
or otherwise return to us; or (iii) are required or withheld (or not issued) to satisfy a tax withholding obligation in connection with an award or to satisfy the
purchase price or exercise price of a stock award can be added to the authorized shares as Returning Shares, not to exceed 3,774,260 shares. The
maximum number of shares of our common stock under our 2019 Plan that may be issued is 5,833,333 shares. As of June 30, 2023, a total of 1,632,314
shares were available for grant under the 2019 plan, and a total of 2,686,500 were available for grant under the 2022 plan.

Option exercise prices are set forth in the Grant Notice, without commission or other charge, provided however, that the price per share of the shares
subject to the option shall not be less than the greater of (i) 100% of the fair market value of a share of stock on the grant date, or (ii) 110% of the fair
market value of a share of stock on the grant date in the case of a Participant then owning more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all
classes of stock of the Company or any “subsidiary corporation” of the Company or any “parent corporation” of the Company. Options to employees,
directors and consultants generally vest and become exercisable over a period not exceeding four years. Options typically expire ten years after date of
grant.

The Company’s policy is to recognize compensation cost for awards with only service conditions on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period
for the entire award. Additionally, the Company’s policy is to issue new shares of common stock to satisfy stock option exercises. The Company applied
fair value accounting for all share-based payments awards. The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model.
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The table below summarizes the Company’s stock option activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Exercise
Number of Price Range Weighted Average
Option Shares Per Share Exercise Price
Balance, December 31, 2022 4,201,019 $ 6.00-10.50 $ 6.09
Granted — — —
Cancelled — — —
Exercised — — —
Expired — — —
Balance, June 30, 2023 4,201,019 $ 6.00-1050 $ 6.09
Vested and exercisable, June 30, 2023 4,005,267 $ 6.00-1050 $ 6.10
Unvested, June 30, 2023 195752 $ 6.00 $ 6.00

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options as of June 30, 2023:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Average Average

Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted

Average Contractual Average

Range of Exercise Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Life Exercise

Prices Outstanding (in years) Price Exercisable (in years) Price

$ 6.00 4,092,887 498 $ 6.00 3,897,135 481 $ 6.00
9.00 - 10.50 108,132 2.31 9.67 108,132 2.31 9.67
$ 6.00 - 10.50 4,201,019 4.91 $ 6.09 4,005,267 474  $ 6.10

In September 2022, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock option repricing whereby the exercise prices of previously granted and
unexercised options held by certain employees, directors and key advisers with exercise prices between $ 9.00 and $ 10.50 per share, would be adjusted
(the “Stock Option Repricing”) to equal the initial offering price, contingent and effective upon the completion of the Company’s IPO. In connection with the
closing of the IPO, the Stock Option Repricing was completed and the options to purchase 4,092,887 shares of the Company’s common stock, with
exercise prices previously between $ 9.00 and $ 10.50 , were repriced to the initial offering price of $ 6.00 per share, of which a total of 2,796,400 shares
of Common Stock are held by executive officers and directors. The total cost of the repricing was $ 2,733, of which $ 2,642 was recorded during the six
months ended June 30, 2023, with the remainder of the cost being recorded over the future vesting periods of the options.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded $ 467 of stock compensation for the value of all options vesting during the period. As
of June 30, 2023, unvested compensation of $ 1,511 remained that will be amortized over the remaining vesting period, through September 2025. The
aggregate intrinsic value for option shares outstanding at June 30, 2023 was $ 111,765 .

At the time of the issuances of stock options, the Company believed the Company’s estimates of the fair value for financial reporting purposes of the
Company’s common stock were reasonable and consistent with the Company’s understanding of how similarly situated companies in the industry were
valued.
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Stock Warrants

The table below summarizes the Company’s warrants activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Exercise
Number of Price Range Weighted Average
Warrant Shares Per Share Exercise Price
Balance, December 31, 2022 725,174 % 3.00-1050 $ 8.24

Granted 340,972 5.40 - 10.50 7.40



Cancelled (36) 9.00 9.00

Exercised (128,494) 9.00 — 10.50 10.31
Expired (4,762) 10.50 10.50
Balance, June 30, 2023 932,854 $ 3.00-1050 $ 7.64
Vested and exercisable, June 30, 2023 932,854 $ 3.00-1050 $ 7.64

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable warrants as of June 30, 2023:

Warrants Outstanding Warrants Exercisable
Average Average

Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted

Range of Contractual Average

Exercise Number Contractual Life Average Number Life Exercise

Prices Outstanding (in years) Exercise Price Exercisable (in years) Price

$ 3.00 133,333 3.67 $ 3.00 133,333 3.67 $ 3.00
3.01-10.49 637,643 3.04 7.85 637,643 3.04 7.85
10.50 161,878 2.08 10.50 161,878 2.08 10.50
$ 3.00 —10.50 932,854 2.96 $ 7.64 932,854 2.96 $ 7.64

Upon the closing of the IPO and the overallotment exercises, the Company agreed to issue to the underwriters, warrants entitling them to purchase up to
184,703 shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $ 6.00 per share and expire on the fifth anniversary of the
closing date of the IPO, or January 2028.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company granted warrants to certain of its lenders to purchase up to 44,441 shares of the Company’s
common stock (see Note 6). The warrants have an exercise price of $ 5.40 per share and expire three years from the date of the grant.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company granted warrants to certain of its lenders to purchase up to 111,828 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $ 10.50 per share and expire in April 2023. The Company calculated the aggregate fair value of
the warrants on the date of grant to be $ 3,110 using a Black-Scholes pricing model. As all of the debt converted during the six months ended June 30,
2023, the value of the warrants was recorded as a financing cost during the same period. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the 111,828
shares were exercised for proceeds of $ 1,174 .

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, a warrant holder completed a cashless exercise of a warrant to purchase 16,666 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $ 9.00 per share . Pursuant to this exercise, the warrant holder received 11,666 shares of the Company’s common stock.

The aggregate intrinsic value for warrant shares outstanding at June 30, 2023 was $ 16,917 .
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NOTE 10 - LEGAL MATTERS

We are currently involved in one pending litigation. Although the results of the pending legal proceeding in which we currently are involved cannot be
predicted with certainty, we do not believe that there is a reasonable possibility that the final outcome of this matter will have a material adverse effect on
our business or financial results. Regardless of the final outcome, however, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, harm to our reputation and brand, and other factors.

In the future, we may be involved in additional actual and/or threatened legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquiries arising in the
ordinary course of our business, including legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquiries involving intellectual property, data privacy
and data protection, privacy and other torts, illegal or objectionable content, consumer protection, securities, employment, contractual rights, civil rights
infringement, false or misleading advertising, or other legal claims relating to our business.

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to June 30, 2023, the Company received $ 2,500 through its Private Placements (see Note 9).

Subsequent to June 30, 2023, two option holders exercised 71,615 option shares at an exercise price of $ 6.00 per share for proceeds of $ 430 .

Subsequent to June 30, 2023, several warrant holders completed a cashless exercise of warrants to purchase 168,507 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $ 6.00 per share. Pursuant to these exercises, the warrant holders received 127,373 shares of the Company’s common stock.

Subsequent to June 30, 2023, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of common stock to two stockholders in connection with their converted
convertible notes payable. The total warrant shares issued were 105,943 shares with exercise prices of $ 9.00 and $ 10.50 per share.
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Item 2. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our unaudited
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Quarterly Report”), and with
our audited financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2022, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

In addition to historical information, some of the statements contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We have
based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and any projections about future events. The following information and any forward-
looking statements should be considered in light of factors discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, particularly including those risks identified in Part
Il, Item 1A “Risk Factors” and our other filings with the Securities Exchange Commission, or SEC.

We caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that our actual results of operations, financial
condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate may differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in
this Quarterly Report. Statements made herein are as of the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report with the SEC and should not be relied upon as of



any subsequent date. Even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate are
consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report, they may not be predictive of results or developments in future periods.
We disclaim any obligation, except as specifically required by law and the rules of the SEC, to publicly update or revise any such statements to reflect any
change in our expectations or in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements may be based or that may affect the likelihood that
actual results will differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.

Overview

Genelux is a late clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing a pipeline of next-generation oncolytic viral immunotherapies for
patients suffering from aggressive and/or difficult-to-treat solid tumor types. Our most advanced product candidate, Olvi-Vec, is a proprietary, modified
strain of the VACV, a stable DNA virus with a large engineering capacity. We have met the preestablished endpoint for our Phase 2 clinical trial of Olvi-
Vec in PRROC. Employing our CHOICE platform, we have developed an extensive library of isolated and engineered oncolytic vaccinia virus
immunotherapeutic product candidates. These provide potential utility in multiple tumor types in both the monotherapy and combination therapy settings,
via physician- preferred administration techniques, including regional (e.g., intraperitoneal), local and systemic (e.g., intravenous) delivery routes.
Informed by our CHOICE platform and supported by extensive clinical and pre-clinical data, we believe we have the capacity to develop a pipeline of
treatment options to address high unmet medical needs for those patients with insignificant or unsatisfactory responses to standard-of-care therapies,
including chemotherapies. From this library, we selected Olvi-Vec, which we believe has the potential to exhibit anti-tumor properties, including potent
oncolytic properties (tumor cell lysis) and to activate both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system, to produce favorable changes within the
tumor microenvironment. The personalized and multi-modal immune activation generated by Olvi-Vec is designed with the goal to yield clinically-
meaningful anti-tumor responses to virus treatment alone and in combination with other existing treatment modalities. We believe Olvi-Vec currently
represents the most advanced clinical development program throughout the oncolytic treatment landscape involving the non-local administration (e.g.,
non-intratumorally) of viral immunotherapies.

Since inception, our operations have focused on organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, acquiring and developing our
technology, establishing our intellectual property portfolio, identifying potential product candidates and undertaking preclinical and clinical studies and
manufacturing. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales.

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our net loss was $16.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. As of June 30,
2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $209.4 million. We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing expenses and operating losses for the
foreseeable future, as we advance our current and future product candidates through preclinical and clinical development, manufacture drug product and
drug supply, seek regulatory approval for our current and future product candidates, maintain and expand our intellectual property portfolio, hire additional
research and development and business personnel and operate as a public company.
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The COVID-19 pandemic did not have a material net impact on our operating results, however, it did have some impact on our supply chain and a
number of our potential clinical trial sites report having continued resource constraints. It is unknown what, if any, the long-term impact the COVID-19
pandemic will have on our business operations.

We will not generate revenue from commercially approved product sales unless and until we successfully complete clinical development and obtain
regulatory approval for our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates and do not enter into a third-party
commercialization partnership, we expect to incur significant expenses related to developing our commercialization capability to support product sales,
marketing, manufacturing, and distribution activities.

As a result, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Until we can generate
significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through a combination of public or private equity offerings and debt
financings or other sources, such as potential collaboration agreements, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. We may be unable to raise
additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into
such agreements as, and when needed, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 included
an explanatory paragraph indicating that there was substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. See Note 1 to our annual financial
statements for additional information on our assessment.

At June 30, 2023, we had cash on hand in the amount of $27.1 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we closed our IPO and two
Private Placements (see Note 9) and received $34.3 million of net proceeds from these offerings. We also received commitments through the Private
Placements in which we will receive an additional $27.5 million subsequent to June 2023, but before the end of 2023. Due to the funds received through
these offerings, and the conversion of preferred stock and convertible notes payable upon the closing of the IPO, we had shareholders’ equity of $22.3
million at June 30, 2023. We expect our cash on hand at June 30, 2023, together with the $27.5 million of future commitments from the Private
Placements, will last for at least the next 12 months.

Recent Developments

In April 2023, Newsoara initiated a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of Olvi-Vec in patients with recurrent small cell lung cancer (SCLC) in China. The first
enrolled participant, in addition to SCLC, had metastases in brain, liver and lymph nodes with ongoing atrial fibrillation and anemia. Upon receiving study
treatment, the patient experienced impaired liver function, coagulation disorder, low platelets, increased blood amylase, and fever. The patient
subsequently recovered. Newsoara is continuing the trial as planned, initially with de-escalated dose cohorts due to Olvi-Vec treatment-naive Asian study
population, but with the goal of completing all dose cohorts per the trial protocol and of completing the trial on the original timeline. We do not expect any
impact on our ongoing and future U.S. clinical trials.

Components of Results of Operations
Net Sales

During the year ended December 31, 2022, under our Newsoara and Elias agreements, we recognized revenue of $11.1 million, with a 10% foreign
income tax of $1.1 million being recorded as a provision for foreign income taxes relating to our Newsoara agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, under our Newsoara agreement, we invoiced and collected $0.2 million relating to supplying product for
Newsoara to use in its clinical trials. As the product did not ship during the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded the cash received as deferred
revenue until the product was shipped. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we shipped the product to Newsoara and thus recognized the
revenue.
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Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses consist of (i) research and development expenses and (ii) general and administrative expenses.
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for our research and development activities, including our product
candidate discovery efforts and preclinical and clinical studies under our research programs, which include:

° employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense for our research and development personnel;

° costs of funding research performed by third parties that conduct research and development and preclinical and clinical activities on our behalf;

. costs of manufacturing drug product and drug supply related to our current or future product candidates;

. costs of conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates;

. consulting and professional fees related to research and development activities, including equity-based compensation to non-employees;

. costs of maintaining our laboratory, including purchasing laboratory supplies and non-capital equipment used in our preclinical studies;

° costs related to compliance with clinical regulatory requirements; and

. facilitI)_/ costs and other allocated expenses, which include expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance, depreciation and other
supplies.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Costs for certain activities are recognized based on an evaluation of the
progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as information provided to us by our vendors and analyzing the progress of our preclinical
and clinical studies or other services performed. Significant judgment and estimates are made in determining the accrued expense balances at
the end of any reporting period.

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. We cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing, and
estimated costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete development of our current or future product candidates. We are also unable to
predict when, if ever, material net cash inflows will commence from the sale of our product candidates, if they are approved. This is due to the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing product candidates, including the uncertainty of:

. the scope, rate of progress, and expenses of our ongoing research activities as well as any preclinical studies and clinical trials and other
research and development activities;

. establishing an appropriate safety profile;

. successful enroliment in and completion of clinical trials;

. whether our product candidates show safety and efficacy in our clinical trials;

° receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

° establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

. obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;
. commercializing product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and

° continued acceptable safety profile of the products following any regulatory approval.
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A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our current and future product candidates would
significantly change the costs and timing associated with the development of those product candidates.

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally
have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage
clinical trials. We expect research and development costs to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we commence clinical trials and
continue the development of our current and future product candidates. However, we do not believe that it is possible at this time to accurately
project expenses through commercialization. There are numerous factors associated with the successful commercialization of any of our product
candidates, including future trial design and various regulatory requirements, many of which cannot be determined with accuracy at this time
based on our stage of development. Additionally, future commercial and regulatory factors beyond our control will impact our clinical development
programs and plans.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include salaries and other compensation-related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in
executive, finance and accounting, business development, operations and administrative roles. Other significant costs include professional service and
consulting fees, including legal fees relating to intellectual property and corporate matters, accounting fees, recruiting costs and costs for consultants who
we utilize to supplement our personnel, insurance costs, travel costs, facility and office-related costs not included in research and development expenses.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as our business expands to support expected growth in
research and development activities, including our future clinical programs. These increases will likely include increased costs related to the hiring of
additional personnel and fees to outside service providers, among other expenses. We also anticipate increased expenses associated with being a public
company, including costs for audit, legal, regulatory and tax-related services related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, and listing
standards applicable to companies listed on a national securities exchange, director and officer insurance premiums, and investor relations costs. In
addition, if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates and do not enter into a third-party commercialization collaboration, we expect
to incur significant expenses related to building a sales and marketing team to support product sales, marketing and distribution activities.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,
2023 2022

Revenues $ — 3 —
Operating Expenses:

Research and development 2,943 1,827

General and administrative 2,452 972
Total operating expenses 5,395 2,799
Loss from operations (5,395) (2,799)
Other income (expenses):

Interest expense (24) (285)

Debt discount amortization — (50)

Debt extinguishment costs (402)

Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan payable — 314
Total other expenses, net (426) (21)
Net Loss $ (5,821) $ (2,820)

Research and Development Expenses

The table below summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,
Research and Development Expenses: 2023 2022
Employee compensation and related expenses $ 621 $ 387
Stock compensation, including the cost of stock option modifications and restricted stock
grants 248 64
Manufacturing and laboratory materials and other expenses 207 268
Outsourced manufacturing services 238 6
Clinical and regulatory expenses 1,039 607
Facility-related expenses, including depreciation 395 253
Consulting expenses and contract labor 182 237
Other expenses 13 5
Total research and development expenses $ 2,943 $ 1,827

Research and development expenses were $2.9 million and $1.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, an
increase of $1.1 million. Significant variations between periods are as a result of a $0.2 million increase in stock compensation expense in 2023, primarily
due to the issuance of restricted stock units in 2023; a $0.2 million increase in outsourced manufacturing services in 2023, primarily related to increased
manufacturing activities in 2023; and a $0.4 million increase in clinical and regulatory expenses in 2023, primarily related to our Phase 3 registration
clinical trial in PRROC.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The table below summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,
General and Administrative Expenses: 2023 2022
Employee compensation and related expenses $ 604 $ 416
Stock compensation, including the cost of stock option modifications and restricted stock
grants 459 233
Professional services 805 77
Facility-related expenses 89 77
Insurance expenses 269 79
Consulting and contract labor expenses 121 62
Other expenses 105 28
Total general and administrative expenses $ 2,452 $ 972

General and administrative expenses were $2.5 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, an
increase of $1.5 million. Significant variations between periods are a result of a $0.2 million increase in employee related costs in 2023, primarily due to
new employee hires in 2023; a $0.2 million increase in stock compensation expense in 2023, primarily due to the issuance of restricted stock units in
2023; a $0.7 million increase in professional service expenses in 2023, primarily resulting from increased corporate legal costs and other professional
services related to other costs of being a newly publicly-traded company; and a $0.2 million increase in insurance expenses, primarily due to increased
D&O insurance costs.

Other Expenses, net

Other expenses, net, were $0.4 million and $0.02 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the three months
ended June 30, 2023, other expenses consisted of interest expense of $0.02 million and debt extinguishment costs of $0.4 million, while during the same
period in 2022, other expenses consisted of interest expense of $0.3 million and debt discount amortization of $0.05 million. During the three months
ended June 30, 2022, other income consisted of a gain on the forgiveness of a PPP loan payable of $0.3 million.
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Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,
2023 2022

Revenues $ 170 $ =
Operating Expenses:

Research and development 5,788 4,196

General and administrative 6,239 2,067
Total operating expenses 12,027 6,263
Loss from operations (11,857) (6,263)
Other income (expenses):

Interest expense (167) (573)

Debt discount amortization (649) (99)

Debt extinguishment costs (402) —

Financing costs (3,110) —

Gain on the forgiveness of PPP loan payable — 314
Total other expenses, net (4,328) (358)
Net loss $ (16,185) $ (6,621)

Research and Development Expenses
The table below summarizes our research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
June 30, June 30,

Research and Development Expenses: 2023 2022

Employee compensation and related expenses $ 1,014 $ 782

Stock compensation, including the cost of stock option modifications and restricted stock

grants 984 126

Manufacturing and laboratory materials and other expenses 300 549

Outsourced manufacturing services 518 381

Clinical and regulatory expenses 1,864 1,340

Facility-related expenses, including depreciation 696 627

Consulting expenses and contract labor 374 369

Other expenses 38 22
Total research and development expenses $ 5788 % 4,196

Research and development expenses were $5.8 million and $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, an increase
of $1.6 million. Significant variations between periods are as a result of a $0.2 million increase in employee related costs in 2023, primarily due to new
employee hires in 2023; a $0.9 million increase in stock compensation expense in 2023, primarily due to stock option modification costs and the issuance
of restricted stock units in 2023; a $0.2 million decrease in outsourced manufacturing services in 2023, primarily related to decreased manufacturing
activities in 2023; and a $0.5 million increase in clinical and regulatory expenses in 2023, primarily related to our Phase 3 registration clinical trial in
PRROC.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The table below summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,
General and Administrative Expenses: 2023 2022
Employee compensation and related expenses $ 1,063 $ 788
Stock compensation, including the cost of stock option modifications and restricted stock grants 2,753 543
Professional services 1,528 161
Facility-related expenses 169 147
Insurance expenses 477 157
Consulting and contract labor expenses 218 210
Other expenses 31 61
Total general and administrative expenses $ 6,239 $ 2,067

General and administrative expenses were $6.2 million and $2.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, an increase
of $4.1 million. Significant variations between periods are a result of a $0.3 million increase in employee related costs in 2023, primarily due to new
employee hires in 2023; a $2.2 million increase in stock compensation expense in 2023, primarily due to stock option modification costs and the issuance
of restricted stock units in 2023; a $1.4 million increase in professional service expenses in 2023, primarily resulting from increased corporate legal costs
and other professional services related to costs of being a newly publicly-traded company; and a $0.3 million increase in insurance expenses, primarily
due to increased D&O insurance costs.

Other Expenses, net

Other expenses, net, were $4.3 million and $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the six months ended
June 30, 2023, other expenses consisted of interest expense of $0.2 million, debt discount amortization of $0.6 million, debt extinguishment costs of $0.4
million and financing costs of $3.1 million, while during the same period in 2022, other expenses consisted of interest expense of $0.6 million and debt
discount amortization of $0.1 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, other income consisted of a gain on the forgiveness of a PPP loan
payable of $0.3 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources



During the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred a net loss of $5.2 million and used cash in operations of $3.6 million and had a
shareholders’ deficit of $35.8 million as of December 31, 2022. As reflected in the accompanying condensed financial statements, during the six months
ended June 30, 2023, we incurred a net loss of $16.2 million and used cash in operations of $10.0 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we closed our IPO and two Private Placements (see Note 9) and received $34.3 million of net
proceeds from the offerings. At June 30, 2023, we had cash on hand in the amount of $27.2 million. We also received commitments through the Private
Placements in which we will receive an additional $27.5 million subsequent to June 2023, but before the end of 2023. Due to the funds received through
these offerings, and the conversion of preferred stock and convertible notes payable upon the closing of the IPO, we had a shareholders’ equity of $22.3
million at June 30, 2023. We now expect our cash on hand at June 30, 2023, together with the $27.5 million of future commitments from the Private
Placements, will last for at least the next 12 months.
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The ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our attaining and maintaining profitable operations in the future and raising additional
capital to meet our obligations and repay our liabilities arising from normal business operations when they come due. Since inception, we have funded our
operations primarily through equity and debt financings, and licensing income, and we expect to continue to rely on these sources of capital in the future.

No assurance can be given that any future financing will be available or, if available, that it will be on terms that are satisfactory to us. Even if we
are able to obtain additional financing, it may contain undue restrictions on our operations, in the case of debt financing, or cause substantial dilution for
our stockholders, in the case of equity financing, or grant unfavorable terms in licensing future licensing agreements.

Cash Flows

The table below summarizes our cash flow activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,

Net cash provided by (used in): 2023 2022
Operating activities $ (10,008) $ 417
Investing activities (505) (16)
Financing activities 37,256 (694)

Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 26,743 $ (293)

Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we used cash from operating activities of $10.0 million, compared to $0.4 million provided during the six
months ended June 30, 2022. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we incurred a net loss of $16.2 million and had non-cash expenses of $8.4
million, compared to a net loss of $6.6 million and non-cash expenses of $0.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022. The primary non-cash
expense during both periods was equity-related compensation, totaling $6.8 million and $0.7 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. The net change in operating assets and liabilities during the six months ended June 30, 2023 used cash of $3.3 million compared to
$6.1 million provided during the six months ended June 30, 2022. The primary use of cash during the six months ended June 30, 2023 was the decrease
in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.7 million. The primary source of cash during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was the increase in
deferred revenue of $5.5 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was $0.5 million, consisting of the purchase of property and equipment
for construction-in-progress. Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $0.02 million, consisting of the purchase of
property and equipment.

Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we provided cash from operating activities of $37.3 million, compared to $0.7 million used during the six
months ended June 30, 2022. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, cash provided by financing activities consisted of proceeds from the issuance of
proceeds from notes payable - shareholders totaling $0.9 million and gross proceeds from the sale of common stock related to our IPO and the Private
Placements totaling $36.1 million, excluding offering costs paid by us.

Net cash used in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2023 related to the repayment of notes payable - shareholders totaling
$0.7 million and the payment of deferred offering costs of $0.3 million. Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was
$0.1 million related to the repayment of convertible notes payable-shareholders and $0.6 million for the payment of deferred offering costs.
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Equity Financings
Common Stock Issued for Cash Upon Closing of the Company’s IPO

On January 30, 2023, we completed our IPO of our common stock, in which we issued and sold 2,500,000 shares of our common stock at a public
offering price of $6.00 per share. In February 2023, we sold an additional 153,000 shares of common stock at $6.00 per share pursuant to the
underwriters’ partial exercise of their option to purchase additional shares of common stock. The total gross proceeds of the IPO were $15.9 million and
we raised $12.6 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us.

Common Stock Issued for Cash Upon Closing of the Company’s Private Placements

On May 12, 2023, we entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “PIPE 1 SPA”) with certain investors (the “PIPE 1 Purchasers”), pursuant to
which we agreed to sell and issue 1,665,213 shares of our common stock in a private placement transaction (the “First Private Placement”). The purchase
price per share of common stock was $20.00 per share. The initial closing of the First Private Placement occurred in May 2023 (the “PIPE 1 Initial
Closing”) subject to customary closing conditions. The total gross proceeds to us at the PIPE 1 Initial Closing from the First Private Placement are
expected to be approximately $33.3 million, including $1.5 million from the cancellation of certain of our bridge loans and accrued interest. Two of the
PIPE 1 Purchasers will, and are contractually obligated to, fund up to $17.5 million of such PIPE 1 Purchasers’ investment amounts following the PIPE 1
Initial Closing but no later than November 15, 2023. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we received $2.5 million of the committed amount of
$17.5 million, and subsequent to June 30, 2023, we received another $2.5 million of the committed $17.5 million. As of June 30, 2023, we sold 842,079
shares of our common stock under the PIPE 1 SPA resulting in gross and net proceeds to us of $16.8 million and $16.3 million, respectively.



On June 9, 2023, we entered into another securities purchase agreement (the “PIPE 2 SPA”, and, together with the PIPE 1 SPA, the “Purchase
Agreements”) with certain investors (the “PIPE 2 Purchasers”), pursuant to which we agreed to sell and issue 900,000 shares of our common stock in a
private placement transaction (the “Second Private Placement”, and, together with the First Private Placement, the “Private Placements”). The purchase
price per share of Common Stock was $20.00 per share. The initial closing of this Second Private Placement occurred in June 2023 (the “PIPE 2 Initial
Closing”), subject to customary closing conditions. The total gross proceeds to us from the Second Private Placement are expected to be approximately
$18.0 million. One of the PIPE 2 Purchasers will, and is contractually obligated to, fund up to $12.5 million of such PIPE 2 Purchaser’'s investment
amounts following the PIPE 2 Initial Closing, but no later than November 15, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, we sold 275,000 shares of our common stock
under the PIPE 2 SPA resulting in gross and net proceeds to us of $5.5 million and $5.3 million, respectively.

As of June 30, 2023, we sold 1,117,079 shares of our common stock under the Purchase Agreements resulting in the total gross and net proceeds to
us from the First Private Placement and the Second Private Placement of $22.3 million and $21.6 million, respectively.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue our research and development, initiate and
conduct preclinical studies and clinical trials, and seek marketing approval for our current and any of our future product candidates. In addition, if we
obtain marketing approval for any of our current or our future product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to
product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, which costs we may seek to offset through entry into collaboration agreements with third parties.
Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional
funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on acceptable terms, we would be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.

We believe that our existing cash, together with the net proceeds from our IPO and the Private Placements, will enable us to fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be
wrong, and we may use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of
factors, including:

30

. the costs of conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials;

. the costs of manufacturing;

° the scope, progress, results and costs of discovery, preclinical development, laboratory testing, and clinical trials for product candidates we
may develop, if any;

. the costs, timing, and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

° our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

° the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under any license or collaboration agreements
we might have at such time;

° the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our
product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

° the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive
marketing approval;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights, and
defending intellectual property-related claims;

. our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and research and development activities; and

. the costs of operating as a public company.

The net proceeds of our IPO and Private Placements, together with our existing cash, will be sufficient to progress our Phase 3 registration trial of
development of Olvi-Vec in PRROC, but will not be sufficient to progress registration trials in other indications or the development of any other product
candidate. Accordingly, we will be required to obtain further funding to achieve our business objectives.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through public or private equity
offerings and debt financings or other sources, such as potential collaboration agreements, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent
that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interests may be diluted, and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other preferences that could adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Additional debt financing, if
available, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.

If we raise funds through potential collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable
rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates, or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to
us. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). The preparation of these financial statements requires
us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
as of the date of the balance sheets and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. In accordance with GAAP, we base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances at the time such estimates
are made. Actual results may differ materially from our estimates and judgments under different assumptions or conditions. We periodically review our
estimates in light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. The effects of material revisions in estimates are reflected in our financial



statements prospectively from the date of the change in estimate.

We define our critical accounting policies as those accounting principles that require us to make subjective estimates and judgments about matters
that are uncertain and are likely to have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations, as well as the specific manner in which we
apply those principles. While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report, we believe the following are the critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our financial statements that require significant
estimates and judgments.

Prepaid Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date. This
process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our
behalf, and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed or when contractual milestones are
met. We make estimates of our research and development expenses as of each balance sheet date based on facts and circumstances known to us at that
time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service providers and make adjustments if necessary.

The significant estimates in our prepaid research and development expenses include the costs incurred for services performed by our vendors in
connection with research and development activities for which we have not yet been invoiced. We base our expenses related to research and
development activities on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and contracts with vendors that conduct
research and development on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result
in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a
prepayment of the research and development expense.

In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If
the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid balance accordingly. Non-
refundable advance payments for goods and services that will be used in future research and development activities are expensed when the activity has
been performed or when the goods have been received rather than when the payment is made.

Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services
performed differ from the actual status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any
particular period.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure stock options and other stock-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the fair value of the award on the date of the
grant and recognize compensation expense for those awards over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective
award. We recognize forfeitures as they occur. The reversal of compensation cost previously recognized for an award that is forfeited because of a failure
to satisfy a service or performance condition is recognized in the period of the forfeiture. Generally, we issue stock options with only service-based
vesting conditions and record the expense for these awards using the straight-line method over the requisite service period.
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We classify equity-based compensation expense in our statements of operations in the same manner in which the award recipient's salary and
related costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are classified. In future periods, we expect equity-based compensation
expense to increase, due in part to our existing unrecognized stock-based compensation expense and as we grant additional stock-based awards to
continue to attract and retain employees.

Determination of the Fair Value of Equity-Based Awards

We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which uses as inputs the fair value of our
common stock and subjective assumptions we make, including expected stock price volatility, the expected term of the award, the risk-free interest rate,
and expected dividends. Due to the lack of a public market for the trading of our common stock and a lack of company-specific historical and implied
volatility data, we base the estimate of expected stock price volatility on the historical volatility of a representative group of publicly traded companies for
which historical information is available. The historical volatility is generally calculated based on a period of time commensurate with the expected term
assumption. We use the simplified method to calculate the expected term for options granted to employees and directors. We utilize this method as we do
not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. For options granted to non-
employees, we utilize the contractual term. The risk- free interest rate is based on a U.S. treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected
term of the stock options. The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero, as we have never paid dividends and do not have current plans to pay any
dividends on our common stock. We determine the fair value of restricted common stock awards based on the fair value of our common stock on the date
of grant.

As there has been no public market for our common stock, prior to our IPO, the estimated fair value of our common stock had been approved by our
board of directors, with input from management, as of the date of each award grant, considering our most recently available sale of our common stock to
independent investors and our board of directors’ assessment of additional objective and subjective factors deemed relevant that may have changed from
the date of the most recent determination through the date of the grant.

The additional objective and subjective factors considered by our board of directors in determining the fair value of our common stock included the
following:

e the prices of our common stock and preferred stock sold to outside investors in arm’s length transactions, if any, and the rights, preferences and
privileges of our preferred stock as compared to those of our common stock, including the liquidation preferences of our preferred stock;

e the progress of our research and development efforts, including the status of preclinical studies and planned clinical trials for our product
candidates;

o the lack of liquidity of our equity as a private company;
e our stage of development and business strategy and the material risks related to our business and industry;

e the valuation of publicly traded companies in the biotechnology industry, as well as recently completed mergers and acquisitions of peer
companies;

e any external market conditions affecting the biotechnology industry, and trends within the biotechnology industry;



o the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO or a sale of our company in light of prevailing market conditions; and
o the analysis of IPOs and the market performance of similar companies in the biotechnology industry.
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The assumptions underlying our board of directors’ valuation determinations represented our board’s best estimates, which involved inherent
uncertainties and the application of our board’s judgment. As a result, if factors or expected outcomes had changed or our board of directors had used
significantly different assumptions or estimates, our equity-based compensation expense could have been materially different. Following the completion of
this offering, our board of directors will determine the fair value of our common stock based on the quoted market prices of our common stock.

Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, we may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business. We evaluate the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome in legal or regulatory proceedings to which we are a party and record a loss contingency on an undiscounted basis when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These judgments are subjective and based on the
status of such legal proceedings, the merits of our defenses, and consultation with legal counsel. Actual outcomes of these legal proceedings may differ
materially from our estimates. We estimate accruals for legal expenses when incurred as of each balance sheet date based on the facts and
circumstances known to us at that time.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we did not have, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements (as
defined under SEC rules).

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We are not currently exposed to significant market risk related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, we have contracted with and
may continue to contract with foreign vendors that are located in Europe. Our operations may be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

in the future.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor. We do not believe that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition
or results of operations during the six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a description of recently issued accounting standards that may have a material impact on our financial statements or will otherwise apply to our
operations, please see Note 2 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

Emerging Growth Company Status

As an “emerging growth company,” the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 permits us to take advantage of an extended transition period to
comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We
have irrevocably elected to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards when they are required to
be adopted by public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks.

Not applicable.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, refers to controls and
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to a company’s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Under
the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2023. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2023.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met.
Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the second quarter of 2023 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION



Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are currently involved in one pending litigation. Although the results of the pending legal proceeding in which we currently are involved cannot
be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that there is a reasonable possibility that the final outcome of this matter will have a material adverse effect
on our business or financial results. Regardless of the final outcome, however, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, harm to our reputation and brand, and other factors.

In the future, we may be involved in additional actual and/or threatened legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquiries arising
in the ordinary course of our business, including legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquiries involving intellectual property, data
privacy and security, other torts, illegal or objectionable content, consumer protection, securities, employment, contractual rights, civil rights infringement,
false or misleading advertising, or other legal claims relating to our business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Risk Factor Summary

We face many risks and uncertainties, as more fully described in this section under the heading “Risk Factors.” Some of these risks and uncertainties are
summarized below. The summary below does not contain all of the information that may be important to you, and you should read this summary together
with the more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties contained in “Risk Factors.” Some of the material risks associated with our business
include the following:

e We have incurred significant losses since our inception and anticipate that we will incur significant and increasing losses for the foreseeable
future and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

e We will require substantial additional financing to advance the development of our product candidates, which may not be available on acceptable
terms, or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development programs,
potential commercialization efforts or other operations.

e Our product candidates are in preclinical and clinical stages of development, are not approved for commercial sale and might never receive
regulatory approval or become commercially viable.

e Our product candidates are based on a novel approach to the treatment of cancer, which makes it difficult to predict the time and cost of product
candidate development.

e We currently have only one product candidate, Olvi-Vec, in clinical development. A failure of this product candidate in clinical development would
adversely affect our business and may require us to discontinue development of other product candidates based on the same therapeutic
approach.

e Preclinical and clinical development involve a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome and stringent regulations, and delays
can occur for a variety of reasons.

e Changes in product candidate manufacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

e If we are unable to manufacture and release any product candidates in the volumes that we require on a timely basis, or fail to comply with
stringent regulations applicable to biopharmaceutical manufacturers, we may face delays in the development and commercialization of, or be
unable to meet demand for, any product candidates and may lose potential revenues.

e |f we fail to comply with federal and state healthcare laws, including fraud and abuse laws, we could face substantial penalties and our business,
financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be materially harmed.

e We are subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, rules, contractual obligations, policies and other obligations related to
data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead to regulatory investigations or actions;
litigation and mass arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits;
loss of customers or sales; and other adverse business consequences.

e |f we are unable to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights for our technology and product candidates, or if our intellectual
property rights are inadequate, our competitive position could be harmed.

e We are highly dependent on our key personnel, including our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. If we are not successful in
attracting, motivating and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

e Unfavorable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects.

e Public health crises such as pandemics could materially and adversely affect our preclinical studies and clinical trials, business, financial condition
and results of operations.

e The market price of our common stock has been extremely volatile and may continue to be volatile due to numerous circumstances beyond our
control, which could result in substantial losses for our stockholders.

Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together
with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report, including our financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition,” before deciding whether to purchase, hold or sell shares of our common stock. If any of the
following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In
that event, the price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are
not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely
affect our business.
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Risks Related to our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since our inception and anticipate that we will incur significant and increasing losses for the foreseeable



future and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company, and our operations to date have been focused substantially on organizing and staffing our
company, business planning, raising capital, creating, assessing, and developing our technology, establishing our intellectual property portfolio, identifying
potential product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies, commencing clinical trials and manufacturing. Additionally, as an organization, we have not
yet demonstrated an ability to successfully complete clinical development, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale product, or
conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization. We have never generated any revenue from commercially approved
product sales and have incurred significant operating losses. Our net loss was $16.2 million and $6.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. As June 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $209.4 million. We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating
losses for the foreseeable future. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our
stockholders’ deficit and working capital.

We expect that it will be several years, if ever, before we have a commercialized product. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from
quarter to quarter and year to year. We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if, and as, we:

e advance the Phase 3 registration clinical trial for our lead product candidate, Olvi-Vec, in PRROC;

e initiate planned and future clinical trials of Olvi-Vec in other cancer indications;

e discover and develop new product candidates, and conduct research and development activities, preclinical studies and clinical trials;

e  manufacture preclinical, clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates;

e broaden and strengthen our internal manufacturing capabilities, including the expansion and upgrade of our in-house manufacturing facility;
e seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

e  maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

e hire additional research and development, clinical, scientific and management personnel;

e add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel;

e  establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidate for which we may obtain regulatory approval and
we commercialize on our own or in collaboration with others; and

e incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses operating as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must succeed in developing and eventually commercializing products that generate significant revenue. This
will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical testing and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval
for product candidates and manufacturing, marketing and selling products for which we may obtain marketing approval and satisfying any post-marketing
requirements. We are only in the development stages of most of these activities. We may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, may never
generate revenue that is significant enough to achieve profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase
profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts or even continue our operations. A decline in the value of our
company could also cause stockholders to lose all or part of their investment.

We will require substantial additional financing to advance the development of our product candidates, which may not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all. Failure to obtain this necessary capital could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development
programs, potential commercialization efforts or other operations.

The development of biopharmaceutical product candidates is capital-intensive. Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since
inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts to continue the preclinical and clinical development of, and seek regulatory approval for,
our current and future product candidates. If we are able to gain marketing approval of any product candidate that we develop, including Olvi-Vec, we will
require significant additional amounts of cash in order to launch and commercialize such product either alone or in collaboration with others. Because the
design and outcome of our ongoing, anticipated and any future clinical trials is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts
necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of any product candidate we develop.
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Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:

e the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates and programs, and of conducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials;

e the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approvals for Olvi-Vec and future product candidates we develop if clinical trials are
successful;

e the success of any future collaborations;

e the cost of commercialization activities for any approved product, including marketing, sales and distribution costs;

e the cost and timing of establishing, equipping, and operating our current and planned manufacturing activities;

e the cost of manufacturing Olvi-Vec and future product candidates for clinical trials in preparation for marketing approval and commercialization;
e  our ability to establish and maintain strategic licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such agreements;

e the cost, timing and outcome of seeking FDA and any other regulatory approvals for any future product candidates;

e the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, expanding, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation costs and the
outcome of such litigation;

e our ability to establish and maintain healthcare coverage and adequate reimbursement for our future products, if any;



e the timing, receipt, and amount of sales of, or royalties on, our future products, if any;

e the emergence of competing cancer therapies and other adverse market developments;

e our efforts to enhance operational systems and our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including personnel to support the
development of our product candidates;

e the costs associated with being a public company;

e our need and ability to retain key management and hire scientific, technical, medical and business personnel;
e the costs associated with expanding our facilities or building out our laboratory space; and

o the effects of the recent disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States.

Three investors from our private placements (the Private Placements) are contractually obligated to fund $30.0 million on or before November 15,
2023. Besides the Private Placements, we do not have any committed external source of funds or other support for our development efforts. Until we can
generate sufficient product revenue to finance our cash requirements, which we may never do, we expect to finance our future cash needs through a
combination of public or private equity offerings and debt financings, or other capital sources such as potential collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing
arrangements and other arrangements. Based on our research and development plans, we expect that the net proceeds from our IPO and our recent
Private Placements, together with our existing cash balance, will enable us to fund our planned operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements
for at least the next 12 months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital
resources sooner than we expect. In addition, because the design and outcome of our anticipated and any future clinical trials is highly uncertain, we
cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of Olvi-Vec or any future
product candidates. Our existing cash balance, may not be sufficient to complete development of Olvi-Vec or any other product candidate. Accordingly,
we will be required to obtain further funding to achieve our business objectives. Additionally, although we recently signed securities purchase agreements
in connection with our Private Placements, we may not receive some or all of the committed proceeds, which would exhaust our available capital
resources sooner than expected. Accordingly, we will be required to obtain further funding to achieve our business objectives.
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We have never generated any revenue from commercially approved product sales and may never become profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue from product sales and achieve profitability depends on our ability, alone or with future partners, to successfully
complete the development of, and obtain the regulatory approvals necessary to commercialize, our development programs. We have no products
approved for commercial sale, have not generated any revenue from commercially approved product sales, and do not anticipate generating any revenue
from commercially approved product sales until after we have received marketing approval for the commercial sale of a product candidate, if ever. Our
ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends heavily on our success in achieving a number of goals, including:

e completing research regarding, and preclinical and clinical development of, product candidates and programs, including Olvi-Vec, and identifying and
developing new product candidates;

e obtaining marketing approvals for any product candidates for which we complete clinical trials;
e obtaining regulatory approval to use and sell products generated by our existing or future manufacturing processes for Olvi-Vec and future product
candidates, including at our existing manufacturing facility and/or by establishing and maintaining supply and manufacturing relationships with third

parties;

e launching and commercializing product candidates for which we obtain marketing approvals, either directly by establishing a sales force and
marketing, medical affairs and distribution infrastructure or, alternatively, with a collaborator or distributor;

e  establishing and maintaining healthcare coverage and adequate reimbursement for our future products, if any;
e  obtaining market acceptance of product candidates that we develop as viable treatment options;

e addressing any competing technological and market developments;

e identifying, assessing, acquiring and developing new product candidates;

e  negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing, or other arrangements into which we may enter and performing our obligations in such
collaborations;

e  maintaining, protecting, and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, and know-how; and
e  attracting, hiring, and retaining qualified personnel.

Even if Olvi-Vec or any future product candidates that we develop are approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs
associated with commercializing any such product candidate that we commercialize on our own or in collaboration with others. Our expenses could
increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to change our manufacturing processes or

assays, or to perform clinical, nonclinical, or other types of studies in addition to those that we currently anticipate.
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If we are successful in obtaining regulatory approvals to market Olvi-Vec or any future product candidates, our revenue will be dependent, in part,
upon the size of the markets in the territories for which we gain marketing approval, the accepted price for the product, the ability to get reimbursement at
any price, and whether we own the commercial rights for that territory. If the number of our addressable patients is not as significant as we estimate, the
indications approved by regulatory authorities are narrower than we expect, the labels for our product candidates contain significant safety warnings,
regulatory authorities impose burdensome or restrictive distribution requirements, or the reasonably accepted patient populations for treatment are
narrowed by competition, physician choice or treatment guidelines, we may not generate significant revenue from sales of such products, even if
approved. If we are not able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we could be prevented from or significantly delayed in
achieving profitability.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies



or product candidates.

To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, our
stockholders’ ownership interest may be diluted. Any future debt financings we undertake, if available, are likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional
funds through licensing or collaboration arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. We also could be required to seek collaborators for product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise
would be desirable or relinquish our rights to product candidates or technologies that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

Failure to obtain capital when needed on acceptable terms may force us to delay, limit or terminate our product development and commercialization
of our current or future product candidates, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects. Securing additional financing could also require a substantial amount of time from our management and may divert a
disproportionate amount of their attention away from daily activities, which may adversely affect our management’s ability to oversee the development of
Olvi-Vec or any future product candidates.

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm included a “going concern” explanatory paragraph.

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm on our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021 included an explanatory paragraph indicating that there was substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to
raise additional capital as and when needed, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected, and we
may be forced to delay our development efforts, limit our activities and reduce research and development costs. If we are unable to continue as a going
concern, we may have to liquidate our assets, and the values we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantly lower than the
values reflected in our financial statements. The inclusion of a going concern explanatory paragraph by our independent registered public accounting firm,
our lack of cash resources and our potential inability to continue as a going concern may materially adversely affect our share price and our ability to raise
new capital, enter into licensing and collaboration arrangements or other contractual relationships with third parties and otherwise execute our
development strategy.
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Risks Related to Product Discovery, Development and Regulatory Approval

Our development of product candidates based on our technology platform is limited, and we do not know whether we will be able to develop
any products of commercial value.

The success of our business depends primarily upon our ability to identify novel product candidates based on our CHOICE platform and to
successfully develop and commercialize those product candidates. While we have had promising preclinical and clinical study results for Olvi-Vec, to date,
it remains our only product candidate that has moved into clinical trials. We have not yet succeeded and may not succeed in demonstrating efficacy and
safety in commercializing Olvi-Vec. We also may be unsuccessful in identifying additional product candidates beyond Olvi-Vec using our CHOICE
platform, and any of our product candidates may be shown to have harmful side effects or may have other characteristics that may necessitate additional
clinical testing, or make the product candidates unmarketable or unlikely to receive marketing approval. In particular, because all of our product
candidates have been derived from our CHOICE platform, the failure of any one of our development programs could create a perception that our other
programs are less likely to succeed or that our discovery platform is not viable. Similarly, adverse developments with respect to other companies that
attempt to use a similar approach to our approach may adversely impact the actual or perceived value and potential of our discovery platform and
resulting product candidates.

If any of these events occur, our ability to successfully discover, develop and commercialize any product candidates may be impaired and the value
of our company could decline significantly.

Our product candidates are in preclinical and clinical stages of development, are not approved for commercial sale and might never receive
regulatory approval or become commercially viable.

All of our product candidates are in research, preclinical or clinical development. We have not completed the development of any product
candidates, we currently generate no revenue, and we may never be able to develop a marketable product. Enrollment was completed in September
2019, and we reported multiple data readouts in 2020 and publication in May 2023 of our Phase 2 clinical trial, an open-label, single-arm study, of our lead
product candidate, Olvi-Vec, in patients with PRROC. Our Phase 3 registration trial of Olvi-Vec in PRROC initiated enrollment in the third quarter of 2022.

We began regulatory study start-up of a Phase 2, open-label, randomized, and controlled clinical trial designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of
intravenously delivered Olvi-Vec oncolytic VACV followed by treatment as per the NCCN Guidelines for patients with recurrent NSCLC in the United
States in the first half of 2023, which will be funded in its entirety by Newsoara. We plan to conduct this trial under our current open IND and, subject to
regulatory authorization, potentially launch a multi-regional clinical trial with Newsoara in the United States and China. Newsoara initiated a Phase 1
clinical trial of Olvi-Vec in patients with recurrent SCLC in the first half of 2023, and we anticipate they will initiate further trials in recurrent NSCLC and
recurrent ovarian cancer in China.

Additionally, we have a portfolio of oncolytic VACV constructs that are in early-to-mid stages of discovery and preclinical development and may never
advance to clinical-stage development or marketing approval. Our ability to generate product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for several
years, if ever, will depend on obtaining marketing approvals for, and successfully commercializing our product candidates, either alone or in collaboration
with others, and we cannot guarantee that we will ever obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates. Before obtaining marketing approval
for the commercial distribution of our product candidates, we, or a future collaborator, must conduct extensive preclinical tests and clinical trials to
demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of our product candidates.
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The success of our current and future product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

e successful completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials;

e sufficiency of our financial and other resources to complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials;
e acceptance of INDs/IND amendments for our planned clinical trials or future clinical trials;

e  successful enrollment and completion of clinical trials;

e  successful data from our clinical trials that support FDA conclusion of an acceptable risk-benefit profile of our product candidates in the intended
populations;



e  receipt of regulatory and marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;
e obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection or regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

e obtaining regulatory approval to use our existing or future manufacturing processes for the clinical and commercial manufacture of our product
candidates at our existing or future manufacturing facilities or at the facilities of one or more third-party manufacturers with whom we would need to
establish supply arrangements;

e successfully launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

e acceptance of any products we develop and their benefits and uses, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party
payors;

o effectively competing with other therapies;
e  obtaining and maintaining healthcare coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors; and
e maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of the products following approval.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates, which would materially harm our business.

We currently have only one product candidate, Olvi-Vec, in clinical development. A failure of this product candidate in clinical
development would adversely affect our business and may require us to discontinue development of other product candidates based on the
same therapeutic approach.

We have invested a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources in our oncolytic VACV platform and, in particular, in the development of
our lead product candidate, Olvi-Vec. We have completed enroliment for only one Phase 2 clinical trial, an open-label single-arm study, of Olvi-Vec in
patients with PRROC in September 2019. Our Phase 3 registration trial of Olvi-Vec in PRROC initiated enroliment in the third quarter of 2022. Olvi-Vec,
as well as our other product candidates, are susceptible to the risks of failure inherent at any stage of product development, including the occurrence of
unexpected or unacceptable adverse events or the failure to demonstrate efficacy in clinical trials. We will need to successfully complete such trials
before submitting a marketing application to the FDA.

We have submitted an IND application with respect to only one product candidate, Olvi-Vec. V2ACT, a joint venture between TVAX and us, has also
filed its own IND for V2ACT Immunotherapy, a combination of Olvi-Vec and vaccine-enhanced adoptive cell therapy for the treatment of newly diagnosed,
surgically-resectable pancreatic cancer patients. For V2ACT Immunotherapy, no clinical trial is yet scheduled to be initiated. We have not previously
submitted a Biologics License Application (BLA) to the FDA, or similar regulatory approval filings to comparable foreign authorities, for any product
candidate, and we cannot be certain that our product candidates will be successful in clinical trials or receive regulatory approval. Further, our product
candidates may not receive regulatory approval even if they are successful in clinical trials.
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Since Olvi-Vec is based on our oncolytic VACV platform, if Olvi-Vec fails in development as a result of any underlying problem with our oncolytic
VACV platform, then we may be required to discontinue development of all product candidates that are based on this therapeutic approach. If we were
required to discontinue development of Olvi-Vec or our other future product candidates, or if any of them were to fail to receive regulatory approval or
achieve sufficient market acceptance, we could be prevented from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability. We can provide no assurance that we
would be successful at developing other product candidates based on an alternative therapeutic approach.

Our product candidates are based on a novel approach to the treatment of cancer, which makes it difficult to predict the time and cost of
product candidate development.

We have concentrated all of our research and development efforts on product candidates based on our oncolytic VACV platform, which is novel. We
only have conducted clinical development of Olvi-Vec in human cancer patients and V-VET1 in canine cancer patients. Our future success depends on
the successful development of our oncolytic VACV platform. Any development problems we experience in the future may cause significant delays or
unanticipated costs, and we may not be able to solve any such development problems. Should we encounter development problems, including
unfavorable preclinical or clinical trial results, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may place all, or part, of our clinical development on hold or refuse
to approve our product candidates, or may require additional information, tests, or trials, which could significantly delay product development and
significantly increase our development costs. Moreover, even if we are able to provide the requested information or trials to the FDA, there would be no
guarantee that the FDA would accept them or approve our product candidates. We may also experience delays in developing and obtaining regulatory
approval for a sustainable, reproducible and scalable manufacturing process, or developing or qualifying and validating product release assays, other
testing and manufacturing methods, and our equipment and facilities in a timely manner, which may prevent us from completing our clinical trials or
commercializing our product candidates on a timely or profitable basis, if at all.

In addition, the clinical trial requirements of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities and the criteria these regulators use to determine
the safety and efficacy of a product candidate vary substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use and market of the potential
products. The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities have limited experience with the approval of viral immunotherapies. To date, there is
only one FDA-approved viral immunotherapy—talimogene laherparepvec (IMLYGIC). Any viral immunotherapies that are approved may be subject to
extensive post-approval regulatory requirements, including post-approval studies as well as requirements pertaining to manufacturing, distribution and
promotion. We may need to devote significant time and resources to compliance with these requirements.

Preclinical and clinical development involve a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome and stringent regulations, and delays
can occur for a variety of reasons.

In order to obtain FDA approval to market a new biological product, we must demonstrate proof of safety as well as purity and potency (i.e., efficacy)
in humans. To meet these requirements, we will have to conduct adequate and well-controlled clinical trials. Before we can commence clinical trials for a
product candidate, we must complete extensive preclinical testing and studies that support our planned INDs in the United States. We only have one
product candidate currently being evaluated in human clinical development, Olvi-Vec. In addition, the FDA has granted permission to proceed with a
clinical trial under the IND for V2ACT Immunotherapy, but no clinical trial has been initiated or is currently scheduled to initiate. The rest of our product
candidates are in preclinical development, have not yet been evaluated in IND-enabling studies and their risk of failure is high. We cannot be certain of
the timely completion or outcome of our preclinical testing and studies or clinical trials and cannot predict if the FDA will accept our proposed clinical
programs or if the outcome of our preclinical testing and studies or clinical trials will ultimately support the further development of our programs. As a
result, we cannot be sure that we will be able to submit INDs or similar applications for our preclinical programs on the timelines we expect, if at all, we
cannot be sure that submission of INDs or similar applications will result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities allowing clinical trials to begin and we
cannot be sure that our planned clinical trials will begin on time or that our ongoing clinical trials will be completed on schedule.
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Conducting preclinical testing and clinical development is a lengthy, time-consuming and expensive process. The length of time may vary

substantially according to the type, complexity and novelty of the program, and often can be several years or more per program. Delays associated with
programs for which we are directly conducting preclinical testing and studies may cause us to incur additional operating expenses. Moreover, we may be
affected by delays associated with the preclinical testing and studies of certain programs that are the responsibility of any potential future partners over
which we have no control. The commencement and rate of completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials for a product candidate may be delayed by
many factors, including, for example:

inability to generate sufficient preclinical or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation of clinical trials;

unexpected toxicities observed in preclinical IND-enabling studies precluding the identification of a safe dose to move forward in human clinical trials;
delays in obtaining regulatory approval for, and production or manufacturing of, clinical supply;

delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory agencies on study or trial design; and

regulatory authorities not allowing us to rely on previous findings of safety and efficacy for other similar but approved products and published
scientific literature.

We may experience delays in initiating or completing clinical trials. We also may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of,

any ongoing or future clinical trials that we could conduct that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize Olvi-Vec
or any future product candidates, including:

delays or failures, which may result in clinical site closures, delays to patient enroliment, patients withdrawing prior to receiving treatment (e.g.,
catheter implantation failure), patients discontinuing their treatment or follow up visits or changes to trial protocols;

regulators or institutional review boards (IRBs), may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial, conduct a clinical trial at a
prospective trial site, or amend trial protocols, or may require that we modify or amend our clinical trial protocols;

we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols with prospective trial
sites and/or contract research organizations (CROSs);

clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, or our studies may fail to reach the necessary level of statistical
significance, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

the unsuccessful implantation of catheters used to deliver Olvi-Vec;

the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be
slower than we anticipate, or participants may drop out of these clinical trials or be lost to follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate, or may elect to
participate in alternative clinical trials sponsored by our competitors with product candidates that treat the same indications as our product
candidates;
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third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or the clinical trial protocol, or meet their contractual obligations to us in a
timely manner, or at all, or we may be required to engage in additional clinical trial site monitoring;

manufacturing delays;

we, regulators, or IRBs may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including noncompliance
with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks, undesirable side effects, emergent
drug- drug interactions between Olvi-Vec and any of the other therapeutic agents given to the clinical trial subjects or other unexpected
characteristics of the product candidate, or due to findings of undesirable effects caused by a biologically, chemically or mechanistically similar
therapeutic or therapeutic candidate;

changes could be adopted in marketing approval policies during the development period, rendering our data insufficient to obtain marketing
approval;

statutes or regulations could be amended, or new ones could be adopted;

changes could be adopted in the regulatory review process for submitted product applications;

the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate, or we may have insufficient funds for a clinical trial or product
manufacture or to pay the substantial user fees required by the FDA upon the submission of a BLA or equivalent authorizations from comparable

foreign regulatory authorities;

the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or
inadequate;

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with
which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies;

we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct or gather, as applicable, additional clinical trials, analyses, reports, data, or preclinical trials,
or we may abandon product development programs;

we may fail to reach an agreement with regulators or IRBs regarding the scope, design, or implementation of our clinical trials, and the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require changes to our study designs that make further study impractical or not financially prudent;

regulators may ultimately disagree with the design or our conduct of our preclinical studies or clinical trials, finding that they do not support product
candidate approval;



e we may have delays in adding new investigators or clinical trial sites, or we may experience a withdrawal of clinical trial sites;

e  patients that enroll in our studies may misrepresent their eligibility or may otherwise not comply with the clinical trial protocol, resulting in the need to
drop the patients from the study or clinical trial, increase the needed enroliment size for the clinical trial or extend its duration;

e there may be regulatory questions or disagreements regarding interpretations of data and results, or new information may emerge regarding our
product candidates;
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e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our trial design, including endpoints, or our interpretation of data from
preclinical studies and clinical trials or find that a product candidate’s benefits do not outweigh its safety risks;

e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from studies with clinical trial sites in foreign countries;
e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our intended indications;

e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve or subsequently find fault with the manufacturing processes or our
manufacturing facilities for clinical and future commercial supplies;

e the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities to support the submission of a BLA or other comparable submission in foreign jurisdictions or to obtain regulatory approval in the United
States or elsewhere;

e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may take longer than we anticipate to make a decision on our product candidates; and

e we may not be able to demonstrate that a product candidate provides an advantage over current standards of care or current or future competitive
therapies in development, including, for example due to a longer-and/or-higher-than-expected response rate determination in the active comparator
group or a shorter-and/or-lower-than-expected response rate determination in the experimental drug group.

For example, we previously modified our manufacturing process and had to demonstrate comparability to the FDA in order to use Olvi-Vec
manufactured by this process in our ongoing Phase 3 PRROC trial. Any future changes to our manufacturing process may similarly require comparability
assessments by the FDA and could delay clinical trials or, if the modified manufacturing process is not comparable, result in inconsistencies in trial
results that may be difficult to explain.

Our Phase 3 registration trial of Olvi-Vec in PRROC initiated enrollment in the third quarter of 2022. The FDA may issue further comments to our
Phase 3 clinical trial protocol and may conclude Olvi-Vec produced in mammalian cells is not comparable to material produced in CEF cells, and/or place
our IND on clinical hold. Placing our IND on clinical hold may cause delays in the initiation of our Phase 3 registration clinical trial. Any delay in obtaining
or failure to obtain authorization from FDA to conduct our Phase 3 clinical trial could materially adversely affect our ability to generate revenue from Olvi-
Vec, which may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

As another example, there is currently a national shortage of platinum-based chemotherapies. This shortage has slowed some site enrollment for our
Phase 3 clinical trial investigating the use of Olvi-Vec in PRROC. If the shortage persists, our Phase 2 clinical trial investigating the use of Olvi-Vec in
recurrent NSCLC could be negatively impacted. To attempt to mitigate the risk caused by the shortage, we have established our own depot to acquire and
store platinum-based chemotherapies. We expect to be able to provide a supply of platinum as needed for our Phase 3 clinical trial for Olvi-Vec in
PRROC, but cannot guarantee that we will be able to resupply adequate amounts on our desired timeline, particularly if shortages continue. The future
occurrence of similar shortages of other commercially available drugs used in our clinical trials could also negatively impact our clinical trials.

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in clinical testing or marketing approvals, and we may not have sufficient
funding to complete the testing and approval process for any of our current or future product candidates. We may be required to obtain additional funds to
complete clinical trials and prepare for possible commercialization of our product candidates. We do not know whether any preclinical tests or clinical
trials beyond what we currently have planned will be required, will begin as planned, will need to be restructured, or will be completed on schedule or at
all. Significant delays relating to any preclinical studies or clinical trials also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to
commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, delays
in clinical trials may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of any of our product candidates. Any delays in our clinical development programs
may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations significantly.
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If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be
delayed or prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible
patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities.

Patient enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors including the size and nature of the patient
population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing clinical trials, and
clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including
any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating.

The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of
patients who remain in the study until its conclusion. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment or retention in our clinical trials for a variety of
reasons. The enroliment of patients depends on many factors, including:

e availability and efficacy of approved therapies for the disease under investigation;
e patient eligibility criteria for the trial in question;

e risks that enrolled subjects will drop out before completion of the trial, including as a result of emergent drug-drug interactions between Olvi-Vec and
any of the other therapeutic agents given to the clinical trial subjects, contracting health conditions or being forced to quarantine;

e  risks of excessive catheter implantation failures leading to elimination of particular study sites from the trial in question;



e perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

e the timely initiation of clinical trial sites;

o efforts to facilitate timely enroliment in clinical trials;

e  patient referral practices of physicians;

e the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;

e  proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;

e withdraw of consent for any reasons;

e unforeseen limitations of protocol design; and

e  protocol amendment by the sponsor and/or as requested by applicable regulatory authorities.
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In addition, our planned clinical trials may compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as our
product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us because some patients who might have opted to
enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a competing clinical trial.

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our anticipated and any future clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require
us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether. Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our product
candidates, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of results of future clinical trials.

For our lead product candidate, Olvi-Vec, we completed enrollment, and we reported multiple data readouts in 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 for our
Phase 2 PRROC clinical trial. We expect the final readout, reported on May 25, 2023 and published in JAMA Oncology, to remain essentially unchanged
in the final study report. Our Phase 3 registration trial of Olvi-Vec in PRROC initiated enrollment in the third quarter of 2022. Upon completion of this
Phase 3 trial, and provided the data demonstrate patient benefit in the PRROC patient population with an acceptable safety profile, we plan to ask for a
pre-BLA meeting with the FDA and seek guidance on submission of a marketing application based on the accelerated approval regulations. We
anticipate a post-marketing study will be required to confirm a survival benefit. Clinical development is expensive and can take many years to complete
and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Olvi-Vec may not perform as we expect in clinical trials, particularly in our open-label, randomized, and controlled
Phase 3 registration clinical trial, in which Olvi-Vec may ultimately have a different or no impact on tumors, may have a different mechanism of action than
we expect and may not ultimately prove to be safe and effective. FDA’s analysis and interpretation of the data may also differ from ours.

The results of previous clinical trials of Olvi-Vec and results of preclinical studies or early clinical trials of any other product candidate we develop,
may not be predictive of the results of subsequent and later-stage clinical trials. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries
have suffered significant setbacks in registration-stage clinical trials after achieving positive results in earlier development, and we could face similar
setbacks. The design of a clinical trial can determine whether its results will support approval of a product and flaws in the design of a clinical trial may
not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. We do not have experience in successfully completing a registration-stage clinical trial and
may be unable to execute a clinical trial to support marketing approval. In addition, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying
interpretations and analyses. Many companies that believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have
nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval for the product candidates. Even if we, or future collaborators, believe that the results of clinical trials for
our product candidates warrant marketing approval, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree and may not grant marketing
approval of our product candidates.

In some instances, there can be significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due
to numerous factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations, changes in
and adherence to the clinical trial protocols, variations in conducting clinical trial at different sites, changes in medical practice, FDA requirements based
on agency guidelines or precedence which may be more strict for a Phase 3 clinical trial, the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants and changes
in the manufacturing process. Moreover, should there be an issue with the design of any of our clinical trials, our results may be impacted. We may not
discover such a flaw until the clinical trial is at an advanced stage.
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Interim, topline, and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data
become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publicly disclose interim, topline, or preliminary data from our clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary analysis of
then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related
to the particular study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations, and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not
have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the interim, topline, or preliminary results that we report may differ
from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and
fully evaluated. Interim, topline, and preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being
materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, such data should be viewed with caution until the final data are
available. From time to time, we may also disclose interim data from our clinical trials. Interim, topline, and preliminary data from clinical trials that we may
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data
become available. Adverse differences between preliminary, interim or topline data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects.

Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions, or analyses or
may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability, or commercialization
of the particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a
particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material
or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant
with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product, product candidate, or our business. If the
interim, topline, or preliminary data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions
reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize Olvi-Vec and any future product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our
business, operating results, prospects, or financial condition.



Serious adverse events, undesirable side effects (including emergent drug-drug interactions between Olvi-Vec and any of the other
therapeutic agents given to the clinical trial subjects) or other unexpected properties of our current or future product candidates may be
identified during development or after approval, which could halt their development or lead to the discontinuation of our clinical development
programs, refusal by regulatory authorities to approve our product candidates or, if discovered following marketing approval, revocation of
marketing authorizations or limitations on the use of our product candidates thereby limiting the commercial potential of such product
candidate.

To date, Olvi-Vec is the only product candidate we have tested in humans. The most advanced trial with enrolliment completed was our open-label,
single-arm Phase 1b/2 clinical trial in PRROC. Enrollment was completed in September 2019, and we reported multiple data readouts in 2020 and 2021,
and announced the publication of topline data in JAMA Oncology in May 2023. Additionally, we previously conducted five Phase 1 clinical trials and one
Expanded Access Program (EAP) in different indications, using different routes of administration and different dosing regimens. The most common
treatment-related toxicities generally observed in our trials from different routes of administration were pyrexia, nausea, chills and fatigue with additional
common treatment-related toxicities observed in our intraperitoneal administration trials being abdominal pain and abdominal distension. As we continue
our development of Olvi-Vec and initiate clinical trials of any future product candidates, serious adverse events, undesirable side effects or unexpected
characteristics may emerge or be reported, causing us to abandon these product candidates or limit their development to more narrow uses or
subpopulations in which the serious adverse events, undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable
from a risk-benefit perspective. Even if our product candidates initially show promise in early clinical trials, the side effects of therapies are frequently only
detectable after they are tested in large, Phase 3 clinical trials or, in some cases, after they are made available to patients on a commercial scale after
approval. Sometimes, it can be difficult to determine if the serious adverse or unexpected side effects were caused by the product candidate or another
factor, especially in oncology subjects who may suffer from other medical conditions and be taking other medications. If serious adverse or unexpected
side effects are identified during development and are determined to be attributed to our product candidates, or the result of drug-drug interactions
between our product candidate and any of the concomitant therapies given to the trial subjects, we, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities,
or IRBs and other reviewing entities, could interrupt, delay, or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label, a Risk Evaluation and
Mitigation Strategy (REMS) or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. The FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities may also require, or we may voluntarily develop strategies for managing adverse events during clinical development, which
could include restrictions on our enroliment criteria, the use of stopping criteria, adjustments to a study’s design, or the monitoring of safety data by a data
monitoring committee, among other strategies. Any requests from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority for additional data or information
could also result in substantial delays in the approval of our product candidates.
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Drug-related side effects could also affect subject recruitment or the ability of enrolled subjects to complete the trial or result in potential product
liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

In addition, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by
such products, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

e regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product;
e regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label;
e we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;
e we may be forced to suspend marketing of that product, or decide to remove the product form the marketplace;
e we may be required to change the way the product is administered;
e we could be subject to fines, injunctions, or the imposition of criminal or civil penalties;
e we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and
e the product may become less competitive, and our reputation may suffer.
The therapeutic-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product
liability claims. Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved,

and could significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

We anticipate that many of our product candidates will be used in combination with third-party drugs and/or devices, some of which may still
be in development, and we have limited or no control over the supply, regulatory status or regulatory approval of such drugs and/or devices.

We anticipate developing our product candidates for use in combination with other oncology therapeutics, including chemotherapies and cellular and
targeted therapies (e.g., immune checkpoint inhibitors), or medical devices (e.g. intraperitoneal catheter). For example, in our Phase 3 registration clinical
trial, we are developing the intraperitoneal (catheter) delivery of Olvi-Vec in combination with a platinum-based chemotherapy doublet and bevacizumab
(e.g., AVASTIN). Our ability to develop and ultimately commercialize our product candidates used in combination with platinum-based and other
chemotherapies, and bevacizumab, or any other combination products (e.g., cellular and targeted therapies), and used with devices (e.g., catheters) will
depend on our ability to access such drugs and devices on commercially reasonable terms for the clinical trials and their availability for use with the
commercialized product, if approved. We cannot be certain that current or potential future commercial relationships will provide us with a steady supply of
such drugs or devices on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
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Any failure to maintain or enter into new successful commercial relationships, or the expense of purchasing platinum-based and other
chemotherapies, and bevacizumab, or any other combination products, or any devices in the market, may delay our development timelines, increase our
costs and jeopardize our ability to develop our product candidates as commercially viable therapies. If any of these occur, our business, financial
condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.

Moreover, the development of product candidates for use in combination with another product or product candidate may present challenges that are
not faced for single agent product candidates. For our product candidates that may be used in combination with platinum-based and other
chemotherapies, and bevacizumab, or any other combination products or any devices, the FDA may require us to use more complex clinical trial designs
in order to evaluate the contribution of each product and product candidate to any observed effects. It is possible that the results of these trials could show
that there are adverse events tied to the interaction of Olvi-Vec with any of the other therapies, or that any positive previous trial results are attributable to
the combination therapy and not our product candidates. Moreover, following product approval, the FDA may require that products or devices used in
conjunction with each other be cross labeled for combined use. To the extent that we do not have rights to the other product or device, this may require
us to work with a third party to satisfy such a requirement. The ability to obtain cooperation from the third party may impact our ability to respond to the



FDA's requests which could impact our ability to achieve regulatory approval. Moreover, developments related to the other product or device may impact
our clinical trials as well as our commercial prospects should we receive marketing approval. Such developments may include changes to the safety or
efficacy profile of the other product or device, changes to the availability of the approved product or device, and changes to the standard of care.

In the event that any future collaborator or supplier of platinum-based and other chemotherapies, and bevacizumab, or any other products
administered in combination, or any devices used, with our product candidates does not supply their products on commercially reasonable terms or in a
timely fashion, we would need to identify alternatives for accessing these products. This could cause our clinical trials to be delayed and limit the
commercial opportunities for our product candidates, in which case our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may
be materially harmed.

We may not be successful in our efforts to expand our pipeline of product candidates and develop marketable products.

We expect initially to develop our lead product candidate, Olvi-Vec. We anticipate pursuing clinical development of other product candidates, alone or
in collaboration with our partners. Research programs to identify new product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources.
Developing, obtaining marketing approval for, and commercializing additional product candidates will require substantial additional funding and will be
subject to the risks of failure inherent in medical product development. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully advance any of these
additional product candidates through the development process.

Even if we obtain approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to market additional product candidates for the treatment of
cancer, we cannot assure you that any such product candidates will be successfully commercialized, widely accepted in the marketplace, or more
effective than other commercially available alternatives. If we are unable to successfully develop and commercialize additional product candidates our
commercial opportunity may be limited and our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
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We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or
indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must prioritize our research programs and will need to focus our product candidates
on the potential treatment of certain indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other
indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial
products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific
indications may not yield any commercially viable products.

Additionally, we may pursue additional in-licenses or acquisitions of development-stage assets or programs, which entails additional risk to us.
Identifying, selecting and acquiring promising product candidates requires substantial technical, financial, and human resources expertise. Efforts to do so
may not result in the actual acquisition or license of a particular product candidate, potentially resulting in a diversion of our management’s time and the
expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit. For example, if we are unable to identify programs that ultimately result in approved products, we
may spend material amounts of our capital and other resources evaluating, acquiring and developing products that ultimately do not provide a return on
our investment.

If we do not achieve our product development goals in the timeframes we announce and expect, the commercialization of our product
candidates may be delayed and as a result our share price may decline.

Drug development is inherently risky and uncertain. We cannot be certain that we will be able to:

e complete IND-enabling preclinical studies or develop manufacturing processes and associated analytical methods that meet current good
manufacturing practice (cGMP) requirements in time to initiate or to complete our anticipated or future clinical trials in the timeframes we announce;

e  obtain sufficient clinical supply of our product candidates to support our anticipated or future clinical trials;
e initiate clinical trials within the timeframes we announce;

e enroll and maintain a sufficient number of subjects to complete or timely complete any clinical trials; or

e collect and analyze the data from any completed clinical trials in the timeframes we announce.

The actual timing of our development milestones could vary significantly compared to our estimates, in some cases for reasons beyond our control. If
we are unable to achieve our goals within the timeframes we announce, the commercialization of our product candidates may be delayed and, as a result,
the stock price of our common stock could fall and you may lose all of your investment.

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and
uncertain and may prevent us or any of our existing or potential future collaboration partners from obtaining approvals for the
commercialization of Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and any other product candidate we develop.

Any current or future product candidate we may develop, and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their
design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution, are subject to
comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. Failure to
obtain marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product candidate in a given jurisdiction. We have not
received approval to market any product candidates from regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction and it is possible that none of the product candidates we
may seek to develop in the future will ever obtain regulatory approval.
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Securing marketing approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authorities for
each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy for that indication. Securing marketing approval also requires the
submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities and clinical trial sites by, the regulatory
authorities. If we do not receive approval from the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for any of our product candidates, we will not be
able to commercialize such product candidates in the United States or in other jurisdictions. If significant delays in obtaining approval for and
commercializing our product candidates occur in any jurisdictions, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be
materially harmed. Even if our product candidates are approved, they may:

e  be subject to limitations on the indicated uses or patient populations for which they may be marketed, distribution restrictions, or other conditions of
approval;



e  contain significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings;
e  contain significant contraindications, and precautions which could reduce the size of the patient population;
e not be approved with label statements necessary or desirable for successful commercialization;

e contain requirements for costly post-market testing and surveillance, or other requirements, including the submission of a REMS to monitor the
safety or efficacy of the products; or

e be withdrawn from the market because of a serious safety issue becomes know after approval is granted.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive, takes many years even if successful, and can
vary substantially in and among jurisdictions based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity, and novelty of the product candidates
involved. The number and types of preclinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for regulatory approval also varies depending on the product
candidate, the disease or condition that the product candidate is designed to address, and the regulations applicable to any particular product candidate.
Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in
regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. The FDA and comparable
authorities in other countries have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are
insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical
and clinical testing could delay, limit, or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. It is possible that our product candidates will never obtain the
appropriate regulatory approvals necessary for us to commence product sales, or any marketing approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject
to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable.

If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of any current or future product candidates we may develop, the
commercial prospects for those product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.
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We plan to conduct our Phase 2 clinical trial for Olvi-Vec in recurrent NSCLC in the United States and potentially in China as part of a multi-
regional clinical trial with our collaboration partner Newsoara. However, the FDA and other foreign equivalents may not accept data from such
trial, in which case our development plans will be delayed, which could materially harm our business.

Following FDA authorization, we began regulatory study start-up of a Phase 2, open-label, randomized, and controlled clinical trial designed to
evaluate the efficacy and safety of intravenously delivered Olvi-Vec oncolytic VACV followed by treatment as per the NCCN Guidelines for patients with
recurrent NSCLC in the United States in the first half of 2023, which will be funded in its entirety by Newsoara. We plan to conduct this trial under our
current open IND and, subject to regulatory authorization, potentially launch a multi-regional clinical trial with Newsoara in the United States and China.
Newsoara initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of Olvi-Vec in patients with recurrent SCLC in China in the first half of 2023, and we anticipate they will initiate
further trials in recurrent NSCLC and recurrent ovarian cancer in China.

The acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or another jurisdiction by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. In addition, even where the foreign study data are not intended to
serve as the sole basis for approval, the FDA will not accept the data as support for an application for marketing approval unless the study is well-
designed and well-conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice (GCP) requirements and the FDA is able to validate the data from the study
through an onsite inspection if deemed necessary. Many foreign regulatory authorities have similar approval requirements. In addition, such foreign trials
would be subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA or any
comparable foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or any comparable foreign
regulatory authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials, which could be costly and time-consuming, and which may
result in current or future product candidates that we may develop not receiving approval for commercialization in the applicable jurisdiction.

We believe that clinical data generated in China and the United States will be accepted by the FDA and its foreign equivalents outside of China,
which would enable us to commence Phase 3 and possibly registration clinical trials in the United States without the need for us to conduct additional
Phase 2 clinical trials in the United States. However, there can be no assurance the FDA or applicable foreign authorities will accept data from our
planned Phase 2 clinical trial in Olvi-Vec. If the FDA or applicable foreign authorities do not accept any such data, we would likely be required to conduct
additional Phase 2 clinical trials, which would be costly and time consuming, and delay aspects of our development plan, which could harm our business.

Conducting clinical trials outside the United States exposes us to additional risks, including risks associated with:

e additional foreign regulatory requirements;
e compliance with foreign manufacturing, customs, shipment and storage requirements;
e cultural differences in medical practice and clinical research; and

e diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries.

Approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to market a product candidate will be limited to those specific indications
and conditions for which approval has been granted, and we may be subject to substantial fines, criminal penalties, injunctions, or other
enforcement actions if we are determined to be promoting the use of any products for unapproved or “off-label” uses, resulting in damage to
our reputation and business.

We must comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.
Promotional communications with respect to therapeutics are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and continuing review by the FDA,
Department of Justice, Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of Inspector General, state attorneys general, members of Congress, and the
public. When the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities issue regulatory approval to market a product candidate, the regulatory approval is
limited to those specific uses and indications for which a product is approved. If we are not able to obtain FDA approval for desired uses or indications for
our product candidates, we may not market or promote them for those indications and uses, referred to as off-label uses, and our business, financial
condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be materially harmed. We also must sufficiently substantiate any claims that we make for
any products we develop, including claims comparing our products to other companies’ products, and must abide by the FDA's strict requirements
regarding the content of promotion and advertising.
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Because regulatory authorities in the United States generally do not restrict or regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatment within



the practice of medicine, physicians may in their independent medical judgment choose to prescribe products for uses that are not described in the
product’s labeling and for uses that differ from those tested in clinical trials and approved by the regulatory authorities. Regulatory authorities do, however,
limit communications by biopharmaceutical companies concerning off-label use. Therefore, we are prohibited from marketing and promoting the products
for indications and uses that are not specifically approved by the FDA.

If we are found to have impermissibly promoted any products that we may develop, we may become subject to significant liability and government
fines. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations regarding product promotion, particularly those prohibiting the promotion of
off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted a product may be subject to significant sanctions. The federal government has
levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label
promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct
is changed or curtailed.

In the United States, the promotion of biopharmaceutical products is subject to additional FDA requirements and restrictions on promotional
statements. If after one or more of our product candidates obtains marketing approval the FDA determines that our promotional activities violate its
regulations and policies pertaining to product promotion, it could request that we modify our promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or other
enforcement actions, including issuance of warning letters or untitled letters, suspension or withdrawal of an approved product from the market, requests
for recalls, payment of civil fines, disgorgement of money, imposition of operating restrictions, injunctions or criminal prosecution, and other enforcement
actions. Similarly, industry codes in foreign jurisdictions may prohibit companies from engaging in certain promotional activities and regulatory agencies in
various countries may enforce violations of such codes with civil penalties. If we become subject to regulatory and enforcement actions our business,
financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be materially harmed.

Engaging in the impermissible promotion of our products, in the United States, following approval, for off-label uses can also subject us to false
claims and other litigation under federal and state statutes. These include fraud and abuse and consumer protection laws, which can lead to civil and
criminal penalties and fines, agreements with governmental authorities that materially restrict the manner in which we promote or distribute therapeutic
products and conduct our business. These restrictions could include corporate integrity agreements, suspension or exclusion from participation in federal
and state healthcare programs, and suspension and debarment from government contracts and refusal of orders under existing government contracts.
These False Claims Act (FCA) lawsuits against manufacturers of drugs and biological products have increased significantly in volume and breadth,
leading to several substantial civil and criminal settlements, up to $3.0 billion, pertaining to certain sales practices and promoting off-label uses. In
addition, FCA lawsuits may expose manufacturers to follow-on claims by private payors based on fraudulent marketing practices. This growth in litigation
has increased the risk that a biopharmaceutical company will have to defend a false claim action, pay settlement fines or restitution, as well as criminal
and civil penalties, agree to comply with burdensome reporting and compliance obligations, and be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid, or other federal
and state healthcare programs. If we do not lawfully promote our approved products, if any, we may become subject to such litigation and, if we do not
successfully defend against such actions, those actions may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects.
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Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval for our product candidates in one jurisdiction would not mean that we will be successful in
obtaining marketing approval of that product candidate in other jurisdictions, which could prevent us from marketing our products
internationally.

Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction would not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or
maintain marketing approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative
effect on the marketing approval process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable foreign
regulatory authorities must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures
vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States,
including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other
jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale
in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval. In cases where data from foreign clinical
trials are intended to serve as the sole basis for marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis
of foreign data alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; (ii) the trials were performed by clinical
investigators of recognized competence and pursuant to GCP regulations; and (iii) the data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site
inspection by the FDA, or if the FDA considers such inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or other
appropriate means.

Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for approval of product candidates with which we must comply
prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign marketing approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in
significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the
regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize
the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed. If we obtain approval for any product candidate and ultimately commercialize that
product in foreign markets, we would be subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign
regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements and the reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatory approval, we will be subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review, which
may result in significant additional expense and limit how we manufacture and market our products.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive and ongoing requirements of and review by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities, including requirements related to the manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical data, labeling, packaging,
distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, recordkeeping, export, import, advertising, marketing, and promotional activities for such product. These
requirements further include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information, including manufacturing deviations and reports, registration and
listing requirements, the payment of annual fees, continued compliance with cGMP requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality
assurance, and corresponding maintenance of records and documents, and GCPs for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.

The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities will continue to closely monitor the safety profile of any product even after approval. If the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities become aware of new safety information after approval of any of our product candidates, they may
withdraw approval, issue public safety alerts, require labeling changes or establishment of a REMS or similar strategy, impose significant restrictions on a
product’s indicated uses or marketing, or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market surveillance. Any such
restrictions could limit sales of the product.

We and any of our suppliers or collaborators, including our contract manufacturers, could be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the
FDA to monitor and ensure compliance with cGMPs and other FDA regulatory requirements. Application holders must further notify the FDA, and
depending on the nature of the change, obtain FDA pre-approval for product and manufacturing changes.
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In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or of the product being less effective than previously thought or other problems
with our products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements both before and after approval, may yield
various negative results, including:

e restrictions on manufacturing, distribution, or marketing of such products;

e restrictions on the labeling, including required additional warnings, such as black boxed warnings, contraindications, precautions, and restrictions on
the approved indication or use;

e  modifications to promotional pieces;

e issuance of corrective information;

e requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or other clinical trials;
e clinical holds or termination of clinical trials;

e requirements to establish or modify a REMS or similar strategy;

e changes to the way the product candidate is administered;

e liability for harm caused to patients or subjects;

e  reputational harm;

e the product becoming less competitive;

e warning, untitled, or cyber letters;

e suspension of marketing or withdrawal of the products from the market;

e regulatory authority issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases, or other communications containing warnings or other
safety information about the product candidate;

e refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
e recalls of products;

e fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

e suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

e refusal to permit the import or export of our products;

e  product seizure or detention;
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e FDA debarment, suspension and debarment from government contracts, and refusal of orders under existing government contracts, exclusion from
federal healthcare programs, consent decrees, or corporate integrity agreements; or

e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, including imprisonment.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, or could
substantially increase the costs and expenses of commercializing such product, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant
revenues from its marketing and sale. Any of these events could further have other material and adverse effects on our operations and business and
could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

The FDA's policies or those of comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that
could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates, limit the marketability of our product candidates, or impose additional
regulatory obligations on us. Changes in medical practice and standard of care may also impact the marketability of our product candidates.

If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements, standards of care, or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are
not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and be subject to regulatory enforcement
action.

Should any of the above actions take place, we could be prevented from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability. Further, the cost of
compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operations and business and could adversely impact our business, financial
condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

Risks Related to Manufacturing

We are subject to multiple manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our product
candidates.

The manufacture of biopharmaceutical products requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. The process of manufacturing viral immunotherapies, including our product candidates, is particularly
complex, time- consuming, highly-regulated and costly.

Manufacturers of therapeutics often encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up initial production, with such risks including:

e quality control, including stability of the product candidate and quality assurance testing;

e shortages of qualified personnel or key raw materials or components;



e  product loss during the manufacturing process, including loss caused by contamination, equipment failure or improper installation or operation of
equipment, or operator error. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result in reduced production yields, product defects
and other supply disruptions. If microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered in our products or in the manufacturing facilities in which our
products are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination;

e the manufacturing facilities in which our product candidates are made could be adversely affected by equipment failures, labor and raw material
shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors; and
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e any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations for our products may result in shipment delays, inventory shortages, lot failures,
product withdrawals or recalls, or other interruptions in the supply of our product candidates. We may also have to take inventory write-offs and incur
other charges and expenses for product candidate batches that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts or seek more costly
manufacturing alternatives.

As product candidates are developed through preclinical studies to later-stage clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is common
that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods and formulation, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize
processes and results.

Changes in product candidate manufacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

We previously engaged a third-party contract manufacturing organization (CMO) that specializes in the manufacture of vaccines to produce clinical-
grade Olvi-Vec for all of our prior clinical trials.

We have leased a building in San Diego, California and have established and equipped our own manufacturing facility in order to secure supplies for
pivotal studies and commercial launch. This building is intended to give us control over key aspects of the supply chain for our products and product
candidates and has additional space for expansion.

We have developed a new process for larger-scale manufacturing using a closed, mammalian-cell-based production system. This process is being
implemented in our manufacturing facility and is intended to produce Olvi-Vec and other clinical products for use in our subsequent clinical trials and in
our commercial launches. We may also make further changes to our manufacturing facilities and processes at various points during development or
commercialization, for a number of reasons, such as controlling costs, achieving scale, decreasing processing time, increasing manufacturing success
rate or other reasons. The manufacturing changes could require changes in raw materials, components and services that are obtained from third-party
suppliers. The inability of suppliers to provide those supplies or services or delays in acquiring the supplies or services would delay the manufacture of
clinical or commercial product supplies.

These changes carry the risk that they will not achieve their intended objectives, and any of these changes could cause our product candidates to
perform differently and affect the results of our planned or future clinical trials. In some circumstances, changes in the facility or the manufacturing
process, as was done with regard to changing to mammalian-cell manufacture, require notification to, or authorization by the FDA or a comparable foreign
regulatory authority, which may be delayed or which we may never receive. Such changes may also require, prior to undertaking more advanced clinical
trials, additional ex vivo or clinical testing, to show the comparability of the product used in earlier clinical phases or at earlier portions of a trial to the
product used in later clinical phases or later portions of the trial. For example, we previously modified our manufacturing process and had to demonstrate
comparability to the FDA in order to use Olvi-Vec manufactured by this process in our ongoing Phase 3 PRROC trial. Any future changes to our
manufacturing process may similarly require comparability assessments by the FDA and could delay clinical trials or, if the modified manufacturing
process is not comparable, result in inconsistencies in trial results that may be difficult to explain.

Even if the FDA agrees the products are comparable, the products may, in fact, perform differently and affect the results of our ongoing, planned or
future clinical trials. This could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or studies, require the repetition of one or
more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates and/or jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and
generate revenue.
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We may rely on CMOs to conduct large-scale manufacture of Olvi-Vec in the future. The inability to identify and contract with suitable CMOs or
their failure to meet their obligations to us could affect our ability to develop or commercialize Olvi-Vec in a timely manner.

If the FDA, state or a comparable foreign regulatory authority does not approve our manufacturing facility for the manufacture of our product
candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future, or our current facility is unable to meet our volume requirements, we may need to find
alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates,
if approved. Any alternative manufacturing facility would require obtaining the necessary equipment and materials and, if a third-party manufacturer, the
necessary manufacturing know-how, which may take substantial time and investment. We must also receive FDA approval for the use of any
manufacturing facility for commercial supply.

In such instance, we may need to enter into an appropriate third-party relationship. We may not succeed in our efforts to establish manufacturing
relationships or other alternative arrangements for any of our product candidates or programs. Any product candidates we develop compete with other
products and product candidates for access to manufacturing facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations
that are both capable of manufacturing and filling our viral product for us and willing to do so.

Reliance on third-party providers for certain manufacturing activities will reduce our control over these activities but will not relieve us of our
responsibility to ensure compliance with all required regulations. Under certain circumstances, these third-party providers may be entitled to terminate
their engagements with us. If a third-party provider terminates its engagement with us, or does not successfully carry out its contractual duties, meet
expected deadlines or manufacture Olvi-Vec or any other product candidates in accordance with regulatory requirements, or if there are disagreements
between us and a third-party provider, we may need to identify and qualify replacement suppliers, which may not be readily available or available on
acceptable terms. In this instance, we may not be able to complete, or may be delayed in completing, the preclinical studies required to support future
IND submissions, the clinical trials required for approval, and commercial supply of Olvi-Vec or any other product candidate and would thereby have a
negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we are unable to manufacture and release any product candidates in the volumes that we require on a timely basis, or fail to comply with
stringent regulations applicable to biopharmaceutical manufacturers, we may face delays in the development and commercialization of, or be
unable to meet demand for, any product candidates, and may lose potential revenues.

We intend to self-manufacture our clinical trial and commercial product supplies for the foreseeable future. We currently have only one manufacturing



facility for use in our clinical trials. Our clinical product supply may be limited, interrupted, or of satisfactory quality or continue to be available at
acceptable prices. Any delays in obtaining adequate supplies of our product candidates that meet the necessary quality standards may delay our
development or commercialization.

We may be unable to comply with our specifications, applicable cGMP requirements or other FDA, state or foreign regulatory requirements of our
product candidates for clinical trials and, if approved, commercial supply, and will be subject to FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authority
inspection. These requirements include the qualification and validation of our manufacturing equipment and processes. We may not be able to develop,
retain or acquire the internal expertise and resources necessary for effectively managing our ongoing manufacturing operations and complying with these
requirements. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of adventitious agents or other contaminants, or to inadvertent changes in
the properties or stability of a product candidate that may not be detectable in final product testing. If we cannot successfully manufacture material that
conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities, we will not be able to secure or maintain
regulatory approval for our manufacturing facility. Any such deviations may also require remedial measures that may be costly and/or time-consuming for
us to implement, particularly in areas relating to operations, quality, regulatory, facilities and information technology. Any such remedial measures
imposed upon us may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical trial or the temporary or permanent closure of our facility and could
materially harm our business.
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A failure to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements, including periodic regulatory inspections, may result in regulatory enforcement
actions against us or our raw material and component suppliers (including fines and civil and criminal penalties, including imprisonment) suspension or
restrictions of production, injunctions, delay or denial of product approval or supplements to approved products, clinical holds or termination of clinical
trials, warning or untitled letters, regulatory authority communications warning the public about safety issues with the product candidate, refusal to permit
the import or export of the products, product seizure, detention, or recall, operating restrictions, consent decrees, withdrawal of product approval,
environmental or safety incidents and other liabilities. If the safety of any quantities supplied is compromised due to our failure or our raw material and
component suppliers’ failure to adhere to applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our product candidates.

Any problems or delays we experience in commercial-scale manufacturing of a product candidate or component may result in a delay in product
development timelines and FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority approval of the product candidate or may impair our ability to manufacture
commercial quantities or such quantities at an acceptable cost and quality, which could result in the delay, prevention, or impairment of clinical
development and commercialization of any product candidates and may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock
price and prospects.

Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to supply and quality-test the ingredients for our product candidates and components
for our manufacturing process.

While we are responsible for the manufacturing of our product candidates, drug substance and drug product, reliance on raw material and
component suppliers entails risks, including:

e reduced control for certain aspects of our manufacturing activities;

e termination or nonrenewal of the applicable supplier and service agreements in a manner or at a time that is costly or damaging to us;
e the possible breach by our third-party suppliers and service providers of our agreements with them;

e the failure of our third-party suppliers and service providers to comply with applicable regulatory requirements;

e disruptions to the operations of our third-party suppliers and service providers caused by conditions unrelated to our business or operations, including
the bankruptcy of the manufacturer or service provider; and

e the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how.

Any failure or refusal to supply our product candidates or components for our product candidates that we may develop could delay, prevent or impair
our clinical development or commercialization efforts. In addition, we do not have any long-term commitments or guaranteed prices from our suppliers of
raw materials, manufacturing equipment components or devices or combination products. In particular, any change in our suppliers could require
significant effort and expertise because there may be a limited number of qualified replacements. Further, the terms of any new arrangement could be
less favorable and transfer costs relating to technology and processes could be significant.
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Any of these events could lead to clinical trial delays or failure to obtain regulatory approval, impact our ability to successfully commercialize any of
our product candidates or otherwise harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects. Some of these events could
be the basis for FDA or other regulatory authority action, including injunction, recall, seizure or total or partial suspension of product manufacture.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct, supervise, and monitor our preclinical studies and clinical trials. If those
third parties do not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials or failing to comply with
regulatory requirements, we may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates or any other product candidates that we
may develop in the future.

We rely, and will rely, on third-party CROSs, study sites and others to conduct, supervise, and monitor our preclinical studies and clinical trials for our
product candidates. We expect to continue to rely on third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions, and
clinical investigators, to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials. Although we have agreements governing their activities, we have limited
influence over their actual performance and control only certain aspects of their activities. The failure of these third parties to successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines could substantially harm our business because we may be delayed in completing or unable to complete the
studies required to support future approval of our product candidates, or we may not obtain marketing approval for or commercialize our product
candidates in a timely manner or at all. Moreover, these agreements might terminate for a variety of reasons, including a failure to perform by the third
parties. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements, our product development activities would be delayed and our business, financial condition,
results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.

Our reliance on these third parties for development activities will reduce our control over these activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for
ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory, and scientific standards and our reliance on
third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. For example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our trials is conducted



in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. We must also ensure that our preclinical trials are conducted in accordance
with the FDA's Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) regulations, as appropriate. Moreover, the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities require us
to comply with standards, commonly referred to as GCP guidelines, for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data
and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity, and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. Regulatory authorities
enforce these requirements through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, clinical investigators, and trial sites. If we or any of our third parties fail to
comply with applicable GCPs or other regulatory requirements, we or they may be subject to enforcement or other legal actions. For example, the data
generated in our trials may not have been appropriately collected or documented, and thereby be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities may conclude the study findings are not adequate and require us to perform additional studies.

In addition, we will be required to report certain financial interests of our third-party investigators if these relationships exceed certain financial
thresholds or meet other criteria. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may question the integrity of the data from those clinical trials
conducted by investigators who may have conflicts of interest.

We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our trials complies
with the applicable regulatory requirements. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product candidates that were produced under cGMP
regulations. Failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. We also
are required to register certain clinical trials and post the results of certain completed clinical trials on one or more government-sponsored databases,
e.g., ClinicalTrials.gov, within specified timeframes. Failure to do so can result in enforcement actions and adverse publicity.
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The third parties with which we work may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors, for whom they may also
be conducting trials or other therapeutic development activities that could harm our competitive position. In addition, such third parties are not our
employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with such third parties we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient
time and resources to our ongoing clinical, non-clinical, and preclinical programs. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our preclinical studies or clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, if
they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our protocols, regulatory
requirements or for other reasons, our trials may be repeated, extended, delayed, or terminated; we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in
obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates; we may not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our
product candidates; or we or they may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects
for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed. To the extent we are unable
to successfully identify and manage the performance of third-party service providers in the future, our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.

If any of our relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative providers or to do so on
commercially reasonable terms. Switching or adding additional third parties involves additional cost and requires management time and focus. In addition,
there is a natural transition period when a new third party commences work. As a result, delays could occur, which could compromise our ability to meet
our desired development timelines.

We will also rely on other third parties to store and distribute our product candidates for the clinical trials that we conduct. Any performance failure on
the part of our distributors could delay clinical development, marketing approval, or commercialization of our product candidates, which could result in
additional losses and deprive us of potential product revenue.

We have entered into, and may in the future enter into, certain collaboration agreements and strategic alliances to maximize the potential of
our product candidates, and we may not realize the anticipated benefits of such collaborations or alliances. We expect to continue to form
collaborations in the future with respect to our product candidates, but may be unable to do so or to realize the potential benefits of such
transactions, which may cause us to alter or delay our development and commercialization plans.

We may form or seek other strategic alliances, joint ventures, or collaborations, or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third parties that
we believe will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to product candidates we develop. These
transactions can entail numerous operational and financial risks, including exposure to unknown liabilities, disruption of our business and diversion of our
management’s time and attention in order to manage a collaboration. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will
achieve the revenue or other anticipated benefits that led us to enter into the arrangement. Additionally, the success of any collaboration arrangements
may depend on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources
that they will apply to these arrangements. Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement regarding clinical development and
commercialization matters can lead to delays in the development process or commercializing the applicable product candidate and, in some cases,
termination of the collaboration arrangement. These disagreements can be difficult to resolve if neither of the parties has final decision-making authority.

63

If we are not able to establish future collaborations on commercially reasonable terms, we may have to alter our development and
commercialization plans for one or more of our other development programs.

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate additional collaborators. Our ability to reach a definitive agreement for any collaboration will
depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration
and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors.

If we are unable to reach agreements with suitable collaborators on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we may have to curtail the
development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay its potential
commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization
activities at our own expense. If we elect to fund and undertake development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional
expertise and additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to enter into collaborations and do not have
sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities, we may not be able to further develop our product
candidates or bring them to market or continue to develop our product platform and our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Our current and any future collaborations are not a guarantee of success, and all collaborations are as risky, or more risky, than undertaking
the activities ourselves.

Our current collaborations with TVAX, Newsoara and ELIAS, and potential future collaborations we might enter into for Olvi-Vec or our other product
candidates, may pose a number of risks, including the following:

e collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;



e collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of product candidates that achieve regulatory approval or may elect not to continue
or renew development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborators’ strategic focus or available
funding, or external factors, such as an acquisition, that divert resources or create competing priorities;

e collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate,
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

e collaborators could fail to make timely regulatory submissions for a product candidate;

e  collaborators may not comply with all applicable regulatory requirements or may fail to report safety data in accordance with all applicable regulatory
requirements, which could subject them or us to regulatory enforcement actions;

e collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or product
candidates if the collaborators believe that competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms
that are more economically attractive than ours;

e product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or
products, which may cause collaborators to cease to devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates;

e a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not commit
sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such product candidate or product;
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e disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development,
might cause delays or termination of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities
for us with respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time consuming and expensive;

e  collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite
litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation; and

e collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability.

In addition, all of the risks relating to product development, regulatory approval and commercialization described in this Quarterly Report also apply
to the activities of any of our current or future collaborators.

Collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies and other third parties often are terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any such
termination or expiration could adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation.

If any collaborations we have entered into or might enter into do not result in the successful development and commercialization of products or if one
of our collaborators subsequently terminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any future research funding or milestone or royalty payments
under such collaboration. If we do not receive the funding we expect under the agreements, our development of our product candidates could be delayed
and we may need additional resources to develop our product candidates and our product platform.

Additionally, if any collaborator of ours is involved in a business combination, the collaborator might deemphasize or terminate development or
commercialization of any product candidate licensed to it by us. If one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may find it more difficult to
attract new collaborators and our reputation in the business and financial communities could be adversely affected.

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Our ability to reach a definitive agreement for any collaboration will depend,
among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the
proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors.

If we are unable to reach agreements with suitable collaborators on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we may have to curtail the
development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay its potential
commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization
activities at our own expense. If we elect to fund and undertake development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional
expertise and additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to enter into collaborations and do not have
sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities, we may not be able to further develop our product
candidates or bring them to market or continue to develop our product platform and our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire
and retain key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a
timely manner, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels,
ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the
agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development
activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.
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Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary
government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years, including for 35 days beginning on December
22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical employees
and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our
regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Separately, the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the United States adopted restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19
pandemic that diverted resources and delayed their attention to routine submissions. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health
concerns prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could
significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business.



Risks Related to Commercialization

If we, or our collaboration partners, are unable to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we receive regulatory approval,
or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

If we, or our collaboration partners, are successful in obtaining marketing approval from applicable regulatory authorities for Olvi-Vec or any other
product candidate, our ability to generate revenues from any such products will depend on our success in:

e launching commercial sales of such products, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

e receiving approved labels with claims that are necessary or desirable for successful marketing, and that do not contain safety or other limitations that
would impede our ability to market such products;

e creating market demand for such products through marketing, sales and promotion activities;
e hiring, training, and deploying a sales force or contracting with third parties to commercialize such products in the United States;

e creating partnerships with, or offering licenses to, third parties to promote and sell such products in foreign markets where we receive marketing
approval;

e  manufacturing such products in sufficient quantities and at acceptable quality and cost to meet commercial demand at launch and thereafter;

e  establishing and maintaining agreements with wholesalers, distributors, and group purchasing organizations on commercially reasonable terms;
e maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for such products;

e achieving market acceptance of such products by patients, the medical community, and third-party payors;

e achieving coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for such products;
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e achieving patients’ willingness to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of such coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
e competing effectively with other therapies; and
e maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of such products following launch.

To the extent we are not able to do any of the foregoing, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be
materially harmed.

We face significant competition from other biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, government agencies, and
other research organizations, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products more quickly or marketing them
more successfully than us. If their product candidates are shown to be safer or more effective than ours, our commercial opportunity may be
reduced or eliminated.

The development and commercialization of cancer immunotherapy products is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition
and a strong emphasis on proprietary rights. We face competition with respect to our current product candidates and will face competition with respect to
any product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future, from major biopharmaceutical companies, specialty
biopharmaceutical companies, and biotechnology companies worldwide. There are a number of large biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of products for the treatment of solid tumors, including viral immunotherapy and
cancer vaccine approaches. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies, and other public and private research
organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection, and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing, and
commercialization.

We are aware of a number of companies developing competing therapies for the treatment of cancer which generally fall into the following treatment
groups:

e Oncolytic viral immunotherapies, including Amgen’s IMLYGIC (talimogene laherparepvec), the only FDA-approved oncolytic immunotherapy, which
is approved for the local treatment of unresectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal lesions in patients with melanoma recurrent after initial
surgery and is in development for several other indications, and other oncolytic viruses in development by companies such as AstraZeneca PLC,
Boehringer Ingelheim, CG Oncology, Inc., Candel Therapeutics, Inc., Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited, DNAtrix Inc., Imugene Limited, Johnson &
Johnson, Merck & Co., Inc. (Merck), Oncolytics Biotech Inc., Oncorus, Otsuka Holdings Co. Ltd., PsiOxus Therapeutics, Ltd., Regeneron
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Replimune Group, Inc., SillaJen, Inc. (SillaJen), Targovax USA, Transgene SA, Turnstone Biologics Corp. and Vyriad, Inc.;

e Approved immunotherapy antibodies and immunotherapy agents in clinical development, including antibody agents, bispecific T cell engagers,
including those in development by Amgen, and immuno- oncology companies focused on IL-12, such as Ziopharm Oncology Inc.;

e  Cancer vaccines, including personalized vaccines and those targeting tumor neoantigens, including neoantigen therapies in development by
companies such as Advaxis, Inc., Agenus Inc., AstraZeneca, Bavarian Nordic A/S, BioNTech SE, Genocea Biosciences, Inc., Gritstone Oncology,
Inc., Heat Biologics, Inc., ImmunityBio, Inc., IMV Inc., Moderna, Inc., SOTIO a.s., Transgene SA, and VBI Vaccines Inc.;

e Cell-based therapies, including tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in development by lovance Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Turnstone Biologics, Inc.

and approved and in-development CAR T cell therapies, including those commercialized by BMS, Gilead Sciences Inc. and Novartis AG, T cell
receptor and NK cell therapies;

67

e Therapies aimed at activating innate immunity such as those targeting stimulator of interferon genes protein (STING) and toll-like receptors (TLRS)
including those in development by BMS, Checkmate Pharmaceuticals Inc., Chinook Therapeutics Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK), ldera
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Merck, Mologen AG, Nektar Therapeutics, TriSalus Life Sciences, and UroGen Pharma Inc.; and

e Traditional cancer therapies, including chemotherapy, surgery, radiation and targeted therapies.



We are aware of several other companies developing therapies based on VACV. To our knowledge, the only clinical product based on VACV that
has advanced beyond Phase 1 clinical development is Pexa-Vec, being jointly developed by SillaJen and Transgene. Pexa-Vec has a different product
profile from Olvi-Vec, including a different strain of VACV and different transgenes. In August 2019, SillaJen announced the discontinuation of its Phase 3
PHOCUS trial of Pexa-Vec in advanced liver cancer for futility.

We are also aware of other companies either marketing or focused on developing competing therapies for the treatment of ovarian cancer, including
PRROC:

Currently marketed products for ovarian cancer include generic products cisplatin (manufactured by 18 companies), carboplatin (manufactured by 22
companies) and paclitaxel (manufactured by 19 companies), along with Sanofi-Aventis’s Taxotere, Celgene Corp.’s Abraxane, Esai Inc.’s Hexalen, Roche
Holding AG’s (Roche) Xeloda, Roche/Genentech, Inc.’s Avastin, Baxter Healthcare’s Cytoxan and Ifex, Etoposide (manufactured by 10 companies), Eli
Lilly and Company’s Gemzar and Alimta, Pfizer Inc.’s Camtosar, Janssen Pharmaceutical’s Doxil, GSK’s Alkeran, Sandoz’s Topotecan, Laboratoires
Pierre Fabre's Navelbine, GSK's Zejula, AstraZeneca’s Lynparza, and Clovis Oncology’s Rubraca.

Product candidates in registration trials or later development for PRROC include:

e Mirvetuximab soravtansine, a folate receptor binding antibody drug conjugate by ImmunoGen, Inc.;
e Nemvaleukin alfa, an engineered interleukin-2 by Alkermes Plc.; and
e Relacorilant, an anti-glucocorticoid, by Corcept Therapeutics Inc.

While certain of our product candidates may be used in combination with other drugs with different mechanisms of action, if and when marketed they
will still compete with a number of drugs that are currently marketed or in development that also target cancer. To compete effectively with these drugs,
our product candidates will need to demonstrate advantages in clinical efficacy and safety compared to these competitors when used alone or in
combination with other drugs.

Our commercial opportunities could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective,
have fewer or less severe side effects, are easier to administer or are less expensive alone or in combination with other therapies than any products that
we may develop alone or in combination with other therapies. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ approval
for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we
are able to enter the market. In addition, our ability to compete may be affected in many cases by third-party payors’ coverage and reimbursement
decisions.

Many of the companies with which we are competing or may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in
research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and marketing approved products
than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated
among a smaller number of our competitors. Early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management
personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in developing or acquiring technologies complementary to,
or necessary for, our programs. If we are unable to successfully compete with these companies our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.

If we are unable to establish effective marketing, sales and distribution capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and
sell our product candidates, if they are approved, the revenues that we generate may be limited and we may never become profitable.

We currently do not have a commercial infrastructure for the marketing, sale, and distribution of any products that we may develop. If and when our
product candidates receive marketing approval, we intend to commercialize our product candidates on our own or in collaboration with others and
potentially with pharmaceutical or biotechnology partners in other geographies. In order to commercialize our products, we must build our marketing,
sales, and distribution capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services. We may not be successful in doing so. Should we
decide to move forward in developing our own marketing capabilities, we may incur expenses prior to product launch or even approval in order to recruit a
sales force and develop a marketing and sales infrastructure. If a commercial launch is delayed as a result of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authority requirements or other reasons, we would incur these expenses prior to being able to realize any revenue from sales of our product candidates.
Even if we are able to effectively hire a sales force and develop a marketing and sales infrastructure, our sales force and marketing teams may not be
successful in commercializing our product candidates. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and
marketing personnel.
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We may also or alternatively decide to collaborate with third-party marketing and sales organizations to commercialize any approved product
candidates, in which event, our ability to generate product revenues may be limited. To the extent we rely on third parties to commercialize any products
for which we obtain regulatory approval, we may receive less revenues than if we commercialized these products ourselves, which could materially harm
our prospects. In addition, we would have less control over the sales efforts of any other third parties involved in our commercialization efforts, and could
be held liable if they failed to comply with applicable legal or regulatory requirements.

We have no prior experience in the marketing, sale, and distribution of biopharmaceutical products, and there are significant risks involved in building
and managing a commercial infrastructure. The establishment and development of commercial capabilities, including compliance plans, to market any
products we may develop will be expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch, and we may not be able to successfully develop this
capability. We will have to compete with other biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including oncology-focused companies, to recruit, hire,
train, manage, and retain marketing and sales personnel, which is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. Developing our
sales capabilities may also divert resources and management attention away from product development.

In the event we are unable to develop a marketing and sales infrastructure, we may not be able to commercialize our product candidates, which
could limit our ability to generate product revenues and materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our product candidates include:

e the inability to recruit, train, manage, and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

e the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or educate adequate numbers of physicians on the benefits of prescribing our product
candidates;

e  ourinability to effectively oversee a geographically dispersed sales and marketing team;
e the costs associated with training personnel, including sales and marketing personnel, on compliance matters and monitoring their actions;

e an inability to secure coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors, including government and private health plans;



e the unwillingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
e the clinical indications for which the products are approved and the claims that we may make for the products;
e limitations or warnings, including distribution or use restrictions, contained in the products’ approved labeling;

e any distribution and use restrictions imposed by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities or to which we agree as part of a mandatory
REMS or voluntary risk management plan;

e liability for our personnel, including sales or marketing personnel, who fail to comply with applicable law;
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e the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with
more extensive product lines; and

e unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization or engaging a contract sales
organization.

Even if any of our product candidates receive marketing approval, they may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians,
patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers, third-party payors and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success. The
revenues that we generate from their sales may be limited, and we may never become profitable.

We have never commercialized a product candidate for any indication. Even if our product candidates are approved by the appropriate regulatory
authorities for marketing and sale, they may not gain acceptance among physicians, patients, third-party payors, and others in the medical community. If
any product candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval does not gain an adequate level of market acceptance, we could be prevented from or
significantly delayed in achieving profitability. Market acceptance of our product candidates by the medical community, patients, and third-party payors will
depend on a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control. For example, physicians are often reluctant to switch their patients and patients
may be reluctant to switch from existing therapies even when new and potentially more effective or safer treatments enter the market.

Efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may
not be successful. If any of our product candidates is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of market acceptance, we could be prevented
from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability. The degree of market acceptance of any product for which we receive marketing approval will
depend on a number of factors, including:

e the efficacy of our product, including in combination with other cancer therapies;

e the commercial success of any cancer therapies with which our product may be co-administered;

e the prevalence and severity of adverse events associated with our product or those products with which it is co-administered;

e the clinical indications for which our product is approved and the approved claims that we may make with respect to the product;

e limitations or warnings contained in the FDA-approved labeling of the product or the labeling approved by comparable foreign regulatory authorities,
including potential limitations or warnings for our product that may be more restrictive than other competitive products;

e changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for our product, which could reduce the marketing impact of any claims that we could
make following FDA approval or approval by comparable foreign regulatory authorities, if obtained;

e the relative convenience and ease of administration of our product and any products with which it is co-administered;

e the cost of treatment compared with the economic and clinical benefit of alternative treatments or therapies;
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e the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors, such as private insurance companies and government healthcare
programs, including Medicare and Medicaid;

e the ability to have our product placed on approved formularies;

e patients’ willingness to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of such coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;

e the price concessions required by third-party payors to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement;

e the extent and strength of our marketing and distribution of our product;

e the safety, efficacy, and other potential advantages over, and availability of, alternative treatments already used or that may later be approved,;

e distribution and use restrictions imposed by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities with respect to our product or to which we agree as
part of a REMS or voluntary risk management plan;

e the timing of market introduction of our product, as well as competitive products;

e our ability to offer our product for sale at competitive prices;

e the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;
e the extent and strength of our raw material supplier and service provider support;

e the actions of companies that market any products with which our product is co-administered;



e the approval of other new products;
e adverse publicity about our product or any products with which it is co-administered, or favorable publicity about competitive products; and
e  potential product liability claims.

The size of the potential market for our product candidates is difficult to estimate and, if any of our assumptions are inaccurate, the actual
markets for our product candidates may be smaller than our estimates. If the market opportunities for any product candidates we develop are
smaller than we believe they are, our potential revenues may be adversely affected, and our business may suffer.

The potential market opportunities for our product candidates are difficult to estimate and will depend in large part on the drugs with which our
product candidates are co-administered and the success of competing therapies and therapeutic approaches. In particular, the market opportunity for viral
immunotherapies is hard to estimate given that it is an emerging field with only one existing FDA-approved viral immunotherapy, T-VEC, which has yet to
enjoy broad market acceptance. Our projections of both the number of people who have these diseases, as well as the subset of people with these
diseases who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product candidates, are based on estimates. Our estimates of the potential market
opportunities are predicated on many assumptions, which may include industry knowledge and publications, third-party research reports, and other
surveys. Although we believe that our internal assumptions are reasonable, these assumptions involve the exercise of significant judgment on the part of
our management, are inherently uncertain, and their reasonableness has not been assessed by an independent source. These estimates may prove to be
incorrect and new studies may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these diseases. The number of patients in the United States, Europe, and
elsewhere may turn out to be lower than expected, and patients may not be amenable to treatment with our product. If any of the assumptions proves to
be inaccurate, the actual markets for our product candidates could be smaller than our estimates of the potential market opportunities. Additionally,
because of the potential that any product candidates we develop could cure a target disease, we may not receive recurring revenues from patients and
may deplete the patient population prevalence through curative therapy.
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Negative developments in the field of immuno-oncology could damage public perception of our oncolytic VACV platform and our product
candidates, including Olvi-Vec, and negatively affect our business.

The commercial success of our product candidates will depend in part on public acceptance of the use of cancer viral immunotherapies. Adverse
events in clinical trials of our product candidates, including Olvi-Vec, or in clinical trials of others developing similar products and the resulting publicity, as
well as any other negative developments with respect to the field of imnmuno-oncology that may occur in the future, including in connection with competitor
therapies, or with respect to products with which our product is co-administered, could result in a decrease in demand for Olvi-Vec or any other product
candidates that we may develop. These events could also result in the suspension, discontinuation, or clinical hold of or modification to our clinical trials.
If public perception is influenced by claims that the use of cancer immunotherapies is unsafe, whether related to our therapies or those of our competitors,
our product candidates may not be accepted by the general public or the medical community and potential clinical trial subjects may be discouraged from
enrolling in our clinical trials. As a result, we may not be able to continue or may be delayed in conducting our development programs.

As our product candidates consist of oncolytic VACVs, adverse developments in anti-cancer vaccines or clinical trials of other viral immunotherapy
products based on viruses may result in a disproportionately negative effect for Olvi-Vec or our other product candidates as compared to other products in
the field of immuno- oncology that are not based on viruses. We do not fully understand the biological characteristics of our therapeutic viruses, and their
interactions with other drugs and the human immune and other defense systems, which may cause us to fail to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness
of our product candidates in clinical trials. Therapeutic viruses are novel, and we are still determining the biological characteristics of these viruses. In
addition, we are still investigating the response of the human immune system to our therapeutic viruses, and the immune system may play a role in
limiting their tumor-killing effect. We also do not know the extent to which therapeutic viruses and our treatment processes may be toxic. Moreover, we do
not understand all of the many factors that contribute to the formation of each individual patient’'s cancer; these factors make each tumor unique. The
novelty and scientific uncertainties regarding our therapeutic viruses and the uniqueness of human cancers from patient to patient increase the risk that
we will not successfully develop our product candidates or prove their safety and effectiveness in clinical trials. Even if we succeed in developing our
product candidates, our product candidates may not have a therapeutic effect in a broad patient population.

Future negative developments in the field of immuno-oncology or the biopharmaceutical industry could also result in greater governmental
regulation, stricter labeling requirements and potential regulatory delays in the testing or approvals of our products. Any increased scrutiny could delay or
increase the costs of obtaining marketing approval for Olvi-Vec or our other product candidates.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights for our technology and product candidates, or if our intellectual
property rights are inadequate, our competitive position could be harmed.

Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property protection in the United States
and other countries with respect to our technology, including our oncolytic VACV platform, and Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and our other
product candidates. We also rely in part on trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, and confidentiality, licensing and other agreements with
employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing and prosecuting patent
applications in the United States and abroad related to our technology and product candidates.

The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally are highly uncertain, involve complex legal and factual questions and
have in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our licensed
patents and any patents we own are highly uncertain. The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude
misappropriation of our proprietary information or infringement of our intellectual property rights, both inside and outside of the United States.

Further, the examination process may require us to narrow the claims for our pending patent applications, which may limit the scope of patent
protection that may be obtained if these applications issue. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued that protect
our product candidates, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive product candidates. The scope of a
patent may also be reinterpreted after issuance. The rights that may be granted under our issued patents may not provide us with the proprietary
protection or competitive advantages we are seeking. Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us
with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. If we are unable to
obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology or for Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy or our other product candidates, or if the scope
of the patent protection obtained is not sufficient, our competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or superior to ours in a non-infringing
manner, and our ability to successfully commercialize Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy or our other product candidates and future technologies
may be adversely affected. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of our development and
commercialization activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection on them.



In addition, the patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming and complex, and we may not be able to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce
or license all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. Although we enter into non-disclosure and
confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of our research and development output, such as our
employees, collaborators, and other third parties, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is
filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and
development efforts in time to obtain patent protection.

For the core technology in our CHOICE platform and Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates, patents have issued and applications are pending at
each of the U.S. provisional, Patent Cooperation Treaty, and national stages with, at a minimum, filings submitted to the United States, European Patent
Conventions and Japan. As of June 30, 2023, our patent portfolio consisted of 19 issued U.S. patents, one pending U.S. patent application, 14 issued
foreign patents, and six pending foreign patent applications, which relate generally to the composition of our current and potential future products, and
their methods of use. V2ACT has one issued U.S. patent, one pending U.S. patent application and two pending non-U.S. patent applications. Any future
provisional patent applications are not eligible to become issued patents until, among other things, we file a non-provisional patent application within 12
months of filing of one or more of our related provisional patent applications. If we do not timely file any non-provisional patent applications, we may lose
our priority date with respect to our provisional patent applications and any patent protection on the inventions disclosed in our provisional patent
applications. Although we intend to timely file non-provisional patent applications relating to our provisional patent applications, we cannot predict whether
any of our future patent applications will result in the issuance of patents that effectively protect our technology or Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT
Immunotherapy or our other product candidates, or if any of our future issued patents will effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive
products. We may be subject to a third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO). Publications of
discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are
typically not published until 18 months after filing or in some cases not at all until they are issued as a patent. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we
were the first to make the inventions claimed in our pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions.
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Our pending applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the inventions claimed in such applications unless and until a patent
issues from such applications with a claim that covers infringing third-party activity. Because the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its
inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, issued patents that we license from third parties or own in the future may be challenged in the courts or
patent offices in the United States and abroad, including through opposition proceedings, derivation proceedings, post- grant review, inter partes review,
interference proceedings or litigation. Such proceedings may result in the loss of patent protection, the narrowing of claims in such patents or the invalidity
or unenforceability of such patents, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical products, or limit the
duration of the patent protection for our technology. Protecting against the unauthorized use of our patented inventions, trademarks and other intellectual
property rights is expensive, time consuming, difficult and in some cases may not be possible. In some cases, it may be difficult or impossible to detect
third-party infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights, even in relation to issued patent claims, and proving any such infringement
may be even more difficult. If we are unable to obtain, maintain, and protect our intellectual property our competitive advantage could be harmed, and it
could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we may license intellectual property rights from third parties or
otherwise experience disruptions to our business relationships with our licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights that are important
to our business.

We may need to obtain licenses from others to advance our research and development activities or allow the commercialization of our current or
future product candidates. We expect any such license agreements will impose various development, diligence, commercialization, and other obligations
on us. In spite of our efforts, our licensors might conclude that we have materially breached our obligations under such license agreements and might
therefore terminate the license agreements, thereby removing or limiting our ability to develop and commercialize products and technology covered by the
intellectual property under any such license agreements. If such in-licenses were to be terminated, or if the underlying patents were to fail to provide the
intended exclusivity, competitors or other third parties would have the freedom to seek regulatory approval of, and to market, products identical to ours
and we may be required to cease our development and commercialization our product candidates. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse
effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

Moreover, disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including:
e the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;

e the extent to which our product candidates, technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the
licensing agreement;

e the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collaborative development relationships;

e our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;
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e the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us
and our partners; and

e the priority of invention of patented technology.

In addition, the agreements under which we may license intellectual property or technology from third parties are likely to be complex, and certain
provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise
could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our
financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, and prospects. Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our
current licensing arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product
candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information and know-how, the value of our technology and products could be
adversely affected.

In addition to seeking patent protection, we also rely on other proprietary rights, including protection of trade secrets, know-how and confidential and
proprietary information. To maintain the confidentiality of our trade secrets and proprietary information, we enter into confidentiality agreements with our
employees, consultants, collaborators, contractors, and other third parties who have access to our trade secrets. Our agreements with employees and
consultants also provide that any inventions conceived by the individual employee or consultant in the course of rendering services to us shall be our



exclusive property. However, we may not obtain these agreements in all circumstances, and individuals with whom we have these agreements may not
comply with their terms. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and
we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as
our intellectual property. In addition, we cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed or that
competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques. In the event
of unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or proprietary information, these agreements, even if obtained, may not provide meaningful
protection, particularly for our trade secrets or other confidential information. To the extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use technology
or know-how owned by third parties in their work for us, disputes may arise between us and those third parties as to the rights in related inventions.

Adequate remedies may not exist in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information including a breach of our
confidentiality agreements. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive, and time consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts in and outside of the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of
our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no right to prevent them
from using that technology or information to compete with us. The disclosure of our trade secrets or the independent development of our trade secrets by
a competitor or other third party would impair our competitive position and may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations,
stock price and prospects.
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Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be
uncertain and could harm our business.

Our commercial success depends on our ability and the ability of any future collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell Olvi-Vec and our
other product candidates, and to use our related proprietary technologies without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual
property and proprietary rights of third parties. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents
and other intellectual property rights. We may become party to, or threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property
rights with respect to our current and any other future product candidates, including interference proceedings, post-grant review, inter partes review and
derivation proceedings before the USPTO. Third parties may assert infringement or other intellectual property claims against us based on existing patents
or patents that may be granted in the future. Numerous U.S. and foreign- issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third
parties, exist in the fields in which we are pursuing development candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more
patents are issued, the risk increases that we may be subject to claims of infringement of the patent rights of third parties. If we are found to infringe a third
party’s intellectual property rights, and we are unsuccessful in demonstrating that such intellectual property rights are invalid or unenforceable, we could
be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue developing, manufacturing and commercializing Olvi-Vec and our other product
candidates. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a
license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to us, and it could
require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. We also could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing, and
commercializing Olvi-Vec or our other product candidates. In addition, in any such proceeding or litigation, we could be found liable for significant
monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent or other intellectual property right.
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects. Any claims
by third parties that we have misappropriated their confidential information or trade secrets could have a similar material adverse effect on our business.
Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee
resources from our business.

Parties making claims against us may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or
administrative proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure. In addition, any uncertainties
resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have material adverse effect on our ability to raise additional funds or otherwise have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Furthermore, we plan to develop our product candidates in combination with products developed by companies that may be covered by patents or
licenses held by those entities to which we do not have a license or a sublicense. In the event that a labeling instruction is required in product packaging
recommending that combination, we could be accused of, or held liable for, infringement of the third-party patents covering the product candidate or
product recommended for administration with Olvi-Vec or our other product candidates. In such a case, we could be required to obtain a license from the
other company or institution to use the required or desired package labeling, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our technology throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property
rights in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws and practices of some
foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be
able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using our
inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent
protection to develop and/or manufacture their own products, and may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection
but where enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our products and our patent claims or other
intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so competing.
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Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the granting or enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other
intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to obtain patent rights or stop the
infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our intellectual property and proprietary rights generally in those countries.
Proceedings to enforce our intellectual property and proprietary rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and
attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of
not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other
remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to protect and enforce our intellectual property and proprietary
rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property we develop or license.

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and those foreign
laws may also be subject to change. For example, methods of treatment and manufacturing processes may not be patentable in certain jurisdictions, and
the requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries. Furthermore, biosimilar product manufacturers or other competitors may challenge the
scope, validity and enforceability of our patents, requiring us to engage in complex, lengthy and costly litigation or proceedings.

Moreover, many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. Many



countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have
limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we are forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents
relevant to our business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with
these requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and
other similar provisions during the patent application process and to maintain patents after they are issued. For example, periodic maintenance fees,
renewal fees, annuity fees and various other government fees on issued patents and patent applications often must be paid to the USPTO and foreign
patent agencies over the lifetime of our licensed patents or any patents we own. In certain circumstances, we may rely on future licensing partners to take
the necessary action to comply with these requirements with respect to licensed intellectual property. Although an unintentional lapse can be cured for a
period of time by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result
in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-
compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official
actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to obtain and maintain
the patents and patent applications covering our products or procedures, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing products that are the
same as or similar to Olvi-Vec or our other product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Changes to the patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our
ability to protect Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and our other product candidates.

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and
enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and
inherently uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States or other jurisdictions in which we have or
seek patent protection could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of
issued patents. Patent reform legislation in the United States and other countries, including the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the Leahy-Smith Act)
signed into law in the United States on September 16, 2011, could increase those uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law.
These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost-effective avenues
for competitors to challenge the validity of patents. These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and
additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review,
and derivation proceedings. After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States transitioned to a first inventor to file system in which,
assuming that the other statutory requirements are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be entitled to the patent on an invention
regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain
circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, the
USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that
would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and
unsuccessful and have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

Competitors may infringe our licensed patents or any patent we own, or misappropriate or otherwise violate our intellectual property rights. Litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, or to determine the validity and scope of
our own intellectual property rights or the proprietary rights of others. If we were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent
covering our product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering our product candidate is invalid and/or unenforceable. In
patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity
challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, written description or non-
enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant
information from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and
unenforceability is unpredictable. Our licensed patents and any patents we own in the future may become involved in priority or other intellectual property
related disputes. Interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the USPTO may be necessary to
determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patents or patent applications. Also, third parties may initiate legal proceedings against us to
challenge the validity or scope of our owned or licensed intellectual property rights. These proceedings can be expensive and time consuming. Many of
our current and potential competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to conduct intellectual property related litigations or
proceedings than we can. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Accordingly,
despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property. Litigation and other
intellectual property related proceedings could result in substantial costs and diversion of management resources, which could harm our business and
financial results. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent owned by or licensed to us is invalid or unenforceable, or
may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse
result in any litigation or other intellectual property related proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable
or interpreted narrowly.
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Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation in the United States, there is a
risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There could also be public announcements
of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments in any such proceedings. If securities analysts or investors perceive
these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock, and could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our clinical trials, continue our research programs, license necessary technology from third parties,
or enter into development partnerships that would help us bring our product candidates to market. Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse
effect our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that we, our employees or any future collaborators have misappropriated their
intellectual property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

Many of our employees, including our senior management team, were previously employed at, or consulted for, universities or other biotechnology or



pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Some of these people, including each member of our senior management
team, executed proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, or similar agreements, in connection with such previous employment
or consulting agreements, that assigned ownership of intellectual property relating to work performed under such agreements to the contracting third
party. Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use, claim as theirs, or misappropriate the intellectual property, proprietary information or
know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these employees have used, claimed as theirs, misappropriated or
disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such individual's current or former employer. Litigation may
be necessary to defend against such claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights or personnel or sustain damages. Such intellectual property rights could be awarded to a third party, and we could be required
to obtain a license from such third party to commercialize our technology or products. Such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of
third parties or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors.

We could be subject to claims that we or our employees, including senior management, have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed alleged
trade secrets or other confidential information of former employers or competitors or others. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants
do not use the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we
caused an employee to breach the terms of their non-competition or non-solicitation agreement, or that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or
otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of a former employer or competitor or other party. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could
be a distraction to management. If our defenses to these claims fail, in addition to requiring us to pay monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from
using technologies or features that are essential to Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or
be derived from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers, competitors or other parties. An inability to incorporate such
technologies or features would have a material adverse effect on our business, and may prevent us from successfully commercializing Olvi-Vec and our
other product candidates. In addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel as a result of such claims. Moreover, any such
litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire employees or consultants. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper
or prevent our ability to develop and commercialize Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
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If we obtain any issued patents covering our technology, such patents could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or before
the USPTO or comparable foreign regulatory authority.

If we or one of our licensing partners initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering any of our technology, the defendant
could counterclaim that the patent covering our product candidate is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant
counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace, and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party can assert invalidity or
unenforceability of a patent. Grounds for a validity challenge could be, among other things, an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory
requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be, among other things, an
allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during
prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation.
Such mechanisms include re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings and equivalent
proceedings in foreign jurisdictions, such as opposition proceedings. Such proceedings could result in revocation, cancellation or amendment to our
patents in such a way that they no longer cover and protect Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and our other product candidates. The outcome
following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. For example, with respect to the validity of our licensed patents or any patents
we obtain in the future, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which we, our patent counsel or our licensing partner's patent
counsel(s), and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or
unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and our other product
candidates. Such a loss of patent protection could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our products for an adequate amount of time, and our product
candidates for which we intend to seek approval as biological products may face competition sooner than anticipated.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years
from its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even
if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products,
including generics or biosimilars. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, such
as Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are
commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing
products similar or identical to ours.
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In the United States, the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 permits a patent term extension of up to five years beyond
the normal expiration of the patent, but no longer than 14 years from the product’'s approval date, which is limited to the approved indication (or any
additional indications approved during the period of extension). However, the applicable authorities, including the FDA and the USPTO in the United
States, and any equivalent regulatory authorities in other countries, may not agree with our assessment of whether such extensions are available, and
may refuse to grant extensions to our patents, or may grant more limited extensions than we request. If this occurs, our competitors may be able to take
advantage of our investment in development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their products earlier than might
otherwise be the case, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

The enactment of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 (BPCIA) as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as
amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the ACA) created an abbreviated pathway for the approval of
biosimilar and interchangeable biological products. The abbreviated regulatory pathway establishes legal authority for the FDA to review and approve
biosimilar biological products, including the possible designation of a biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing brand product.
Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product cannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the original branded product was approved
under a BLA. Certain changes, however, and supplements to an approved BLA, and subsequent applications filed by the same sponsor, manufacturer,
licensor, predecessor in interest, or other related entity do not qualify for the 12-year exclusivity period.

Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates are all biological product candidates. We anticipate being awarded market exclusivity for each of our
biological product candidates that is subject to its own BLA for 12 years in the United States, 10 years in Europe and significant durations in other
markets. However, the term of the patents that cover such product candidates may not extend beyond the applicable market exclusivity awarded by a
particular country. For example, in the United States, if all of the patents that cover our particular biological product expire before the 12-year market



exclusivity expires, a third party could submit a marketing application for a biosimilar product four years after approval of our biological product, the FDA
could immediately review the application and approve the biosimilar product for marketing 12 years after approval of our biological product, and the
biosimilar sponsor could then immediately begin marketing. Alternatively, a third party could submit a full BLA for a similar or identical product any time
after approval of our biological product, and the FDA could immediately review and approve the similar or identical product for marketing and the third
party could begin marketing the similar or identical product upon expiry of all of the patents that cover our particular biological product.

There is also a risk that this exclusivity could be changed in the future. For example, this exclusivity could be shortened due to congressional action
or through other actions, including future proposed budgets, international trade agreements and other arrangements or proposals. Additionally, there is a
risk that the FDA will not consider our product candidates to be reference products for competing products, potentially creating the opportunity for
biosimilar competition sooner than anticipated. The extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted for any one of our reference products
in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and
regulatory factors that are still developing. It is also possible that payors will give reimbursement preference to biosimilars over reference biological
products, even absent a determination of interchangeability.

To the extent that we do not receive any anticipated periods of regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates, or the FDA or foreign regulatory
authorities approve any biosimilar, interchangeable, or other competing products to our product candidates, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
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If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest
and our business may be adversely affected.

Our current or future trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or descriptive or determined to be
infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names or may be forced to stop using these names,
which we need for name recognition by potential partners or customers in our markets of interest.

During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections of our applications by the USPTO or in other foreign jurisdictions. Although we
would be given an opportunity to respond to those rejections, we may be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in
comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications and to seek to cancel
registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our trademarks may not survive such
proceedings. If we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not be able to compete effectively, and
our business may be adversely affected. We may license our trademarks and trade names to third parties, such as distributors. Although these license
agreements may provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade names may be used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks
and tradenames by our licensees may jeopardize our rights in or diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names.

Moreover, any name we have proposed to use with our product candidate in the United States must be approved by the FDA, regardless of whether
we have registered it, or applied to register it, as a trademark. Similar requirements exist in Europe. The FDA typically conducts a review of proposed
product names, including an evaluation of potential for confusion with other product names. If the FDA (or an equivalent administrative body in a foreign
jurisdiction) objects to any of our proposed proprietary product names, it may be required to expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify
a suitable substitute name that would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existing rights of third parties and be acceptable to the
FDA. Furthermore, in many countries, owning and maintaining a trademark registration may not provide an adequate defense against a subsequent
infringement claim asserted by the owner of a senior trademark. At times, competitors or other third parties may adopt trade names or trademarks similar
to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or
trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or
unregistered trademarks or trade names. If we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid
or unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we
could ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

If we fail to comply with federal and state healthcare laws, including fraud and abuse laws, we could face substantial penalties and our
business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be materially harmed.

Our current and future arrangements with healthcare providers, third-party payors, customers, and others may expose us to broadly applicable
healthcare fraud and abuse, and other healthcare laws, which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we
research, as well as sell, market and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing approval. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare
laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:

e The federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, individuals and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving,
offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or
in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service for which
payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
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e  The federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including, without limitation, the civil FCA, and the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibit
individuals or entities from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment of federal
funds, and knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim to avoid, decrease or conceal
an obligation to pay money to the federal government.

e  The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting
to execute, a scheme or artifice to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or
promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g.,
public or private), willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up
by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment
for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters.

e The U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs, biological products
and medical devices.



e  The federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes referred to as the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, created under the ACA
and its implementing regulations, which require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biological products and medical supplies for which payment
is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to the Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors,
dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other healthcare professionals (such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners), and
teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by such physicians and their immediate family members.

e Analogous state and foreign anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare
items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers, or that apply regardless of payor; state laws that
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance
guidance promulgated by the federal government; state and local laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and
other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; state laws that require the reporting of information
related to drug pricing; and state and local laws requiring the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives.

If we or our operations are found to be in violation of any federal or state healthcare law, or any other governmental laws or regulations that apply to
us, we may be subject to penalties, including significant civil, criminal, and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement,
imprisonment, suspension and debarment from government contracts, and refusal of orders under existing government contracts, exclusion from
participation in U.S. federal or state health care programs, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to corporate integrity
agreements or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future
earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could materially adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our
financial results. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in compliance
with applicable laws, it may be subject to significant criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including but not limited to, exclusions from participation in
U.S. federal or state healthcare programs, which could also materially affect our business.
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Although an effective compliance program can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be
entirely eliminated. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with such laws may prove costly. Any action against us for violation of these laws,
even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management'’s attention from the operation of
our business.

If the government or third-party payors fail to provide adequate coverage, reimbursement and payment rates for our product candidates, or if
health maintenance organizations or long-term care facilities choose to use therapies that are less expensive or considered a better value, our
revenue and prospects for profitability will be limited.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our products will depend in part upon the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from
third-party payors or placement on approved product formularies. Such third-party payors include government health programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid, managed care providers, private health insurers, and other organizations. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic
standards that disfavor new therapeutic products when more established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives are already available or subsequently
become available, even if our products are alone in a class. Third-party payors establish reimbursement levels. Therefore, even if coverage is provided,
the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain a market share sufficient to realize a sufficient return on
our or their investments. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, our product candidates may be competitively
disadvantaged, and we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Alternatively, securing favorable reimbursement terms
may require us to compromise pricing and prevent us from realizing an adequate margin over cost. Our failure to obtain or maintain timely or adequate
pricing or formulary placement of our products, or failure to obtain such formulary placement at favorable pricing may negatively impact our revenue.

There is significant uncertainty related to third-party payor coverage and reimbursement of newly approved therapeutics. Marketing approvals,
pricing, and reimbursement for new therapeutic products vary widely from country to country. Current and future legislation may significantly change the
approval requirements in ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale
price of a therapeutic before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is
granted. In some foreign markets, prescription biopharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is
granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay
commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, which may negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of
the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more product candidates, even if our
product candidates obtain marketing approval. Our ability to commercialize our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which coverage
and reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from third-party payors.

A significant trend within the healthcare industry is cost containment, both in the United States and elsewhere. Third-party payors, whether foreign or
domestic, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs, including use of formularies.
Exclusion of a product from a formulary or other restrictions can significantly impact drug usage in the patient population and beyond. Consequently,
pharmaceutical companies compete to gain access to formularies for their products, typically on the basis of unique product features, such as greater
efficacy, better patient ease of use, or fewer side effects, as well as the overall cost of the therapy. Certain third-party payors are requiring that companies
provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices, are using preferred drug lists to leverage greater discounts in competitive classes, are
disregarding therapeutic differentiators within classes, are challenging the prices charged for therapeutics, and are negotiating price concessions based
on performance goals. In addition, third-party payors are increasingly requiring higher levels of evidence of the benefits and clinical outcomes of new
technologies, benchmarking against other therapies, seeking performance-based discounts, and challenging the prices charged. We cannot be sure that
coverage will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if available, that the reimbursement rates will be adequate. If payors
subject our product candidates to maximum payment amounts or impose limitations that make it difficult to obtain reimbursement, providers may choose to
use therapies which are less expensive when compared to our product candidates. Additionally, if payors require high copayments, beneficiaries may
seek alternative therapies. We may need to conduct post-marketing studies in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any products to the
satisfaction of hospitals, other target customers and their third-party payors. Such studies might require us to commit a significant amount of management
time and financial and other resources. Our products might not ultimately be considered cost-effective. Adequate third-party coverage and reimbursement
might not be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on investment in product development.
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In addition, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage
and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. Further, we believe that future coverage and reimbursement will likely be
subject to increased restrictions both in the United States and in international markets. Third-party coverage and reimbursement for our products or
product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval may not be available or adequate in either the United States or international markets, which
could have a negative effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

There may also be delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for newly approved therapeutics, and coverage may be more limited than the



indications for which the product is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Such delays have made it increasingly common for
manufacturers to provide newly approved drugs to patients experiencing coverage delays or disruption at no cost for a limited period in order to ensure
that patients are able to access the drug. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any therapeutic will be paid for in all cases or at a
rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale, and distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for new therapeutics, if
applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may only be temporary. Reimbursement rates may vary, by way of example, according to the
use of the product and the clinical setting in which it is used. Reimbursement rates may also be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost
products or may be incorporated into existing payments for other services.

An inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for any of our product candidates for which we obtain
marketing approval could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our
overall financial condition.

We are subject to new legislation, regulatory proposals and third-party payor initiatives that may increase our costs of compliance, and
adversely affect our ability to market our products, obtain collaborators, and raise capital.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes
regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and
affect our ability to profitably sell any products for which we obtain marketing approval. We expect that current laws, as well as other healthcare reform
measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we may
receive for any approved products.

For example, the ACA was passed in March 2010 and substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private
insurers and continues to significantly impact the U.S. pharmaceutical industry.

85

There have been executive, judicial and congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. For example, legislation enacted in 2017, informally
titted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the Tax Act), includes a provision repealing, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility
payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as
the “individual mandate.” On June 17, 2021 the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed a challenge on procedural grounds that argued the ACA is
unconstitutional in its entirety because the “individual mandate” was repealed by Congress. Further, prior to the U.S. Supreme Court ruling, on January
28, 2021, President Biden issued an executive order that initiated a special enrollment period for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through
the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that
limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements,
and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. In addition, on August 16,
2022, President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the IRA) into law, which among other things, extends enhanced subsidies for
individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in ACA marketplaces through plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the “donut hole” under the
Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out-of-pocket cost through a newly established
manufacturer discount program. It is possible that the ACA will be subject to judicial or Congressional challenges in the future. It is unclear how any such
challenges and the healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration will impact the ACA and our business.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA. For example, through the process created by the
Budget Control Act of 2011, there are automatic reductions of Medicare payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April
2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments, will remain in effect until 2032 unless additional Congressional action is taken.

In addition, there have been a number of other legislative and regulatory proposals aimed at changing the biopharmaceutical industry. For instance,
the Drug Quality and Security Act of 2013 imposes obligations on manufacturers of biopharmaceutical products related to product tracking and tracing.
Further, manufacturers have product investigation, quarantine, disposition, and notification responsibilities related to counterfeit, diverted, stolen, and
intentionally adulterated products that would result in serious adverse health consequences of death to humans, as well as products that are the subject of
fraudulent transactions or which are otherwise unfit for distribution such that they would be reasonably likely to result in serious health consequences or
death.

Compliance with the federal track and trace requirements may increase our operational expenses and impose significant administrative burdens. As
a result of these and other new proposals, we may determine to change our current manner of operation, provide additional benefits or change our
contract arrangements, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and
prospects.

There has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United States of pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the rising cost of prescription
drugs and biological products. Such scrutiny has resulted in presidential executive orders, congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and
state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer
patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for products.
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At the federal level, on March 11, 2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 into law, which eliminates the statutory
Medicaid drug rebate cap, currently set at 100% of a drug’s average manufacturer price, for single source and innovator multiple source drugs, beginning
January 1, 2024. In July 2021, the Biden administration released an executive order, “Promoting Competition in the American Economy,” with multiple
provisions aimed at prescription drugs. In response to Biden's executive order, on September 9, 2021, HHS released a Comprehensive Plan for
Addressing High Drug Prices that outlines principles for drug pricing reform and sets out a variety of potential legislative policies that Congress could
pursue as well as potential administrative actions HHS can take to advance these principles. In addition, the IRA directs the Secretary of HHS to establish
a Drug Price Negotiation Program (the Program) to lower prices for certain single-source prescription drugs and biologics covered under Medicare Parts
B and D, based on criteria established under the IRA. Under the Program, the Secretary of HHS will publish a list of “selected drugs,” and will then
negotiate maximum fair prices (MFP) with their manufacturers. Beginning in 2026, the first year of the Program, the number will be limited to 10 Part D
drugs and biologics. By 2029, and in subsequent years thereafter, the number will increase to 20 drugs and biologics covered under Part D and Part B.
Agreements between HHS and manufacturers will remain in place until a drug or biologic is no longer considered a “selected drug” for negotiation
purposes. Manufacturers who do not comply with the negotiated prices set under the Program will be subject to an excise tax based on a percentage of
total sales of a “selected drug” up to 95% and the potential of civil monetary penalties. Further, the IRA imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and
Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation. These provisions will take effect progressively starting in fiscal year 2023, although the
Medicare drug price negotiation program is currently subject to legal challenges. The IRA permits HHS to implement many of these provisions through
guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the initial years. HHS has and will continue to issue and update guidance as these programs are implemented. It is
currently unclear how the IRA will be implemented but is likely to have a significant impact on the pharmaceutical industry and could negatively affect our
business and financial condition. Further, in response to the Biden administration’s October 2022 executive order, on February 14, 2023, HHS released a
report outlining three new models for testing by the CMS Innovation Center which will be evaluated on their ability to lower the cost of drugs, promote
accessibility, and improve quality of care. It is unclear whether the models will be utilized in any health reform measures in the future.



At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological
product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and
transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.

Any new laws or regulations, including those that may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, could have a material
adverse effect on customers for our products, if approved, and, accordingly, on our results of operations.

We expect that the ACA, as well as other federal and state healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more
rigorous coverage criteria, increased regulatory burdens and operating costs, decreased net revenue from our biopharmaceutical products, decreased
potential returns from our development efforts, and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in
reimbursement from Medicare or other government healthcare programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The
implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from commercializing our products and being able to generate
revenue, and we could be prevented from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-corruption laws, as well as import and export control laws, customs
laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations. If we fail to comply with these laws, we could be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, and other consequences, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and
prospects.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and other anti-corruption laws that apply
in countries where we do business. The FCPA and these other anti- corruption laws generally prohibit us and our employees and intermediaries from
authorizing, promising, offering, providing, soliciting, or receiving, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from
recipients in the public or private sector. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel or intermediaries, even if we do
not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities.
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We are also subject to other laws and regulations governing our international operations, including applicable import and export control regulations,
economic sanctions on countries and persons, anti-money laundering laws, customs requirements and currency exchange regulations, collectively
referred to as the trade control laws.

We can provide no assurance that we will be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws or other legal
requirements, including trade control laws. If we are not in compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws or trade control laws, we may be subject to
criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement and other sanctions and remedial measures, and legal expenses, which could have an adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory
requirements to which our international operations might be subject or the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted. An
investigation of any potential violations of anti-corruption laws or trade control laws by U.S. or other authorities could also have an adverse impact on our
reputation, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

We are subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, rules, contractual obligations, policies and other obligations
related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead to regulatory investigations or
actions; litigation and mass arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of
revenue or profits; loss of customers or sales; and other adverse business consequences.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, receive, process, generate, use, transfer, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of, transmit
and store (collectively, process) confidential and sensitive information, including personal information, intellectual property, trade secrets, and proprietary
information owned or controlled by us or other third parties. Accordingly, we may be subject to numerous data privacy and security obligations, including
federal, state, local, and foreign laws, regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and internal privacy and security policies, contractual
requirements and other obligations related to data privacy and security.

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data breach notification
laws, personal data privacy laws, consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), and other similar laws (e.g.,
wiretapping laws). For example, HIPAA as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, imposes specific
requirements relating to the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identifiable health information. As another example, the California
Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (CCPA) applies to personal information of consumers, business representatives and employees who are California
residents, and requires covered businesses to provide specific disclosures in privacy notices and to honor certain requests of California residents related
to their personal data. The CCPA allows for administrative penalties for noncompliance (up to $7,500 per violation) and allows private litigants affected by
certain data breaches to recover statutory damages. Although the CCPA exempts some data processed in the context of clinical trials, the CCPA
increases compliance costs and potential liability with respect to other personal data we maintain about California residents. In addition, the California
Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (CPRA) expanded the CCPA's requirements, including by establishing a new California Privacy Protection Agency to
implement and enforce the CPRA and adding a new right for individuals to correct their personal information. Other states have enacted or proposed data
privacy laws. For example, Virginia passed the Consumer Data Protection Act, and Colorado passed the Colorado Privacy Act, which took effect this year.
While these states, like the CCPA, also exempt some data processed in the context of clinical trials, these developments further complicate compliance
efforts, and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us and the third parties upon which we rely.

Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards apply to data privacy and security. For example, the
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR), the United Kingdom's GDPR (UK GDPR), and the Swiss Federal Act on Data
Protection impose strict requirements for processing personal data. For example, government regulators may impose temporary or definitive bans on data
processing, as well as fines of up to 20 million euros under the EU GDPR (or 17.5 million pounds sterling under the UK GDPR) or, in each case, 4% of
annual global revenue, whichever is greater. Further, companies may face private litigation related to processing of personal data brought by classes of
data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized at law to represent their interests.
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In the ordinary course of business, we may transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries. Europe
and other jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring data to be localized or limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the EEA
and the UK have significantly restricted the transfer of personal data to the United States and other countries whose privacy laws it believes are generally
inadequate. Other jurisdictions may adopt similarly stringent interpretations of their data localization and cross-border data transfer laws.

Although there are currently various mechanisms that may be used to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United States in
compliance with law, such as the EEA and UK's standard contractual clauses, the UK’s International Data Transfer Agreement / Addendum, and the EU-
U.S. Data Privacy Framework (which allows for transfers for relevant U.S.-based organizations who self-certify compliance and participate in the
Framework), these mechanisms are subject to legal challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully



transfer personal data to the United States.

If there is no lawful manner for us to transfer personal data from the EEA, the UK or other jurisdictions to the United States, or if the requirements for
a legally-compliant transfer are too onerous, we could face significant adverse consequences, including the interruption or degradation of our operations,
the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing activities to other jurisdictions (such as Europe) at significant expense, increased
exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and penalties, the inability to transfer data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, which
could limit our ability to conduct clinical trial activities in the EEA, the UK or elsewhere, and injunctions against our processing or transferring of personal
data necessary to operate our business. Some European regulators have prevented companies from transferring personal data out of the EEA or the UK
for allegedly violating the EU and UK GDPR and their cross-border data transfer limitations.

In addition, we may be contractually subject to data privacy and security obligations, including industry standards adopted by industry groups and
may become subject to new data privacy and security obligations in the future. For example, certain privacy laws, such as the EU GDPR, UK GDPR, and
the CCPA, require companies to impose specific contractual restrictions on their service providers. Moreover, clinical trial subjects about whom we or our
potential collaborators obtain information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractually limit our ability to use and
disclose the information.

We publish privacy policies, marketing materials and other statements regarding data privacy and security. If these policies, materials or statements
are found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our practices, we may be subject to investigation, enforcement
actions by regulators or other adverse consequences.

Obligations related to data privacy and security are quickly changing, becoming increasingly stringent and, creating regulatory uncertainty.
Additionally, these obligations may be subject to differing applications and interpretations, which may be inconsistent or conflict among jurisdictions.
Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires significant resources and may necessitate changes to our information technologies, systems,
and practices and to those of any third parties that process personal data on our behalf.

Although we endeavor to comply with all applicable data privacy and security obligations, we may at times fail (or be perceived to have failed) to do
so0. Moreover, despite our efforts, our personnel or third parties upon whom we rely may fail to comply with such obligations, which could negatively
impact our business operations. Such failures can subject us to potential foreign, local, state and federal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or
misrepresentative of our actual practices, which could negatively impact our business operations and compliance posture. For example, any failure by a
third-party processor to comply with applicable law, regulations, or contractual obligations could result in adverse effects, including inability to or
interruption in our ability to operate our business and proceedings against us by governmental entities or others. If we fail, or are perceived to have failed,
to address or comply with data privacy and security obligations, we could face significant consequences. These consequences may include, but are not
limited to, government enforcement actions (e.g., investigations, fines, penalties, audits, inspections, and similar); litigation (including class-related claims)
and mass arbitration demands; additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; bans on processing personal data; orders to destroy or not use
personal data; and imprisonment of company officials. In particular, plaintiffs have become increasingly more active in bringing privacy-related claims
against companies, including class claims and mass arbitration demands. Some of these claims allow for the recovery of statutory damages on a per
violation basis, and, if viable, carry the potential for monumental statutory damages, depending on the volume of data and the number of violations. Any of
these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, or financial condition, including but not limited to: loss of customers;
interruptions or stoppages in our business operations (including, as relevant, clinical trials); inability to process personal data or to operate in certain
jurisdictions; limited ability to develop or commercialize our products; expenditure of time and resources to defend any claim or inquiry; adverse publicity;
or revision or restructuring of our operations.
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Violations of or liabilities under environmental, health and safety laws and regulations could subject us to fines, penalties or other costs that
could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

We are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures, the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes and the cleanup of contaminated sites. Our operations
involve the controlled production, storage, use and disposal of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials such as
infectious agents and various radioactive compounds. We would incur substantial costs as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental
requirements in connection with our operations or property, including fines, penalties and other sanctions, investigation and cleanup costs and third-party
claims. Although we generally contract with third parties for the disposal of hazardous materials and wastes from our operations, we cannot eliminate the
risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held
liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines
and penalties, as well as our curtailment of the use of these materials or even shutting down our facilities and operations.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting
from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. While we maintain insurance covering
our manufacturing facility only, and not our other facilities, for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with
our storage or disposal of biological or hazardous materials, such insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover extraordinary or unanticipated events
at our manufacturing facility.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

We are highly dependent on our key personnel, including our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. If we are not successful in
attracting, motivating and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries depends upon our ability to attract, motivate and retain
highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our management and particularly on the services of our
personnel including Thomas Zindrick, J.D., our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. We believe that their drug discovery and development
experience and overall biopharmaceutical company management experience, would be difficult to replace. Any of our executive officers could leave our
employment at any time, as all of our employees are “at-will” employees. We currently do not have “key person” insurance on any of our employees. The
loss of the services of our key personnel and any of our other executive officers, key employees, and scientific and medical advisors, and our inability to
find suitable replacements, could result in delays in our research and development objectives and harm our business.
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Recruiting and retaining qualified employees, consultants and advisors for our business, including scientific and technical personnel, also will be
critical to our success. We conduct our operations at our facilities in Southern California, a region that is home to many other biopharmaceutical
companies and many academic and research institutions. Competition for skilled personnel is intense and the turnover rate can be high. We may not be
able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and
academic institutions for skilled individuals. In addition, failure to succeed in preclinical studies, clinical trials or applications for marketing approval may
make it more challenging to recruit and retain qualified personnel. The inability to recruit, or the loss of services of certain executives, key employees,



consultants or advisors, may impede the progress of our research, development and commercialization objectives and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

To induce valuable employees to remain at our company, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we have provided stock option grants that vest
over time. The value to employees of these equity grants that vest over time may be significantly affected by movements in our stock price that are
beyond our control, and may at any time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies. Although we have employee
agreements with our key employees, these agreements provide for at-will employment, which means that any of our employees could leave our
employment at any time, with or without notice. We do not maintain “key person” insurance policies on the lives of all of these individuals or the lives of
any of our other employees.

We will need to continue to expand the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could
disrupt our operations.

As of June 30, 2023, we had 20 full-time and part-time employees, including 12 employees engaged in research and development and
manufacturing. As our development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, and as we transition into operating as a public company, we
expect to need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other personnel. Future growth would impose significant added
responsibilities on members of management, including:

e identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;

e managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical, FDA and comparable foreign regulatory review process for our product
candidates, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; and

e improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize Olvi-Vec, V-VET1, V2ACT Immunotherapy and any other product candidates we
develop will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also have to divert a disproportionate
amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors and
consultants to provide certain services. The services include substantially all aspects of clinical trial management and manufacturing. We cannot assure
you that the services of independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we
can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectively manage our outsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services
provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain
marketing approval of Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates or otherwise advance our business. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
manage our existing consultants or find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring qualified new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors,
we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates and,
accordingly, may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals.
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If we engage in future acquisitions or strategic partnerships, this may increase our capital requirements, dilute our stockholders, cause us to
incur debt or assume contingent liabilities, and subject us to other risks.

We may evaluate various acquisitions and strategic partnerships, including licensing or acquiring complementary products, intellectual property
rights, technologies, or businesses. Any potential acquisition or strategic partnership may entail numerous risks, including:

e increased operating expenses and cash requirements;

e the assumption of additional indebtedness or contingent liabilities;

e the issuance of our equity securities;

e assimilation of operations, intellectual property and products of an acquired company, including difficulties associated with integrating new personnel;
e the diversion of our management'’s attention from our existing product programs and initiatives in pursuing such a strategic merger or acquisition;

e retention of key employees, the loss of key personnel, and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships;

e risks and uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party, their regulatory compliance status,
and their existing products or product candidates and marketing approvals; and

e our inability to generate revenue from acquired technology and/or products sufficient to meet our objectives in undertaking the acquisition or even to
offset the associated acquisition and maintenance costs.

In addition, if we undertake acquisitions, we may issue dilutive securities, assume or incur debt obligations, incur large one-time expenses and
acquire intangible assets that could result in significant future amortization expense. Moreover, we may not be able to locate suitable acquisition
opportunities and this inability could impair our ability to grow or obtain access to technology or products that may be important to the development of our
business. Any of the foregoing may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.

Unfavorable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, stock price and prospects.

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial markets. A severe or
prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business, including a reduced ability to raise additional capital when needed on
acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our suppliers, possibly resulting in supply disruption. Any of the foregoing could
harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact
our business.
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Public health crises such as pandemics could materially and adversely affect our preclinical studies and clinical trials, business, financial



condition and results of operations.

As a result of pandemics and related governmental orders and other public health guidance measures, we have and may in the future experience
disruptions that could materially and adversely impact our preclinical studies, clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of operations.
Potential disruptions might include but are not limited to:

e delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials;

e delays or difficulties in initiating or expanding clinical trials, including delays or difficulties with clinical site initiation and recruiting clinical site
investigators and clinical site staff;

e increased rates of patients withdrawing from our clinical trials following enrolliment as a result of contracting health conditions or being forced to
guarantine;

e interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site data monitoring and efficacy, safety and translational data collection, processing and
analyses, due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal, state or local governments, employers and others or interruption of
clinical trial subject visits, which may impact the collection and integrity of subject data and clinical study endpoints;

e diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites and
hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials;

e delays or disruptions in preclinical experiments and studies due to restrictions of on-site staff and unforeseen circumstances at CROs and vendors;
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e interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory agencies;

e interruption of, or delays in receiving, supplies of our product candidates from third-party providers due to staffing shortages, production slowdowns or
stoppages and disruptions in delivery systems;

e limitations on employee or other resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our clinical trials and preclinical work, including
because of sickness of employees or their families, the desire of employees to avoid travel or contact with large groups of people, an increased
reliance on working from home, school closures or mass transit disruptions;

e changes in regulations which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or
to discontinue the clinical trials altogether; and

e delays in necessary interactions with regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in employee
resources or forced furlough of government or contractor personnel.

Future developments in these and other areas present material uncertainty and risk with respect to our clinical trials, business, financial condition
and results of operations.

If our information technology systems or data, or those of third parties upon which we rely, are or were compromised, we could experience
adverse consequences resulting from such compromise, including but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation and mass
arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; loss of
customers or sales; and other adverse consequences.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may process proprietary, confidential, and sensitive data, including de-identified personal data (such as
health-related data), intellectual property, proprietary business information and trade secrets (collectively, sensitive information).

Cyber-attacks, malicious internet-based activity, online and offline fraud, and other similar activities threaten the confidentiality, integrity, and
availability of our sensitive information and information technology systems, and those of the third parties upon which we rely. Such threats are prevalent
and continue to increase, are becoming increasingly difficult to detect, and come from a variety of sources, including traditional computer “hackers,”
“hacktivists,” organized criminal threat actors, personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation states, and nation-state-supported actors.
Some actors now engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyber-attacks, including without limitation nation-state actors for geopolitical reasons
and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities. During times of war and other major conflicts, we and the third parties upon which we rely
may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks, including retaliatory cyber-attacks, that could materially disrupt our systems and operations,
supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and distribute our goods and services. We and the third parties upon which we rely are subject to a variety of
evolving threats, including but not limited to social-engineering attacks (including through deep fakes, which may be increasingly more difficult to identify
as fake, and phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware (including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions),
denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), credential harvesting, personnel misconduct or error, ransomware attacks, supply-chain attacks,
software bugs, server malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications
failures, earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar threats. Ransomware attacks, including by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states, and nation-
state-supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, disruption of clinical
trials, loss of data (including data related to clinical trials), and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the
negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations
prohibiting such payments.
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Remote work has become more common and has increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as more of our employees utilize
network connections, computers, and devices outside our premises or network, including working at home, while in transit and in public locations.

Future or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our
systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies. Furthermore, we may
discover security issues that were not found during due diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate companies into
our information technology environment and security program.

We rely upon third-party service providers and technologies to operate critical business systems to process sensitive information in a variety of
contexts, including, without limitation, third-party providers of information technology infrastructure, cloud-based infrastructure, encryption and
authentication technology, employee email, content delivery to customers, and other functions. Our ability to monitor these third parties’ information
security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place. If our third-party service providers



experience a security incident or other interruption, we could experience adverse consequences. While we may be entitled to damages if our third-party
service providers fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we may be
unable to recover such award. In addition, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties and
infrastructure in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply chains have not been compromised.

Any of the previously identified or similar threats could cause a security incident or other interruption. A security incident or other interruption could
result in unauthorized, unlawful, or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure of, or access to our sensitive
information. A security incident or other interruption could disrupt our ability (and that of third parties upon whom we rely) to provide our products. For
example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and
significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data.

We may expend significant resources or modify our business activities (including our clinical trial activities) to try to protect against security incidents.
Certain data privacy and security obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security measures, industry-standard or reasonable
security measures to protect our information technology systems and sensitive information.

While we have established physical, electronic and organizational security measures designed to safeguard and secure our systems against security
incidents, there can be no assurance that these measures will be effective. We take steps to detect and remediate vulnerabilities in our information
technology systems because the threats and techniques used to exploit the vulnerability change frequently and are often sophisticated in nature.
Therefore, such vulnerabilities could be exploited but may not be detected until after a security incident has occurred. These vulnerabilities pose material
risks to our business. Further, we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures designed to address any such identified
vulnerabilities.

Applicable data privacy and security obligations may require us to notify relevant stakeholders of security incidents. Such disclosures are costly, and
the disclosure or the failure to comply with such requirements could lead to adverse consequences. If we (or a third party upon whom we rely) experience
a security incident or are perceived to have experienced a security incident, we may experience adverse consequences. These consequences may
include: government enforcement actions (for example, investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and/or
oversight; restrictions on processing sensitive information (including personal data); litigation (including class claims); indemnification obligations; negative
publicity; reputational harm; monetary fund diversions; interruptions in our operations (including availability of data); financial loss; and other similar harms.
Security incidents and attendant consequences may cause customers to stop using our products, deter new customers from using our products, and
negatively impact our ability to grow and operate our business.
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Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability, and even where they do, there can be no assurance that limitations of liability in our contracts
are sufficient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or claims related to our data privacy and security obligations. We cannot be sure that our insurance
coverage will be adequate or sufficient to protect us from or to mitigate liabilities arising out of our privacy and security practices, that such coverage will
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or that such coverage will pay future claims.

In addition to experiencing a security incident, third parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from public sources, data
brokers, or other means that reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and could be used to undermine our competitive advantage or
market position.

We face potential product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability and have to
limit the commercialization of any approved products and/or our product candidates.

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials, and the sale of any product for which we obtain regulatory approval, exposes us to the risk of
product liability claims. We face inherent risk of product liability related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials, including liability
relating to the actions and negligence of our investigators, and will face an even greater risk if we commercially sell any product candidates that we may
develop. For example, we may be sued if any product candidate we develop allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical
testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure
to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer
protection acts. Product liability claims might be brought against us by consumers, healthcare providers or others using, administering or selling our
products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against these claims, we will incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of
our product candidates. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of merit or eventual
outcome, liability claims may result in:

e loss of revenue from decreased demand for our products and/or product candidates;

e impairment of our business reputation or financial stability;

° costs of related litigation;

e  substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

e diversion of management attention;

e withdrawal of clinical trial participants and potential termination of clinical trial sites or entire clinical programs;
e the inability to commercialize our product candidates;

e significant negative media attention;

e decreases in our stock price;
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e initiation of investigations and enforcement actions by regulators; and
e  product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions, including withdrawal of marketing approval.
We believe we have sufficient insurance coverage in place for our business operations. However, our insurance coverage may not reimburse us or

may not be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and,
in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability.



We intend to expand our insurance coverage to include clinical trials and the sale of commercial products if we obtain FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory approval for our product candidates in development, but we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance for
any products approved for marketing, or at all. Failure to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost could prevent or
inhibit the commercialization of products we develop. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on therapeutics
that had unanticipated side effects. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to fall and, if
judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash, and materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock
price and prospects.

Our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners, principal investigators, CMOs, or CROs may engage in
misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial
partners, principal investigators, CMOs or CROs could include intentional, reckless, negligent, or unintentional failures to comply with FDA regulations,
comply with applicable fraud and abuse laws, provide accurate information to the FDA, properly calculate pricing information required by federal
programs, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us. This misconduct could also involve the improper use or
misrepresentation of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is
not always possible to identify and deter this type of misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a
failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. Moreover, it is possible for a whistleblower to pursue a FCA case against us even if the
government considers the claim unmeritorious and/or declines to intervene, which could require us to incur costs defending against such a claim. In
addition, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions
are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative
penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, possible exclusion from participation in U.S. federal healthcare programs, integrity oversight and
reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future
earnings, and curtailment of our operations.
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We have generated significant net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and research and development tax credits, and our ability to utilize our
net operating loss carryforwards and research and development tax credits to reduce future tax payments may be limited or restricted.

We have generated significant NOL carryforwards and research and development tax credits (R&D credits) as a result of our incurrence of losses and
our conduct of research activities since inception. As of December 31, 2022, we had federal and state NOL carryforwards of approximately $132.0 million
and $100.0 million, respectively. We do not anticipate generating revenue from sales of products for the foreseeable future, if ever, and we may never
achieve profitability. Our U.S. federal NOL carryforwards generated in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018, can be carried forward to each of
the 20 taxable years following the year of the loss. These NOL carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.
Under current law, U.S. federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, totaling $22.3 million, may be carried forward indefinitely,
but the utilization of such U.S. federal NOLs generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited. As of December 31, 2022, we also had
federal and state R&D credit carryforwards of $2.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively. Our U.S. federal R&D credit carryforwards can be carried forward
20 taxable years. If not utilized in that period, these R&D credit carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.
Under current law, the California state R&D credits carry forward indefinitely until utilized.

Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, and corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the
corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carryforwards and R&D credits to offset its post-change income and taxes, respectively, may be limited.
For purposes of these rules, an “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our
stock increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. The
application of these rules could limit the amount of NOLs or R&D credit carryforwards that we can utilize annually to offset future taxable income or tax
liabilities. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or
permanently increase state taxes owed.

Our NOL and R&D credit carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by U.S. and state tax authorities.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls over financial reporting our ability to produce accurate and timely financial
statements could be impaired.

We are required to maintain internal controls over financial reporting. Commencing with our fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, we must perform
system and process design evaluation and testing of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on
the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in our Form 10-K filing for that year, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. This will require that we incur substantial additional professional fees and internal costs to expand our accounting and finance functions and that we
expend significant management efforts. Prior to our IPO, we had never been required to test our internal controls within a specified period and, as a result,
we may experience difficulty in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain
proper and effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to
happen, our investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, the market price of our stock could decline, and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by the SEC, Nasdagq or other regulatory authorities.

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple
error or mistake. For example, our directors or executive officers could inadvertently fail to disclose a new relationship or arrangement causing us to fail to
make a required related party transaction disclosure. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We must design our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably
assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure
controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. We may discover weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and



procedures that could result in a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not
prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple
error or mistake. For example, our directors or executive officers could inadvertently fail to disclose a new relationship or arrangement causing us to fail to
make a required related party transaction disclosure. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
An active, liquid and orderly trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

Prior to the closing of our IPO in January 2023, there was no public market for shares of our common stock. An active trading market for our shares
may not be sustained. You may not be able to sell your shares quickly or at the market price if trading in shares of our common stock is not active. As a
result of these and other factors, you may be unable to resell your shares of our common stock. Further, an inactive market may also impair our ability to
raise capital by selling shares of our common stock and may impair our ability to enter into strategic partnerships or acquire companies or products by
using our shares of common stock as consideration.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly or may fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, each of which may
cause our stock price to fluctuate or decline.

We expect our operating results to be subject to quarterly fluctuations, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating results. Our net
loss and other operating results will be affected by numerous factors, including:

e the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development and commercialization activities relating to our current and any future
product candidates, which will change from time to time;

e the total expenses we incur in connection with establishing, equipping, and operating our current and any future manufacturing facility(ies);

e the cost of manufacturing our current and any future product candidates, which may vary depending on the FDA's and comparable foreign regulatory
authorities’ guidelines and requirements, the quantity of production and the terms of any agreements with suppliers;

e results of preclinical studies and future clinical trials, or the addition or termination of future clinical trials or funding support by us, or future
collaborators or licensing partners;

e our execution of any collaboration, licensing or similar arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or receive under existing or future
arrangements or the termination or modification of any such existing or future arrangements;
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e any intellectual property infringement lawsuit or opposition, interference or cancellation proceeding in which we may become involved;
e additions and departures of key personnel;
e strategic decisions by us, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy;

e if any of our product candidates receives regulatory approval, the terms of such approval and market acceptance and demand for such product
candidates;

e regulatory developments affecting our product candidates;
e changes in accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies;

e changes in the variables used as a basis for valuing these stock-based awards, resulting in a changes in the magnitude of the expense that we must
recognize; and

e potential unforeseen business disruptions that increase our costs or expenses.

These factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result, comparing our operating
results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Investors should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance.

This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any period.
If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the
forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a
stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue and/or earnings guidance we may provide.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for purchasers of
our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, widely, due to many factors, some of which may be beyond our
control. These factors include, without limitation:

e ‘“short squeezes”;

e comments by securities analysts or other third parties, including blogs, articles, message boards and social and other media;

e large stockholders exiting their position in our common stock or an increase or decrease in the short interest in our common stock;
e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial and operating results;

e negative public perception of us, our competitors, or industry; and

e overall general market fluctuations.
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The stock market in general, and the markets for pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology stocks in particular, have experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have been often unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the issuer. In particular, the
trading prices for pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have been highly volatile, and we note recent instances of extreme
stock price run-ups followed by rapid price declines and stock price volatility seemingly unrelated to company performance following a number of recent
initial public offerings, particularly among companies with relatively smaller public floats. For example, the daily closing market price for our common stock
has varied significantly since the commencement of trading of our common stock on Nasdag on January 26, 2023, ranging between a high price of $38.00
on June 21, 2023, and a low price of $5.56 on February 3, 2023. During this time, the price per share of common stock has ranged from an intra-day low
of $5.35 per share to an intra-day high of $40.98 per share. During this time, we have not experienced any material changes in our financial condition or
results of operations that would explain such price volatility or trading volume. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of
our common stock. In particular, a large proportion of our common stock has been and may continue to be traded by short sellers which has put and may
continue to put pressure on the supply and demand for our common stock, further influencing volatility in its market price. Additionally, these and other
external factors have caused and may continue to cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate, which may limit or prevent
investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock.

In addition, if the trading volumes of our common shares are low, persons buying or selling in relatively small quantities may easily influence prices of
our common shares. This low volume of trades could also cause the price of our common shares to fluctuate greatly, with large percentage changes in
price occurring in any trading day session. Holders of our common shares may also not be able to readily liquidate their investment or may be forced to
sell at depressed prices due to low volume trading. A decline in the market price of our common shares also could adversely affect our ability to issue
additional shares of common shares or other securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future. No assurance can be given that an
active market in our common shares will develop or be sustained.

The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:

e results from, and any delays in, our clinical trial for Olvi-Vec, our preclinical studies and any other future clinical development programs;

e  actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts;

e commencement or termination of collaboration, licensing or similar arrangements for our development programs;

e announcements by our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, collaborations or capital commitments;

e failure or discontinuation of any of our development programs;

e our ability to commercialize Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates, if approved, inside and outside of the United States, either independently or
working with third parties;

e  our partners’ and collaborators’ ability to successfully commercialize their licensed product candidates;
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e developments or setbacks related to drugs that are co-administered with any of our product candidates, such as cellular and targeted therapies;
e regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

e developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights;

e the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

e the level of expenses related to the development of Olvi-Vec and any other product candidate we may develop;

e changes in the competitive landscape in our industry, including results of clinical trials of existing and potential future products that compete with
Olvi-Vec and our other product candidates;

e our ability to adequately support future growth;

e variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

e  future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies;

e announcements or expectations of additional financing efforts by us;

e sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or other stockholders;

e  expiration of market stand-off or lock-up agreements;

e recommendations and changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, that cover our stock;
e changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

e market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;

e general economic, political, and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the financial markets in the United States and abroad, including bank
failures; and

e investors’ general perception of us and our business.

These and other market and industry factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate rapidly and substantially,
including any stock price run-up, regardless of our actual or expected operating performance and financial condition or prospects, which may limit,
prevent or make it difficult for prospective investors to assess the rapidly changing value of our common stock or to sell their shares at or above the price
paid for the shares and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock.



We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock so any returns will be limited to the value of our stock.

You should not rely on an investment in our common stock to provide dividend income. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for
the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any
return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any return on their
investment.
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Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and are able to exert significant control over matters
subject to stockholder approval.

Our executive officers and directors, combined with our stockholders who own more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock, beneficially own
shares representing a significant percentage of our common stock. Therefore, these stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership
position. These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control
elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This
may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our
stockholders.

Conflicts of interest may arise because some members of our board of directors are representatives of our principal stockholders.

Certain of our principal stockholders or their affiliates are investment funds or other investment vehicles that could invest in companies that directly or
indirectly compete with us. As a result of these relationships, conflicts may arise between the interests of the principal stockholders or their affiliates and
the interests of other stockholders, and members of our board of directors that are representatives of such principal stockholders may not be disinterested
in such conflicts. We expect that all decisions made by our executive officers and directors will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to
deal fairly and in good faith and to act in the best interests of us and our stockholders, as well as in compliance with our Code of Conduct, which includes
a “conflicts of interest” section applicable to all employees, executive officers and directors.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders in the public market could cause our stock price to
fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time after the lock-up and other legal
restrictions on resale lapse. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce
the market price of our common stock. As of June 30, 2023, there were 25,855,511 shares of our common stock outstanding. Of these shares, only the
shares of common stock sold in the IPO by us, other than to our affiliates, and other than 737,203 shares of our common stock that are not subject to lock-
up agreements, are freely tradable without restriction in the public market.

The lock-up agreements pertaining to the IPO expired on July 24, 2023. After the lock-up agreements expired, up to 25,855,511 shares of common
stock became eligible for sale in the public market, of which 7,910,426 shares were held by directors, executive officers, and other affiliates and will be
subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act). In addition, shares of common stock that
are either subject to outstanding options or reserved for future issuance under our employee benefit plans will become eligible for sale in the public
market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules, the lock-up agreements, and Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities
Act. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common
stock could decline.

Further, the holders of 21,888,804 shares of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the
Securities Act, subject to the 180-day lock-up agreements described above. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the
shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares held by affiliates, as defined in Rule 144 under the
Securities Act. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.
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Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could
result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall.

We expect that we will need significant additional capital in the future to continue our planned operations, including conducting clinical trials,
commercialization efforts, expanded research and development activities, and costs associated with operating a public company. To raise capital, we
may sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to
time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. Such sales may
also result in material dilution to our existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our
common stock.

Pursuant to our 2022 Plan, our management is authorized to grant stock options to our employees, directors and consultants. Additionally, the
number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under our 2022 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each year, beginning on
January 1, 2024 and continuing through and including January 1, 2032, by 5% of the total number of shares of our capital stock outstanding on December
31 of the preceding calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by our board of directors. In addition, pursuant to our ESPP, the number of
shares of our common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year, beginning on January 1, 2024 through
January 1, 2032, by the lesser of (i) 1% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the last day of the calendar month before the
date of the automatic increase, and (ii) shares; provided that before the date of any such increase, our board of directors may determine that such
increase will be less than the amount set forth in clauses (i) and (ii). Unless our board of directors elects not to increase the number of shares available
for future grant each year, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to fall.

We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, and the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging
growth companies and smaller reporting companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take
advantage of certain exemptions from various public company reporting requirements, including being permitted to provide only two years of audited
financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure in this Quarterly Report, not being required to have our internal control over financial
reporting audited by our independent registered public accounting firm under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in this Quarterly Report and our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We
may take advantage of these exemptions until the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of our IPO (i.e. January 25, 2028) or until we



are no longer an emerging growth company, whichever is earlier. We will cease to be an emerging growth company prior to the end of such five-year
period if certain earlier events occur, including if we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, our annual gross
revenues exceed $1.235 billion or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt in any three-year period.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards
apply to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an
emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act.
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We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Exchange Act. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company even after we are
no longer an emerging growth company, which would allow us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions available to emerging growth
companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation. We will be able to take advantage of these scaled disclosures for so long as our voting and non-
voting common stock held by non-affiliates is less than $250.0 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter, or our annual
revenue is less than $100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is
less than $700.0 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter. Investors may find our common stock less attractive because we
may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and under Delaware law could make an
acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or
remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws and provisions of Delaware law may
discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in
which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. These provisions also could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the
future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is
responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace
or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors. Among other things, these
provisions:

e establish a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board are elected at one time;
e allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;
e limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from the board;

e establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our board of
directors;

e require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent;
e  prohibit our stockholders from calling a special meeting of our stockholders;

e authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a stockholder rights plan, or
so-called “poison pill,” that would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not
been approved by our board of directors; and

e require the approval of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal certain
provisions of our charter or bylaws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which prohibits a person who owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the
date of the transaction in which the person acquired 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a
prescribed manner. These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control transaction. They
could also have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our common stock, including transactions that may be in your best
interests. These provisions may also prevent changes in our management or limit the price that investors are willing to pay for our stock.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district
courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which
could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for the
following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law:

e any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;
e any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

e any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
or our amended and restated bylaws; and

e any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act.

Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions.
Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the
threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further
provides that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid and several state trial courts



have enforced such provisions and required that suits asserting Securities Act claims be filed in federal court, there is no guarantee that courts of appeal
will affirm the enforceability of such provisions and a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the
exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions
and the provisions may be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions.

If a court were to find the exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an
action, we may incur further significant additional costs associated with litigating Securities Act claims in state court, or both state and federal court, which
could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. Further, this exclusive forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers and other employees.
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General Risk Factors

We incur significantly increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial
time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We are subject to the
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which require, among other things, that we file with the SEC annual, quarterly, and current reports with
respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC and Nasdag to
implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and
maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-Frank Act) was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive compensation
related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas such as “say on pay” and proxy
access. Emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies are exempted from certain of these requirements, but we may be required to
implement these requirements sooner than budgeted or planned and thereby incur unexpected expenses. Stockholder activism, the current political
environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure
obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently
anticipate.

We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make
some activities more time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business
concerns, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The increased costs will decrease our
net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the prices of our products or services.
For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and
we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional
costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain
qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.

Failure to build our finance infrastructure and improve our accounting systems and controls could impair our ability to comply with the
financial reporting and internal controls requirements for publicly traded companies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasingly demanding regulatory environment, which requires us to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
the regulations of the Nasdaq Capital Market, the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, expanded disclosure requirements,
accelerated reporting requirements and more complex accounting rules. Company responsibilities required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include
establishing corporate oversight and adequate internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. Effective internal controls
are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent financial fraud. Commencing with our fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024, we must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to
report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in our Form 10-K filing for that year, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Prior to our IPO, we had never been required to test our internal controls within a specified period and, as a result, we may experience difficulty
in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner.

We anticipate that the process of building our accounting and financial functions and infrastructure will require significant additional professional fees,
internal costs and management efforts. For example, we expect that we will need to implement new systems to enhance and streamline the management
of our financial, accounting, human resources and other functions.

However, such systems will likely require us to complete many processes and procedures for the effective use of the systems, which may result in
substantial costs. Any disruptions or difficulties in implementing or using these systems could adversely affect our controls and harm our business.
Moreover, such disruption or difficulties could result in unanticipated costs and diversion of management attention. In addition, we may discover
weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a material misstatement of our financial
statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control
issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely
manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and effective internal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If
we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and results of operations could be harmed, investors could lose confidence in
our reported financial information and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.
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Future changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse and unexpected revenue fluctuations and adversely affect
our reported results of operations.

Future changes in financial accounting standards may cause adverse, unexpected revenue fluctuations and affect our reported financial position or
results of operations. Financial accounting standards in the United States are constantly under review and new pronouncements and varying
interpretations of pronouncements have occurred with frequency in the past and are expected to occur again in the future. As a result, we may be required
to make changes in our accounting policies. Those changes could affect our financial condition and results of operations or the way in which such
financial condition and results of operations are reported. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving standards, and this investment may result
in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from business activities to compliance activities. See
the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Recent Accounting Pronouncements.”

Changes in tax laws or regulations that are applied adversely to us or our customers may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash



flow, financial condition or results of operations.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time, which could adversely affect our
business operations and financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed,
modified or applied adversely to us. For example, the Tax Act, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, and the Inflation Reduction Act
enacted many significant changes to the U.S. tax laws. Future guidance from the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities with respect to such
legislation may affect us, and certain aspects thereof could be repealed or modified in future legislation. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent
various states will conform to federal tax legislation. Changes in corporate tax rates, the realization of net deferred tax assets relating to our operations,
the taxation of foreign earnings, and the deductibility of expenses under the Tax Act or future reform legislation could have a material impact on the value
of our deferred tax assets, could result in significant one-time charges, and could increase our future U.S. tax expense.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our stock, the price of
our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely, in part, on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our
business. We may never obtain research coverage by industry or financial analysts. If no or few analysts commence coverage of us, the trading price of
our stock would likely decrease. Even if we do obtain analyst coverage, if one or more of the analysts covering our business downgrade their evaluations
of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our stock, we could lose visibility in the market for our
stock, which, in turn, could cause our stock price to decline.

Our failure to meet Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements could result in a delisting of our common stock.

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of Nasdag, such as the corporate governance requirements or the minimum closing bid price
requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our common stock. Such a delisting would likely have a negative effect on the price of our common stock
and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common stock when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, we can provide no assurance that
any action taken by us to restore compliance with listing requirements would allow our common stock to become listed again, stabilize the market price or
improve the liquidity of our common stock, prevent our common stock from dropping below the Nasdagq minimum bid price requirement or prevent future
non-compliance with the listing requirements of Nasdag.
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We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against public companies following declines in the market prices of their
securities. This risk is especially relevant for biopharmaceutical companies, which have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we
face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and our resources, which could harm our business.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
Warrants

On April 4, 2023, we issued warrants to holders of certain existing promissory notes to purchase up to an aggregate of 111,828 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $10.50 per share (the “Warrants”). The Warrants were issued in satisfaction of our obligation to issue warrant
coverage pursuant to the terms of such promissory notes. The Warrants became exercisable immediately following the date of issuance and expired on
April 18, 2023. All Warrants were exercised before expiration, resulting in the issuance of 111,828 shares of our common stock.

On March 24, 2023, a warrant holder completed a cashless exercise of a warrant to purchase 16,666 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $9.00 per share. Pursuant to this exercise, the warrant holder received 11,666 shares of our common stock.

On July 31, 2023 and August 1, 2023, several warrant holders completed a cashless exercise of warrants to purchase an aggregate of 168,507
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 per share. Pursuant to these exercises, the warrant holders received 127,373 shares of our
common stock.

On July 28, 2023, we issued warrants to three stockholders in connection with their converted convertible notes payable. Pursuant to these
issuances, we issued warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 29,985 shares of our common stock with exercise prices of $10.50 per share.

On August 1, 2023, we issued warrants to a stockholder in connection with their converted convertible notes payable. Pursuant to these
issuances, we issued warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 75,958 shares of our common stock with exercise prices of $9.00 per share.

Use of Proceeds

On January 25, 2023, our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-265828) was declared effective in connection with the
IPO of our common stock, pursuant to which we registered an aggregate of 2,500,000 shares of our common stock, of which we sold 2,653,000 shares,
including the partial exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a price to the public of $6.00 per share, for aggregate gross
proceeds of $15.9 million. The offering closed on January 30, 2023. The underwriting discounts and commissions for the IPO totaled approximately $1.4
million. We incurred additional costs of approximately $1.9 million in offering expenses, which when added to the underwriting discounts and commissions
paid by us, amounts to total fees and costs of approximately $3.3 million. Thus, estimated net offering proceeds to us, after deducting underwriting
discounts, commissions and offering expenses, were approximately $12.6 million, including the partial exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option.
No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10 percent or more of any
class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates. The Benchmark Company, LLC and Brookline Capital Markets, a division of Arcadia Securities,
LLC, acted as joint book-running managers for the IPO.
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As of June 30, 2023, we have used approximately $10.4 million of the net proceeds from our IPO, primarily to satisfy outstanding accounts
payable and working capital. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from those disclosed in the final
prospectus that forms a part of the Registration Statement filed by us with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) on January 26, 2023.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.



Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on January 30, 2023).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Reqistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on January 30, 2023).

4.1 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
(File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023).

4.2 Letter Agreement Amending the Umbrella Agreements, by and among the Registrant and Existing Noteholders dated April 4, 2023
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on
May 15, 2023).

4.3* Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued on July 28, 2023 in connection with Converted Convertible Notes Payable.

4.4* Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued on August 1, 2023 in connection with Converted Convertible Notes Payable.

10.1 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 12, 2023, by and among the Reqistrant and the Purchasers (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023).

10.2 Executive Employment Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Thomas Zindrick, J.D., dated May 30, 2023 (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on June 2, 2023).

10.3 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 9, 2023, by and among the Registrant and the Purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-41599), filed with the SEC on June 12, 2023).

10.4* Executive Employment Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Ralph Smalling, MS, dated June 1, 2023.

10.5* Executive Employment Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Caroline Jewett, dated June 15, 2023.

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act.

32.1%t Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) of the Exchange Act.
and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS** Inline XBRL Instance Document—the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File as its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH**  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.

**Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes
of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise are not subject to liability.

T This certification shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that Section, nor shall
it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

¥ Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant undertakes to furnish supplemental copies of any of the
omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 14, 2023

GENELUX CORPORATION


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000119312523019058/d389604dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000119312523019058/d389604dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000149315223016832/ex4-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000149315223016832/ex4-10.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex4-3.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000149315223016832/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000149315223019861/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1231457/000149315223020828/ex10-1.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex10-4.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex10-5.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex31-1.htm
file:///tmp/T20431/cea55325-5c2f-412b-a656-8c73edefcc7e/ex32-1.htm

By: /s/ Thomas Zindrick, J.D.

Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
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Exhibit 4.3
THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON THE EXERCISE HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATES IN THE UNITED STATES. THESE SECURITIES
ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE AS PROVIDED HEREIN AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR
RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED HEREIN, UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO
REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM. THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM AND
SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY PROPOSED TRANSFER OR RESALE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE
ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.

GENELUX CORPORATION
WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK
No.CW-__ July 28, 2023
Void After the Expiration Date

Twis CerTiFies THAT, for value received, the undersigned or assigns (the “ Holder”), is entitled to subscribe for and purchase at the Exercise Price
(as defined below) from GeneLux CorporaTiON, @ Delaware corporation (the “Company”), up to the Exercise Shares of the Company’s common stock, par
value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and the like).

This warrant (the “Warrant”) is being issued to the Holder concurrently with the execution of that certain Letter Agreement by and between the
Company and Holder dated on or about the date hereof (the “Letter Agreement”). Terms used herein and capitalized but not defined shall have the
meanings given to them in the Letter Agreement.

1. Derinimions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

(a) “Exercise Period’ shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending at 5:00 p.m. Pacific time on the Expiration Date,
unless sooner terminated as provided below.

(b) “Exercise Price” shall mean $10.50 per Exercise Share, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 4 below.

(c) “Exercise Shares” shall mean [ ] shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms herein, including but
not limited to adjustment pursuant to Section 4 below.

(d) “Expiration Date” shall mean August 18, 2023.

(e) “Transfer Agent” means American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, the current transfer agent of the Company, with a mailing
address of 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219, and any successor transfer agent of the Company.

1.

2. Exercise oF WARRANT.

2.1 Cash Exercise. The rights represented by this Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part with respect to the Exercise Shares at
any time during the Exercise Period, by delivery of the following to the Company of a duly executed PDF copy submitted by e-mail (or e-mail attachment)
at the e-mail address set forth on the Company’s signature page hereto (or at such other e-mail address as it may designate by notice in writing to the
Holder):

(a) An executed Notice of Exercise in the form attached hereto as ExHiBIT A;

(b) Payment of the Exercise Price in cash, by check or by a wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts
designated by the Company; and

(c) This Warrant.

Upon the exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant, the Company shall cause the Exercise Shares purchased hereunder to be
transmitted by the Transfer Agent to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder's or its designee’s balance account with The Depository Trust
Company through its Deposit or Withdrawal at Custodian system if the Company is then a participant in such system. The person in whose name any
certificate or certificates for Exercise Shares are to be issued upon exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder of record of such
shares on the date on which this Warrant was surrendered and payment of the Exercise Price was made, irrespective of the date of delivery of such
certificate or certificates, except that, if the date of such surrender and payment is a date when the stock transfer books of the Company are closed, such
person shall be deemed to have become the holder of such shares at the close of business on the next succeeding date on which the stock transfer
books are open.

2.2 Mechanics of Exercise. In the event that this Warrant is being exercised for less than all of the then-current number of Exercise
Shares purchasable hereunder, the Company shall, concurrently with the issuance by the Company of the number of Exercise Shares for which this
Warrant is then being exercised, issue a new Warrant exercisable for the remaining number of Exercise Shares purchasable hereunder. The person in
whose name any certificate or certificates for Exercise Shares are to be issued upon exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder
of record of such shares on the date on which this Warrant was surrendered and payment of the Exercise Price was made, irrespective of the date of
delivery of such certificate or certificates, except that, if the date of such surrender and payment is a date when the stock transfer books of the Company
are closed, such person shall be deemed to have become the holder of such shares at the close of business on the next succeeding date on which the
stock transfer books are open.

3. CovENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

3.1 Covenants as to Exercise Shares. The Company covenants and agrees that all Exercise Shares that may be issued upon the
exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant will, upon issuance, be validly issued and outstanding, fully paid and nonassessable. The Company
further covenants and agrees that the Company will at all times during the Exercise Period, have authorized and reserved (or will obtain and reserve as
set forth below), free from preemptive rights, a sufficient number of shares of its Common Stock to provide for the exercise of the rights represented by
this Warrant. If at any time during the Exercise Period the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to permit



exercise of this Warrant, the Company will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but
unissued shares of Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes.

3.2 Notices of Record Date. In the event of any taking by the Company of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the
purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend (other than a cash dividend which is the same as cash dividends paid
in previous quarters) or other distribution, the Company shall mail to the Holder, at least 10 days prior to the date specified herein, a notice specifying the
date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend or distribution.

2.

4. AbsusTMeNT oF Exercise Price AND Exercise SHAREs. In the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock of the Company during the
Exercise Period by reason of stock dividends, split-ups, recapitalizations, reclassifications, combinations or exchanges of shares, separations,
reorganizations, liquidations, or the like, the number and class of shares available under this Warrant in the aggregate and the Exercise Price shall be
correspondingly adjusted to give the Holder of this Warrant, on exercise for the same aggregate Exercise Price, the total number, class, and kind of
shares as the Holder would have owned had this Warrant been exercised prior to the event and had the Holder continued to hold such shares until after
the event requiring adjustment. The form of this Warrant need not be changed because of any adjustment in the number of Exercise Shares subject to
this Warrant.

5. FracTionaL SHares. No fractional shares shall be issued upon the exercise of this Warrant as a consequence of any adjustment pursuant
hereto. All Exercise Shares (including fractions) issuable upon exercise of this Warrant may be aggregated for purposes of determining whether the
exercise would result in the issuance of any fractional share. If, after aggregation, the exercise would result in the issuance of a fractional share, the
Company shall, in lieu of issuance of any fractional share, pay the Holder otherwise entitled to such fraction a sum in cash equal to the product resulting
from multiplying the then current fair market value of an Exercise Share by such fraction.

6. Marker Stanp-OrFr AGreemeNnT. The Holder shall not sell or otherwise transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for the purchase of, or
enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale, of any of the Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company
held by the Holder (other than those included in the registration) during the period from the date of issuance of the Exercise Shares through the end of
the 180-day period following the effective date of the Company’s registration statement for the Company’s completed initial public offering. The
underwriters in connection with such registration are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Section 7 and shall have the right, power and authority to
enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto. The obligations described in this Section 7 shall not apply to a registration relating
solely to employee benefit plans on Form S-I or Form S-8 or similar forms that may be promulgated in the future, or a registration relating solely to a
transaction on Form S-4 or similar forms that may be promulgated in the future. The Company may impose stop-transfer instructions subject to the
foregoing restriction until the end of such 180 day or other period. Any discretionary waiver or termination of the restrictions of any or all of such market
stand-off agreements by the Company or the underwriters shall apply pro rata to all holders subject to such agreements, based on the number of shares
subject to such agreements.

7. No StockHoLbeER RigHTs. This Warrant in and of itself shall not entitle the Holder to any voting rights or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company.

8. Transrer oF WARRANT. This Warrant may be transferred only with the prior written consent of the Company and upon delivery of this Warrant
and the form of assignment attached hereto as ExniBir B to any such permitted transferee designated by Holder. Any such permitted transferee shall sign
an investment letter in form and substance satisfactory to the Company.

9. LosT, StoLen, MuTiLATED OR DESTROYED WARRANT. If this Warrant is lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed, the Company may, on such terms as to
indemnity or otherwise as it may reasonably impose (which shall, in the case of a mutilated Warrant, include the surrender thereof), issue a new Warrant
of like denomination and tenor as this Warrant so lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed.

10. NorTices, etc. All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (i) upon personal delivery to
the party to be notified, (ii) when sent by confirmed electronic mail if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, if not, then on the next business
day, (iii) five days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iv) one day after deposit with a
nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications to a party shall be sent to the
party’s address set forth on the signature page to the Holder's Note or at such other address(es) as such party may designate by 10 days advance written
notice to the other party hereto. A copy of any notice to the Company shall be sent to Cooley LLP, 55 Hudson Yards, New York, NY 10001-2157, Attn:
Jason Kent, e-mail: jkent@cooley.com.

11. Governing Law. This Warrant shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Delaware, as applied to agreements among
Delaware residents, made and to be performed entirely within the State of Delaware, without giving effect to conflicts of laws principles.

12. AmenpmenT anp Waiver. Any term of this Warrant may be amended or waived with the written consent of the Company and the Holder.
[Signature page follows]

3.

In Witness WHereoF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of July 28, 2023.

GENELUX CORPORATION

By:
Name: Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Address: 2625 Townsgate Road, Suite 230
Westlake Village, CA 91361

E-mail: thomaszindrick@genelux.com
In Witness WHereoF, the Holder has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized person as of July 28, 2023.

HOLDER



By:
Name:

By:
Name:

Signature Page to Common Warrant

ExHiBIT A
NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO: GENELUX CORPORATION
(1) The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to purchase shares of the Common Stock (the “ Exercise Shares”) of Genelux
Corporation (the “Company”) pursuant to the terms of the attached Warrant, and tenders herewith payment of the Exercise Price therefor in full, together

with all applicable transfer taxes, if any. Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings given to them in the attached Warrant.

(2) Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said shares of Common Stock in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as
is specified below:

(Name)

(Address)

(Date) (Signature)

(Print name)
INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES

Name:

(Print in Block Letters)

Address:

NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Warrant without alteration or enlargement or
any change whatsoever.

ExuiBiT B
ASSIGNMENT FORM

(To assign the foregoing Warrant, execute this form and supply required information. Do not use this
form to purchase shares.)

For VaLUE ReceIveD, the foregoing Warrant and all rights evidenced thereby are hereby assigned to

Name:

(Please Print)

Address:

(Please Print)
Dated: , 20

Holder’'s
Signature:

Holder’'s
Address:

NOTE: The signature to this Assignment Form must correspond with the name as it appears on the face of the Warrant, without alteration or enlargement
or any change whatever. Officers of corporations and those acting in a fiduciary or other representative capacity should file proper evidence of authority to
assign the foregoing Warrant.







Exhibit 4.4
THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON THE EXERCISE HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATES IN THE UNITED STATES. THESE SECURITIES
ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE AS PROVIDED HEREIN AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR
RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED HEREIN, UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO
REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM. THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM AND
SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY PROPOSED TRANSFER OR RESALE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE
ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.

GENELUX CORPORATION
WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

No.CW - August 1, 2023

Void After the Expiration Date

THis CerTiFies THAT, for value received, the undersigned or assigns (the “ Holder”), is entitled to subscribe for and purchase at the Exercise Price
(as defined below) from GeneLux CorporaTioN, @ Delaware corporation (the “Company”), up to the Exercise Shares of the Company’s common stock, par
value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and the like).

This warrant (the “Warrant”) is being issued to the Holder concurrently with the execution of that certain Letter Agreement by and between the
Company and Holder dated on or about the date hereof (the “Letter Agreement”). Terms used herein and capitalized but not defined shall have the
meanings given to them in the Letter Agreement.

1. Derinimions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

(a) “Exercise Period’ shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending at 5:00 p.m. Pacific time on the Expiration Date,
unless sooner terminated as provided below.

(b) “Exercise Price” shall mean $9.00 per Exercise Share, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 4 below.

(c) “Exercise Shares” shall mean [ ] shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms herein, including but not
limited to adjustment pursuant to Section 4 below.

(d) “Expiration Date” shall mean September 30, 2023.

(e) “Transfer Agent” means American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, the current transfer agent of the Company, with a mailing
address of 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219, and any successor transfer agent of the Company.

1.

2. Exercise oF WARRANT.

2.1 Cash Exercise. The rights represented by this Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part with respect to the Exercise Shares at
any time during the Exercise Period, by delivery of the following to the Company of a duly executed PDF copy submitted by e-mail (or e-mail attachment)
at the e-mail address set forth on the Company’s signature page hereto (or at such other e-mail address as it may designate by notice in writing to the
Holder):

(a) An executed Notice of Exercise in the form attached hereto as ExHiBIT A;

(b) Payment of the Exercise Price in cash, by check or by a wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts
designated by the Company; and

(c) This Warrant.

Upon the exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant, the Company shall cause the Exercise Shares purchased hereunder to be
transmitted by the Transfer Agent to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder's or its designee’s balance account with The Depository Trust
Company through its Deposit or Withdrawal at Custodian system if the Company is then a participant in such system. The person in whose name any
certificate or certificates for Exercise Shares are to be issued upon exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder of record of such
shares on the date on which this Warrant was surrendered and payment of the Exercise Price was made, irrespective of the date of delivery of such
certificate or certificates, except that, if the date of such surrender and payment is a date when the stock transfer books of the Company are closed, such
person shall be deemed to have become the holder of such shares at the close of business on the next succeeding date on which the stock transfer
books are open.

2.2 Mechanics of Exercise. In the event that this Warrant is being exercised for less than all of the then-current number of Exercise
Shares purchasable hereunder, the Company shall, concurrently with the issuance by the Company of the number of Exercise Shares for which this
Warrant is then being exercised, issue a new Warrant exercisable for the remaining number of Exercise Shares purchasable hereunder. The person in
whose name any certificate or certificates for Exercise Shares are to be issued upon exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder
of record of such shares on the date on which this Warrant was surrendered and payment of the Exercise Price was made, irrespective of the date of
delivery of such certificate or certificates, except that, if the date of such surrender and payment is a date when the stock transfer books of the Company
are closed, such person shall be deemed to have become the holder of such shares at the close of business on the next succeeding date on which the
stock transfer books are open.

3. CovENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

3.1 Covenants as to Exercise Shares. The Company covenants and agrees that all Exercise Shares that may be issued upon the
exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant will, upon issuance, be validly issued and outstanding, fully paid and nonassessable. The Company
further covenants and agrees that the Company will at all times during the Exercise Period, have authorized and reserved (or will obtain and reserve as
set forth below), free from preemptive rights, a sufficient number of shares of its Common Stock to provide for the exercise of the rights represented by



this Warrant. If at any time during the Exercise Period the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to permit
exercise of this Warrant, the Company will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but
unissued shares of Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes.

2.

3.2 Notices of Record Date. In the event of any taking by the Company of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the
purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend (other than a cash dividend which is the same as cash dividends paid
in previous quarters) or other distribution, the Company shall mail to the Holder, at least 10 days prior to the date specified herein, a notice specifying the
date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend or distribution.

4. ApiustMenT oF Exercise PrICE AND Exercise SHAREs. In the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock of the Company during the
Exercise Period by reason of stock dividends, split-ups, recapitalizations, reclassifications, combinations or exchanges of shares, separations,
reorganizations, liquidations, or the like, the number and class of shares available under this Warrant in the aggregate and the Exercise Price shall be
correspondingly adjusted to give the Holder of this Warrant, on exercise for the same aggregate Exercise Price, the total number, class, and kind of
shares as the Holder would have owned had this Warrant been exercised prior to the event and had the Holder continued to hold such shares until after
the event requiring adjustment. The form of this Warrant need not be changed because of any adjustment in the number of Exercise Shares subject to
this Warrant.

5. FracTionaL SHares. No fractional shares shall be issued upon the exercise of this Warrant as a consequence of any adjustment pursuant
hereto. All Exercise Shares (including fractions) issuable upon exercise of this Warrant may be aggregated for purposes of determining whether the
exercise would result in the issuance of any fractional share. If, after aggregation, the exercise would result in the issuance of a fractional share, the
Company shall, in lieu of issuance of any fractional share, pay the Holder otherwise entitled to such fraction a sum in cash equal to the product resulting
from multiplying the then current fair market value of an Exercise Share by such fraction.

6. Marker Stanp-OrFr AGreemeNT. The Holder shall not sell or otherwise transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for the purchase of, or
enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale, of any of the Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company
held by the Holder (other than those included in the registration) during the period from the date of issuance of the Exercise Shares through the end of
the 180-day period following the effective date of the Company’s registration statement for the Company’s completed initial public offering. The
underwriters in connection with such registration are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Section 7 and shall have the right, power and authority to
enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto. The obligations described in this Section 7 shall not apply to a registration relating
solely to employee benefit plans on Form S-I or Form S-8 or similar forms that may be promulgated in the future, or a registration relating solely to a
transaction on Form S-4 or similar forms that may be promulgated in the future. The Company may impose stop-transfer instructions subject to the
foregoing restriction until the end of such 180 day or other period. Any discretionary waiver or termination of the restrictions of any or all of such market
stand-off agreements by the Company or the underwriters shall apply pro rata to all holders subject to such agreements, based on the number of shares
subject to such agreements.

7. No StockHoLpeER RigHTs. This Warrant in and of itself shall not entitle the Holder to any voting rights or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company.

8. Transrer oF WARRANT. This Warrant may be transferred only with the prior written consent of the Company and upon delivery of this Warrant
and the form of assignment attached hereto as ExHiBit B to any such permitted transferee designated by Holder. Any such permitted transferee shall sign
an investment letter in form and substance satisfactory to the Company.

9. Lost, StoLen, MuTiLatep or Destrovep WARRANT. If this Warrant is lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed, the Company may, on such terms as to
indemnity or otherwise as it may reasonably impose (which shall, in the case of a mutilated Warrant, include the surrender thereof), issue a new Warrant
of like denomination and tenor as this Warrant so lost, stolen, mutilated or destroyed.

10. Norices, etc. All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (i) upon personal delivery to
the party to be notified, (ii) when sent by confirmed electronic mail if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, if not, then on the next business
day, (iii) five days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iv) one day after deposit with a
nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. Al communications to a party shall be sent to the
party’s address set forth on the signature page to the Holder’s Note or at such other address(es) as such party may designate by 10 days advance written
notice to the other party hereto. A copy of any notice to the Company shall be sent to Cooley LLP, 55 Hudson Yards, New York, NY 10001-2157, Attn:
Jason Kent, e-mail: jkent@cooley.com.

11. Governing LAaw. This Warrant shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Delaware, as applied to agreements among
Delaware residents, made and to be performed entirely within the State of Delaware, without giving effect to conflicts of laws principles.

12. Amenoment anp Waiver. Any term of this Warrant may be amended or waived with the written consent of the Company and the Holder.
[Signature page follows]

4.

In Witness WHereoF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized officer as of July 28, 2023.

GENELUX CORPORATION

By:
Name: Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Address: 2625 Townsgate Road, Suite 230
Westlake Village, CA 91361

E-mail: thomaszindrick@genelux.com



In Witness WHEReOF, the Holder has caused this Warrant to be executed by its duly authorized person as of July 28, 2023.
HOLDER

By:
Name:

By:
Name:

Signature Page to Common Warrant

ExHiBiT A
NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO: GENELUX CORPORATION
(1) The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to purchase shares of the Common Stock (the “ Exercise Shares”) of Genelux
Corporation (the “Company”) pursuant to the terms of the attached Warrant, and tenders herewith payment of the Exercise Price therefor in full, together

with all applicable transfer taxes, if any. Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings given to them in the attached Warrant.

(2) Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said shares of Common Stock in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as
is specified below:

(Name)

(Address)

(Date) (Signature)

(Print name)
INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES

Name:

(Print in Block Letters)

Address:

NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Warrant without alteration or enlargement or
any change whatsoever.

ExuiBiT B
ASSIGNMENT FORM

(To assign the foregoing Warrant, execute this form and supply required information. Do not use this
form to purchase shares.)

For VaLue Receivep, the foregoing Warrant and all rights evidenced thereby are hereby assigned to

Name:

(Please Print)

Address:

(Please Print)
Dated: ,20__

Holder’'s
Signature:

Holder’'s
Address:

NOTE: The signature to this Assignment Form must correspond with the name as it appears on the face of the Warrant, without alteration or enlargement



or any change whatever. Officers of corporations and those acting in a fiduciary or other representative capacity should file proper evidence of authority to
assign the foregoing Warrant.




®eNeLUX

June 1, 2023

Ralph Smalling, M.S.
195 Creekway Bend
Southlake, TX 76092

Re: Employment Terms
Dear Ralph:

Genelux Corporation (the “Company™) is pleased to offer you at-will employment in the position of
Head of Regulatory Affairs, on the terms and conditions set forth in this letter agreement (this
“Agreement”).

1. Employment by the Company,

1.1 Start Date. Your employment with the Company shall begin on June 1, 2023 or such
date as otherwise agreed to by you and the Company (such actual date your employment begins,
the “Start Date™).

1.2 Position. This is an exempt part-time position, and during your employment with the
Company, vou will devote your best efforts to the business of the Company and will report to
the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. You represent to the Company that you
have full authority to accept this position and perform the duties of the position and that you
are not subject to or a party to any employment agreement, non-competition covenant, or other
agreement that would be breached by, or prohibit you from, executing this Agreement and
performing fully vour duties and responsibilities hereunder.

1.3 Work Location. Your principal place of employment location shall be in Southlake,
Texas. The Company reserves the right to reasonably require you to perform your duties at
places other than your principal place of employment from time to time, and to require
reasonable business travel. The Company may modify your job title and duties as it deems
necessary and appropriate in light of the Company’s needs and interests from time to time.

2. Compensation.

As a part-time exempt employee, it is anticipated that you will be able to perform your duties
within a time commitment averaging about 2.5 full-time days per week, although your job
duties may require that you work additional hours. Because your position is classified as
exempt, you will not be eligible for overtime pay for such additional hours worked and your
compensation will not fluctuate according to the quantity of work performed.

Page 1

Exhibit 10.4




2.1 Base Salary. For services to be rendered hereunder, you shall receive a current base
salary at the rate of $150,000.00 per vear (the “Base Salary™), subject to standard payroll
deductions and withholdings and payable in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll
schedule.

2.2 Annual Bonus. During your employment, you will be eligible for an annual
discretionary bonus with a target amount of up to 30% of your then-current annual Base Salary,
prorated for the number of days employed in a calendar year (the *Annual Bonus™). Whether
you receive an Annual Bonus for any given year, and the amount of any such Annual Bonus,
will be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company andfor its Compensation
Committee (the “Board™) in its discretion based upon the achievement of corperate and/or
individual objectives and milestones that are determined in the sole discretion of the Board.
Y¥ou must continue to be employed through the date the Annual Bonus is paid in order to earn
such bonus. The Annual Bonus, if any, shall be paid to you in a lump sum no later than March
15" of the calendar year that follows the performance year, subject to applicable payroll
deductions and withholdings.

2.3 Equity. Subject to approval by the Board, the Company will grant you a new-hire
option to purchase 34,000 shares of common stock of the Company; and (ii) beginning in the
calendar year after the Start Date, you will be eligible for an annual discretionary option grant
and other equity awards covering the Company’s common stock which, for any given year, and
the amount of any such grant, will be determined by the Board in its discretion based upon the
achievement of corporate and/or individual objectives and milestones that are determined in the
sole discretion of the Board (individually and collectively, the “Award™), pursuant to the
Company’s 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan™). The shares
subject to the Award will vest over four years of continuous service to the Company, with
twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares subject to the Award vesting on the first-year
anniversary of the Start Date, and the remaining shares vesting in equal monthly installments
over the subsequent thirty-six (36} months of continuous service thereafter, The terms
(including the exercise price of an option grant) of the Award, as well as all other matters related
to the Award, will be governed by and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan,
and the Award agreement you will be required to execute.

2.4 Standard Company Benefits. While employed by the Company, you will be eligible
to participate in the benefits of employment described in the Company's Handbook and/or a
separate summary {pursuant to the terms and conditions of the benefit plans and applicable
policies). These benefits may be amended from time to time at the sole discretion of the
Company.

The Company reserves the right to cancel or change the benefit plans or programs it offers to

its employees at any time, The Company may change your position, duties, work location,
compensation and benefits from time to time in its discretion.
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2.5 Reasonable Business Expenses.

You will be eligible for reimbursement of all reasonable, necessary and documented out-of-
pocket business, entertainment, and travel expenses incurred by you in connection with the
performance of vour duties hereunder in accordance with the Company’s expense
reimbursement policies and procedures.

3. Company Policies.

The employment relationship between the parties shall be governed by the general employment
policies and practices of the Company, except that when the terms of this Agreement differ
from or are in conflict with the Company’s general employment policies or practices, this
Agreement shall control.

You will be required to sign an acknowledgment that you have read and that you understand
and will abide by Company rules and policies (including but not limited to the Company’s
Handbook), as adopted or modified by the Company from time to time.

4. Conditions of Offer; At-Will Employment.

This offer is contingent upon satisfactory background and reference checks and satisfactory proof
of your right to work in the United States. You agree to assist as needed and to provide any
documentation or information at the Company’s request to meet these conditions. Such
documentation must be provided to us within three (3) business days of your date of hire, or
our employment relationship with you may be terminated.

You are required to disclose to the Company any and all agreements relating to your prior
employment that may afTect your eligibility to be employed by the Company or limit the manner
in which you may be employed.

Your employment relationship is at-will. Either you or the Company may terminate the
employment relationship at any time, with or without cause or advance notice. Upon
termination of your employment for any reason, you shall resign from all positions and
terminate any relationships as an employee, advisor, officer or director with the Company and
any of its affiliates, each effective on the date of termination.

5. Outside Activities During Employment.

Except with respect to the contract or deseription of a duty attached in Exhibit A, the prior
written consent of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, or designee, vou agree that, during
the term of your employment with the Company, you will not engage in any other employment,
occupation, consulting or other business activity directly related to the business in which the
Company is now involved or becomes involved during the term of your employment, nor will
you engage in any other activities that conflict with your obligations to the Company. You agree
not to acquire, assume or participate i, directly or indirectly, any position, investment or
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interest known to be adverse or antagonistic to the Company, its business or prospects, financial
or otherwise.

6. Termination; Severance.

6.1 Term and Termination. The term of this Agreement shall be the period commencing
on the Start Date and ending on the date that this Agreement is terminated by either party
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. You are employed at-will, meaning that, subject
to the terms and conditions set forth herein, either the Company or you may terminate your
employment at any time, with or without Cause.

6.2  Compensation upon Termination. Upon the termination of your employment for any
reason, the Company shall pay you all of your accrued and unpaid wages earned through your
last day of employment (the “Separation Date™).

6.3  Involuntary Termination Outside of Change in Control Period. If you are subject
to an Involuntary Termination (that does not occur within the Change in Control Period (as
defined below)), and provided that you remain in compliance with the terms of this Agreement
{(including the conditions deseribed in Section 6.6 below), the Company shall provide you with
the following benefits (the *Severance Benefits™):

(a) Payment of Continued Group Health Plan Benefits. 1f vou are eligible for and timely
eleet continwed group health plan coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985 or any state law of similar effect (*COBRA™) following your
Separation Date, the Company will pay your COBRA group health insurance premiums for you
and your eligible dependents directly to the insurer until the earliest of (A) the end of the period
immediately following your Separation Date that is equal to nine (9) months (the “COBRA
Payment Period™), (B) the expiration of your eligibility for continuation coverage under
COBRA, or (C) the date when you become eligible for substantially equivalent health insurance
coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment. For purposes of this
Section, references to COBRA premiums shall not include any amounts payable by you under
a Section 125 health care reimbursement plan under the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
if at any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that it cannot pay the COBRA
premiums without potentially incurring financial costs or penalties under applicable law
{including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then regardless
of whether you elect continued health coverage under COBRA, and in lieu of providing the
COBRA premiums, the Company will instead pay you on the last day of each remaining month
of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premiums
for that month, subject to applicable tax withholdings (such amount, the “Special Severance
Payment™), which payments shall continue until the earlier of expiration of the COBRA
Payment Period or the date when you become eligible for substantially equivalent health
insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment. On the first
payroll date following the effectiveness of the Separation Agreement (as discussed in Section
6.6), the Company will make the first payment to the insurer under this clause (and, in the case
of the Special Severance Payment, such payment will be to you, in a lump sum) equal to the
aggregate amount of payments that the Company would have paid through such date had such




payments instead commenced on the Separation Date, with the balance of the payments paid
therealter on the schedule described above. I you become eligible for coverage under another
emplover’s group health plan, you must immediately notify the Company of such event, and all
payments and obligations under this subsection shall cease.

6.4  Involuntary Termination During Change in Control Period. If you are subject to
an Involuntary Termination during the Change in Control Period, and provided that you remain
in compliance with the terms of this Agreement {including the conditions described in Section
6.6 below), the Company shall provide yvou with the following benefits (the “CIC Severance
Benefits”):

(a) CIC Severance. The Company shall pay you, as severance, the equivalent of nine (9)
months (the “CIC Severance Period™) of your Base Salary in effect as of the Separation Date
and your full target annual bonus for the calendar year in which the Separation Date occurs,
subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings (the “CIC Severance™). The CIC
Severance will be paid in a lump sum on the first regularly-scheduled payroll date after your
Separation from Service (as defined in Section 7.6), provided the Separation Agreement has
become effective.

(b  Payment of Continued Group Health Plan Benefits. If you are eligible for and timely
elect continued group health plan coverage under COBRA following your Separation Date, the
Company will pay your COBRA group health insurance premiums for you and your eligible
dependents directly to the insurer until the earliest of (A) the end of the period immediately
following your Separation Date that is equal to nine (%) months (the “CIC COBRA Payment
Period™), (B) the expiration of your eligibility for continuation coverage under COBRA, or
(C) the date when you become eligible for substantially equivalent health insurance coverage
in connection with new employment or self-employment, For purposes of this Section,
references to COBRA premiums shall not include any amounts payable by you under a
Section 125 health care reimbursement plan under the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
at any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that it cannot pay the COBRA
premiums without potentially incurring financial costs or penalties under applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then regardless
of whether you elect continued health coverage under COBRA, and in lieu of providing the
COBRA premiums, the Company will instead pay you on the last day of each remaining month
of the CIC COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA
premiums for that month, subject to applicable tax withholdings (such amount, the “Special
Severance Payment™), which payments shall continue until the earlier of expiration of the CIC
COBRA Payment Period or the date when you become eligible for substantially equivalent
health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment. On the
first payroll date following the effectiveness of the Separation Agreement, the Company will
make the first payment to the insurer under this clause (and, in the case of the Special Severance
Payment, such payment will be to you, in a lump sum) equal to the aggregate amount of
payments that the Company would have paid through such date had such payments instead
commenced on the Separation Date, with the balance of the payments paid thereafter on the
schedule described above. If you become eligible for coverage under another employer’s group




health plan, you must immediately notify the Company of such event, and all payments and
obligations under this subsection shall cease.

For the aveidance of doubt, in no event shall you be entitled to benefits under both Section 6.3
and this Section 6.4. If you are eligible for benefits under both Section 6.3 and this Section 6.4,
you shall receive the benefits set forth in this Section 6.4 and such benefits shall be reduced by
any benefits previously provided to you under Section 6.3.

6.5  Termination for Cause; Death or Disability. If the Company terminates your
employment for Cause, upon dissolution or cessation of the Company, or upon your death or
disability, then (a) you will no longer vest in the Award, (b) all payments of compensation by
the Company to you hereunder will terminate immediately (except as to amounts already
earned), and (c) vou will not be entitled to any Severance Benefits or CIC Severance Benefits.

6.6  Conditions to Receipt of Severance Benefits and CIC Severance Benefits, The
receipt of the Severance Benefits and CIC Severance Benefits will be subject to you sighing
and not revoking a separation agreement and general release of claims in a form reasonably
satisfactory to the Company (the “Separation Agreement™) by no later than the sixtieth (60th)
day after the Separation Date (“Release Deadline™). No Severance Benefits or CIC Severance
Benefits will be paid or provided until the Separation Agreement becomes effective. You shall
also resign from all positions and terminate any relationships as an employee, advisor, officer
or director with the Company and any of its affiliates, each effective on the Separation Date,

. Definitions.

7.1 Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, *Cause”™ for termination means: (a)
commission of any felony or crime involving dishonesty; (b) participation in any fraud against
the Company; (c) material breach of your duties to the Company; (d) persistent unsatisfactory
performance of job duties afler written notice from the Board or Chief Executive Officer and
an opportunity to cure (if deemed curable by the Company in its sole discretion); (e) intentional
damage to any property of the Company; (f) misconduct, or other viclation of Company policy
that causes harm; (z) breach of this Agreement, the Confidentiality Agreement (as defined
below), or any other written agreement with the Company; or {(h) conduct by you which in the
good faith and reasonable determination of the Board or Chief Executive Officer demonstrates
gross unfitness to serve.

7.2 Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall
have the meaning as set forth in the Company’s 2022 Equity Incentive Plan.

7.3 Change in Control Period. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Change in Control
Period” means the period commencing three (3) months prior to a Change in Control and

ending eighteen (18) months following a Change in Control.

7.4 Caode. For purposes of this Agreement, “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code
of 1986 (as 1t has been and may be amended from time to time) and any regulations and
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guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated from time to time thereunder and
any state law of similar effect.

7.5  Involuntary Termination. For purposes of this Agreement. “Involuntary
Termination™ means a termination of your employment with the Company pursuant to either
(1) a termination initiated by the Company without Cause, and provided such termination
constitutes a Separation from Service. An Involuntary Termination does not include any other
termination of your employment, including a termination due to your death or disability.

7.6 Separation from Service. For purposes of this Agreement, “Separation from Service”
means a “separation from service”, as defined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).

8. Proprietary Information Obligations.

As a condition of your employment with the Company, you shall execute and continue 1o abide
by the Company’s standard form of Confidential Information and Invention Assignment
Agreement (the “Confidentiality Agreement™), attached as Exhibit B. In your work for the
Company, you will be expected not to use or disclose any confidential information, including
trade secrets, of any former employer or other person to whom you have an obligation of
confidentiality. Rather, you will be expected to use only that information which is generally
known and used by persons with training and experience comparable to your own, which is
common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain, or which is
otherwise provided or developed by the Company. You agree that you will not bring onto
Company premises any unpublished documents or property belonging to any former employer
or other person to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. You also agree to honor all
obligations to former employers during your employment with the Company. You hereby
represent that you have disclosed to the Company any contract you have signed that may restrict
your activities on behalf of the Company.

9. Section 409A.

It is intended that all of the severance benefits and other payments payable under this Agreement
satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the exemptions from the application of Code Section
409A provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A 1(b)(4), 1.409A 1{b)(5) and
14094 1(b)9), and this Agreement will be construed to the greatest extent possible as
consistent with those provisions, and to the extent not so exempt, this Agreement (and any
definitions hereunder) will be construed in a manner that complies with Section 409A. For all
purposes of Code Section 409A (including, without limitation, for purposes of Treasury
Regulations Sections 1.409A 2(b)2)(i) and (iii)), your right to receive any installment payments
under this Agreement (whether severance payments, reimbursements or otherwise) shall be
treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments and, accordingly, each installment
payment hereunder shall at all times be considered a separate and distinct payment.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, if you are deemed by the
Company at the time of your Separation from Service to be a *specified employee” for purposes
of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)i). and if any of the payments upon Separation from Service set
forth herein and/or under any other agreement with the Company are deemed to be “deferred
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compensation,” then to the extent delayed commencement of any portion of such payments is
required in order to avoid a prohibited distribution under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) and
the related adverse taxation under Section 4094, such payments shall not be provided 1o you
prior to the earliest of (i) the first date following expiration of the six-month period following
the date of your Separation from Service with the Company, (ii) the date of your death or (iii}
such earlier date as permitted under Section 409A without the imposition of adverse taxation.
Upon the first business day following the expiration of such applicable Code Section
409A(a)(2)(B)Xi) period, all payments deferred pursuant to this Paragraph shall be paid in a
lump sum to you, and any remaining payments due shall be paid as otherwise provided herein
or in the applicable agreement. No interest shall be due on any amounts so deferred. If the
severance benefits are not covered by one or more exemptions from the application of Section
409A and the Release Deadline occurs in the calendar year following the calendar year of your
Separation from Service, the Separation Agreement will not be deemed effective any earlier
than the Release Deadline for purposes of determining the timing of provision of any severance
benefits.

10. Section 208G.

If any payment or benefit vou will or may receive from the Company or otherwise (a “280G
Payment™) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of
the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of
the Code (the “Excise Tax™), then any such 280G Payment pursuant to this Agreement or
otherwise (a “Payment™) shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced Amount™
shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the
Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax or (y) the largest portion, up to and
including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount (i.c., the amount determined by clause
(x) or by clause (y)), after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment
taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate),
results in your receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding
that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in a
Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sentence and the Reduced Amount is determined
pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the reduction shall occur in the manner (the
“Reduction Method™) that results in the greatest economic benefit for you. If more than one
method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be
reduced pro rata (the “Pro Rata Reduction Method™).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method
would result in any portion of the Payment being subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A that
would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A, then the Reduction Method
andfor the Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the case may be, shall be modified so as to avoid the
imposition of taxes pursuant to Section 409A as follows: (A) as a first priority, the modification
shall preserve to the greatest extent possible, the greatest economic benefit for you as
determined on an after-tax basis; (B) as a second priority, Payments that are contingent on future
events (e.g., being terminated without Cause), shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments
that are not contingent on future events; and (C) as a third priority, Payments that are “deferred




compensation™ within the meaning of Section 409A shall be reduced (or eliminated) before
Payments that are not deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A.

Unless you and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm, the accounting firm
engaged by the Company for general tax compliance purposes as of the day prior to the effective
date of the change in control transaction triggering the Payment shall perform the foregoing
caleulations. If the accounting firm so engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or
auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the change in control transaction, the
Company shall appoint a nationally recognized accounting firm to make the determinations
required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations
by such accounting firm required to be made hereunder, The Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder
to provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to you and the
Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which your right to a 280G Payment
becomes reasonably likely to occur (if requested at that time by you or the Company) or such
other reasonable time as requested by you or the Company.

IT you receive a Payment for which the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (x)
of the first paragraph of this Section and the Internal Revenue Service determines thereafter
that some portion of the Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, you shall promptly return to the
Company a sufficient amount of the Payment (after reduction pursuant to clause (x) of the first
paragraph of this Section so that no portion of the remaining Payment is subject to the Excise
Tax). For the avoidance ol doubt, if the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause
{(y) in the first paragraph of this Section, you shall have no obligation to return any portion of
the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.

11. Arbitration of All Disputes.

11.1  Agreement to Arbitrate. To ensure the timely and economical resolution of disputes
that may arise between you and the Company, both yvou and the Company mutually agree that
pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.5.C. §1-16, and to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, you and the Company will submit solely to final, binding and confidential
arbitration any and all disputes, claims, or causes of action arising from or relating to: (i) the
negotiation, execution, interpretation, performance, breach or enforcement of this Agreement;
or (ii) your employment with the Company (including but not limited to all statutory claims);
or (iii) the termination of your employment with the Company (including but not limited to all
statutory claims). BY AGREEING TO THIS ARBITRATION PROCEDURE, BOTH
YOU AND THE COMPANY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO RESOLVE ANY SUCH
DISPUTES THROUGH A TRIAL BY JURY OR JUDGE OR THROUGH AN
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING.

11.2  Arbitrator Authority. The arbitrator shall have the sole and exclusive authority to
determine whether a dispute, claim or cause of action is subject to arbitration under this Section
and to determine any procedural questions which grow out of such disputes, claims or causes
of action and bear on their final disposition.




11.3  Individual Capacity Only. All claims, disputes, or causes of action under this Section,
whether by you or the Company, must be brought solely in an individual capacity, and shall not
be brought as a plaintiff {or claimant) or class member in any purported class or representative
proceeding, nor joined or consolidated with the claims of any other person or entity. The
arbitrator may not consolidate the claims of more than one person or entity, and may not preside
over any form of representative or class proceeding. To the extent that the preceding sentences
in this Section are found to violate applicable law or are otherwise found unenforceable, any
claim(s) alleged or brought on behalf of a class shall proceed in a court of law rather than by
arbitration.

11.4  Avrbitration Process. Any arbitration proceeding under this Section shall be presided
over by a single arbitrator and conducted by JAMS in Southlake, Texas, or as otherwise agreed
to by you and the Company, under the then applicable JAMS rules for the resolution of
employment  disputes  (available uwpon request and also  currently available
at http:/www. jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration). You and the Company both have
the right to be represented by legal counsel at any arbitration proceeding, at each party’s own
expense. The arbitrator shall: (i) have the authority to compel adequate discovery for the
resolution of the dispute; (ii) issue a written arbitration decision, to include the arbitrator’s
essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award; and (iii) be authorized to award
any or all remedies that you or the Company would be entitled to seek in a court of law. The
Company shall pay all JAMS arbitration fees (including the cost of the arbitrator) in excess of
the amount of court fees that would be required of you if the dispute were decided in a court of
law.

11.5 Excluded Claims. This Section shall not apply to any action or claim that cannot be
subject to mandatory arbitration as a matter of law, including, without limitation, sexual assault
disputes and sexual harassment disputes as defined in the Federal Arbitration Act (collectively,
the “Excluded Claims™). In the event you intend to bring multiple claims, including one of the
Excluded Claims listed above, the Excluded Claims may be filed with a court, while any other
claims will remain subject to mandatory arbitration.

12. General Provisions.

This Agreement, together with the Confidentiality Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement
between you and the Company with regard to this subject matter and is the complete, final, and
exclusive embodiment of the parties’ agreement with regard to this subject matter. This
Agreement is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral,
other than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such promises,
warranties or representations, including that certain consulting agreement with Linus
Consulting, LLC as amended on January 9, 2021, as may have been further amended from time
to time. Modifications or amendments to this Agreement, other than those changes expressly
reserved to the Company™s discretion in this letter, must be made in a written agreement signed
by you and the Company’s Chief’ Exceutive Officer, or designee. Whenever possible, cach
provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid
under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such
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invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision or any other
jurisdiction, but this Agreement will be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction
to the extent possible in keeping with the intent of the parties. Any waiver of any breach of any
provisions of this Agreement must be in writing to be effective, and it shall not thereby be
deemed to have waived any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other provision
of this Agreement. This Agreement is intended to bind and inure 1o the benelit of and be
enforceable by you and the Company, and their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors
and administrators. The Company may freely assign this Agreement, without your prior written
consent. You may not assign any of vour duties hereunder and you may not assign any of your
rights hereunder without the written consent of the Company. This Agreement shall become
effective as of the Start Date and shall terminate upon your termination of employment with the
Company. The obligations as forth under Sections 6-12 will survive the termination of this
Agreement. All questions concerning the construction, validity and interpretation of this
Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of California.

[Signature page to follow]

Page 11




This offer is subject to satisfactory proof of your identity and right to work in the United States and
other applicable pre-employment screenings.

We look forward to having you join Genelux. If you have any questions about this Agreement, please
do not hesitate to call me.

Best regards,
GENELUX CORPORATION
e ,_~—’;f'} A
.7 () o gzt b

Thomas D. Zindrick
President and Chief Executive QOfficer

Accepted and agreed:

Ip ling, M.5.

Exhibit A; Conflict of Interest Disclosure

Exhibit B: Employee Confidential Information and Invention Assigniment Agreement
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EXHIBIT A
CONFLICT OF INTEREST MSCLOSURE

Consultant does not actively work for any other client in the field of viruses to treat oncologic
disease. However, consultant is currently working with other clients developing products in the field
of oncology, including agents having the potential for broad use in many cancer types. Consultant
also works in a number of other therapeutic fields (e.g., stroke, parasitic and bacterial disease and
their sequelae), including small molecules and with protein-based therapies.

The consultant’s active engagements are listed below:

1. Aeromics Inc

=l

2. Medicines Development for Global Health
. Lanier Biotherapeutics

3
4. Linus Consulting, LLC
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EXHIBIT B

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND
INVENTION ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT
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(@eNeLUX

June 15, 2023

Caroline Jewett
450 Whitegate Road
Newbury Park, CA 91320

Re:  Employment Terms
Dear Caroline:

Grenelux Corporation (the *Company™) is pleased to oller you at-will employment in the position of
Vice President. Quality. on the terms and conditions set forth in this letter agreement (this
“Agreement™).

1. Employment by the Company.

1.1 Start Date. Your employment with the Company shall begin on June 30, 2023 or such
date as otherwise agreed to by you and the Company (such actual date your employment begins,
the “Start Date™).

1.2 Position. Thisis an exempl position, and during your employment with the Company,
you will devote vour best efforts to the business ol the Company and will report Lo the
Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. You represent (o the Company that you
have full authority to accept this position and perform the dutics of the position and that you
are not subject to or a party to any employment agreement, non-competition covenant, or other
agreement that would be breached by, or prohibit you from, exccuting this Agreement and
performing {ully your duties and responsibilities hercunder.

1.3 Waork Location. Your principal place of employment location shall be the Company s
office located in Westlake Village, California. The Company reserves the right to reasonably
require you to perform your duties at places other than your principal place of employment
from time Lo Lime, and to require reasonable business travel. The Company may modify your
job title and duties as it deems necessary and appropriate in light of the Company’s needs and
interests from time Lo time.

2. Compensation.

As an exempt employee, it is anticipated that you will be able to perform your duties within a
time commitment averaging about 4 full-time days per week, although your job dutics may
require that you work additional hours. Because your position is classified as exempt. you will
not be eligible for overtime pay for such additional hours worked and vour compensation will
not {luctuate according to the quantity of work performed.
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2.1 Base Salary. Tor services to be rendered hereunder, vou shall reecive a cument base
salary at the rate of $240,000.00 per vear (the “Base Salary™), subject to standard payroll
deductions and withhaldings and payable in accordance wilh the Company’s regular payrall
schedule.

22  Apnual Bonus, Dwring yvour employment, vou will be eligible for an annual
discretionary bonus with a target amount of up 1o 30% of vour then-current annual Base Salary,
prorated for the number of days employed in a calendar year (the *Annual Bonus™), Whether
vou receive an Annugl Bonus for any given year, and the amount of any such Annual Bonus,
will he determined hy the Board of Directors of the Company andfor its Compensation
Commiltee (the “Board™) in its discretion based upon the achievement of corporate and/or
individual objectives and milestones that are determined in the sole discretion of the Board,
You must continue v be employed through the date the Annual Bonus is paid in order to earn
such bonus,. The Annual Bonus, iT any, shall be paid to you in a lump sum no later than, Muarch
150 of the calendar year ihal follows the performance wear, subject to applicable payroll
deductions and withholdings,

23  Equity. Subject to approval by the Board, the Company will grant vou a new-hire
option to purchase 88,000 shares of common stock of the Compuny; and (i) beginning in the
calendar year after the Starl Date, you will be cligible for an annual discretionary option grant
and other equity awards covering the Company’s common stock which, for any given year, and
the amount of any such grant, will be determined by the Board in its discretion based upon the
achievement of corporate and/or individual objectives and milestones that are determined in the
sole discretion of the Board (individually and collectively, the “Award™), pursuant to the
Company’s 2022 Equity Inccntive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan™). The shares
subject to the Award will vest over four vears of conlinuous service fo the Company, with
twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares subject to the Award vesting on the first-year
anniversary of the Start Date, and the remaining shares vesting in equal monthly installments
over the subsequent thirly-six (36) menths of continuous service therenfier, The terms
(including the excreise price of an option grant) of the Award, as well as all other matters relaled
to the Award, will be governed by and subject lo the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan,
and the Award agreement you will be required to execute.

24  Standard Company Benefits. While employed by the Company, vou will be eligible
(o participaie in the benefits of employment described in the Company's Handbook and/or a
separale summary {pursuanl 1o the lerms and conditions of the benefit plans and applicable
policies), These benefits may be amended from time to time at the sole discrelion ol be

Company.
The Company reserves the right to cancel or change (he benelil plans or programs it offcrs o

its employees at any time. The Company may change your position, duties, work location,
compengation and benefits from time to-time in its discretion.
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2,5  Reasonable Busincss xpenses,

You will be cligible for reimbursement of all reasonable, necessary and documented out-of-
pocket business, entertainment, and travel expenses ineurred by you in connection with the
performance of your dutics hercunder in accordance with the Company’s expense
reimbursement pelicies and procedures.

3. Company Policies.

The employment relationship between the patties shall be governed by the general employment
policies and practices of the Company, except that when the (erms of this Agreement differ
from or are in conllicl wilh the Company’s general employment policies or practices, this
Agreement shall control,

You will be required to sign an acknowledgment that you have read and thal you understand
and will abide by Company rules and policies (including but not limited to the Company’s
Handbook), as adopted or modified by the Company from time to time.

4. Conditions of Offer; At-Will Employment,

This offer is contingent ypon satisfactory background and reference checls and satisfactory proof
of your right to work in the United States. You agree to assisl as needed and to provide any
documentation or information at the Company’s request to meet these conditions.  Such
documentation must be provided to us within three (3) business days of your date ot hire, or
our employment relationship with you may be lerminated,

You are required to disclose to the Company any and all agreements relating to your prior
employment that may alfect vour cligibility to be emploved by the Company or limit the manner
in which vou mayv be employved.

Your employment rclationship is at-will.  Either you or the Company muy terminate the
emplovment relationship at any time, wilh or without causc or advance notice. Tpon
termination of your cmployment for any reason, you shall resign from all positions and
terminate any relationships as an employee, advisor, ollicer or dircetor with the Cempany and
any of its aftiliutes, each effcctive on the date of termination,

5. Outside Activities During Employment.

Except with the prior written consent of the Company”s Chicf Exceutive Officer, or designee,
you agree that, during the term of your employment with the Company, you will not engage in
any other employment, occupation, consulting or other business aclivily dircetly rclated to the
business in which the Compuny is now involved or becomes invelved duving the term of your
employment, nor will you engage in any other activities that conflict with your obligations Lo
the Company. You agree not to acquire, assume ot participate in, dicectly or indivectly, any
position, investmenl or interest known to be adverse or antagomistic to the Company, its
busincss or praspects, financial or otherwise.
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6. Termination; Severance,

6.1  Term and Termination. The term of this Agreement shall be the period commencing
on the Start Date and ending on the date that this Agreement is terminated by either parly
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. You are employed ai-will, meaning thar, subject
to the terms and conditions sel forth hercin, cither the Company or you may terminate your
ernplovment at any time, with or without Cause.

6.2  Cumpensation upon Termination. Tpon the termination of your employment for any
reason, the Company shall pay you all of your acerued and unpaid wages earned through your
last day of employment (the “Separation Date™).

6.3  Imvolumtary Termination Outside of Change in Contral Period. If you are subject
to an Inveluntary Temmination (that does not occur within the Chunge in Contrel Peried (as
defined below)), and provided thal you remain in compliance with the terms of this Agreement
{including the conditions deseribed in Section 6.6 below), the Company shall provide you with
the following benefits (the “Severance Benefits™):

(a)  Payment of Continued Group Health Plan Benefits. 1I'yon arc cligible for and timely
elect continued group health plan coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985 or any state law of similar eflect (“COBRA™) following your
Separation Date, the Company will pay your COBRA group health insurance premiums for you
and vour eligiblc dependents directly to the insurer until the sarliest of (A) the end of the period
immedintely following your Separation Date that is cqual to nine (%) months (the “COBRA
Payment Period”), (B) the expiration of vour eligibility for continuation coverage under
COBRA, or (C) the date when vou become eligible lor substantially equivalent health insurance
coverage in conneclion with new employment or self-employment. TFor purposes of ihis
Yection, references to CORRA premiums shall not include any amounts payable by you under
a Section 125 health care reimburscment plan under the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
if al any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, thal # cannot pay the COBRA
premiums without potentially incuring linancial costs or penalties under applicable law
(including, wilhoul limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then regardless
of whether von elect continued health coverage under COBRA, and in lieu of providing the
COBRA premiums, (he Company will instead pay you on the last day of each remaining month
of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premiums
far that manth, subject to applicable tax withholdings (such amount, the “Special Severance
Payment™), which payments shall contimie wntil the earlier of expiralion of the COBRA
Payment Period or the date when vou become cligible for substantially equivalent health
insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment. On the first
payroll date following the effectiveness of the Scparation Agreement (as diseussed in Section
6.6), the Company will make the first payment to the insurer under this clause (and, in the case
of the Special Severance Payment, such payment will be to you, in a lump sum) equal to the
agaregate amount of payments that (e Company would have paid through such date had such
payments instead commenced on the Separation Date, with the bulanve of (he payments paid
thercafter on the schedule described above. IF you become cligible for coverage under another
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employer’s group health plan, you must immediately notify the Company of such event, and all
payments and obligations under this subscetion ghall cease.

6.4  Tnvoluntary Terminution During Change in Control Period. 1f you are subject 1o
an Involuntary Termination during the Change in Contrel Period, and provided that you remain
in compliance with the terms of this Agreement (including the conditions described in Section
6.6 below), the Company shall provide you with the following benefits (the “CIC Severance
Benefits™):

(1) CIC Severance. The Company shall pay you, a8 severance, the equivalent of nine (9}
manths (the “CIC Severance Period”) of vour Base Salary in effect as of the Separation Date
and your full target annual honus for the calendar vear in which the Separation Date oceurs,
gubject to standard payroll deductions and withboldings (the “CIC Severanee™). The CIC
Severance will be paid in a lump sum on the first regularly-scheduled payrell date after your
Scparation from Service (as defined in Section 7.6), provided the Separation Agreement has
become effective.

(h)  Payment of Continued Group Health Plan Benefits. If you are eligible for and timely
elect continued group health plan coverage under COBRA following yvour Scparation Date, the
Company will pay your COBRA group health insurance premiums for you and your eligible
dependents directly to the insurer until the earliest of (A) the end of the period immediately
following your Separation Date that is equal (0 nine {9) months (the “CIC COBRA Paymeni
Periad™), (B) the expiration of your elipibility for eontinuation coverage under COBRA, or
{C) the date when you hecome eligible for substanlially equivalent health insurance coverage
in connection with new employment or self-employment. For purposes of this Section,
relerences to COBRA premiums shall not include any amounts payable by wou under a
Section 125 heaith care reimbursement plan under the Clode. Norwithstanding the foregoing, if
at any time the Company determines, in its sole diseretion, thal it caonot pay the COBRA
premiums without potentially incurring {inancial costs or penalties under applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public [ealth Service Act), then regardless
of whether you elect continued health coverage under COBRA, and in lien of providing the
COBRA premiums, (he Company will instead pay vou on the last day of each remaining month
ol the CLC COBRA. Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA
premiums for that month, subject to applicable tax withholdings (such amount, the “Spevial
Severance Payment™), which payments shall continue until the eurlier of cxpiration of the CIC
COBRA Payment Period or the daie when you become cligible for substantially equivalent
health insurance coverape in connection with new employment or self~employment, On the
(irst payroll date following the effectiveness of the Separation Agroement, the Company will
malke the first payment to the insurer under this clause (and, in the case of the Special Severance
Payment, such payment will be to you, in a lump sum) eyual to the aggregate amount of
payments that the Cotnpany would have paid through such date had such payments instead
caommenced on (he Separation Date, with the balance of the puyments paid thereaficr on the
schedule described above. 1f you become eligible for coverage under another employer’s group
health plan, you must immediately notify the Company of such event, and all payments and
obligaticns under this subsection shall cease.
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Far the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall you be entitled to benefits under both Scetion 6.3
and this Section 6.4, If you are elipible for benefits under both Scetion 6,3 and this Section 6.4,
vou shall receive the benefits set forth in this Scetion 6.4 and such benefits shall be reduced by
any benefits previously provided to you under Section 6.3.

6.5 Termination for Cause; Death or Disability. If the Company fcrminates your
employment for Cause, upon dissolution or cessation of the Company, or upon your death or
disability, then (a) you will no longer vest in the Award, (b) all payments ol compensation by
the Compuny to you hereunder will terminate immedialely {cxcopt as to amounts already
earncd), and (c) you will not be entitled. {o any Scverance Benefits or CIC Severance Benefits,

6.6  Conditions tn Receipt of Severance Benefits and CIC Scverance Benefits. The
receipt of the Severance Bencfits and CIC Severance Benefits will be subjeet to you signing
and not revoking a separation agreement and general relcase of claims in a form reasonubly
satisfactory to the Company (the “Separation Agreement”) by no later than the sixticth (60th)
day afler the Scparation Date (“Release Deadline™). No Severance Benefits or CIC Severance
Benefits will be paid or provided until the Scparation Agreement becomes effective. You shall
also resign from all pasitions and terminate any relationships as an cmployee, advisor, officer
of dircetor with the Company and any of its affiliates, each effective on the Separation Date.

. Definitions.

7.1  Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” for termination means: ()
commission of any felony or crime involving dishonesty; (h) participation in uny fraud against
the Company; (¢) matcrial breach of your duties to the Company; (d) persistent unsatisfactory
performance of job duties afier wrilten notice from the Board or Chief Executive Ollicer and
an opportunity to cure (if deemed curable by the Company in its sole discretion); (e) intentional
damage 1o any property of the Company; (1) misconduct, or other violation of Compuny policy
that causes harm; {g) breach of this Agreement, the Confidentiality Agrocmont (as defined
below), or any other written agreement with the Company; or (h) canduct by you which in the
good faith and reasonable determination of the Board or Chief Executive Oflicer demonstrates
gross unfilness o scrve,

72 Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Contral™ shall
have the meaning as set forth in the Company’s 2022 Equity Incentive Plan.

7.3  Change in Control Period. For purpuses ol lhis Agreoment, the “Change in Control
Period” means the period commencing three (3) months prior to a Change in Control and
ending eighleen (18) months following a Change in Control.

7.4 Code. Tor purposes of this Agreement, “Code” means Lhe U.S. Intornal Revenue Code
of 1986 (as it has been and may be amended [rom time 1o time) and any regulations and
guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated from time to lime thercunder and
any state law of similar cffect,
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75  Involuntary Termination. Tor purposes of this Agreement, “Involuntary
Termination” means 4 termination of yvour employment with the Compuny pursuant to cither
(i) a termination initiated by the Company without Cause, and provided such termination
constitutes a Separation from Service, An lnvoluntary Termination does not include any other
termination of your cinployment, including a termination due 1 your death or disability.

7.6  Separation from Service, For purposes of this Agreement, “Separation from Serviee”
tneans a “separation from service”, as defined under Trcasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).

8. Proprietury Information Obligations,

As a conditien of your cmployment with the Company, you shull execute and continue to abids
by the Company’s standard form of Confidential Information and Tnvention Assignment
Agreement (the “Confidentiality Agreement™), attached as Exhibit A, [n your wark for the
Company, you will be expected not to ust or disclose any confidential information, including
trade secrets, of any former employcr or other person to whom you have an obligation of
confidentiality. Rather, vou will he expected to use only lhat information which is generally
lnown and used by persons wilh laining and experience comparable to your own, which is
common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain, or which is
otherwise provided or developed by the Company, You agree thai you will not bring onlo
Company premises any unpublished documents or property belonging to any former employer
or other person to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. You also agree to honor all
ohligations to former employcrs during your employment with the Company. You hereby
represent that you have disclosed to the Company any contract you have signed that may restrict
your activities on behalf of the Company.

Y, Section 409A.

I1is intended that all of the severance benelits and other payments payable under this Agreement
satisfy, to the greatest exlent possible, the exemptions from the application of Code Seetion
409A provided under Treasury Regulations Sections 1.409A 1(b)4), 1.409A 1(b)(5) and
1.409A 1(h)(9), and this Agreement will be construed to the greatest exlent possible as
consistenl with those provisions, and to the extent not so excmpt, this Agreement (and any
definitions hereunder) will be conslrued in a manner that complies with Section 409A, For all
purposes of Code Section 409A (ineluding, without limitation, for purposes of Treasy
Regulations Sections 1,409A 2(b}(2)(1) and (iii)), your right to receive any installment payments
under this Agreement (whether scverance payments, reimbursemenis or otherwisc) shall be
treated us a right to receive a series of separate payments and, accordingly. each installment
payment hereunder shall at all limes be considered a separate and distinet payment,
Notwithstanding any provision to the eontrary in this Agreement, if you ate deemed by the
Company at the time af vour Separation from Scrvice to be a “specified employee” for purposcs
of Code Section 409A(a){2)(BXi), and if any of the payments upon Separation from Service set
forth herein and/or imder any other agreement with the Company are deemed to be “deferred
compensation,” then to the extent delayed commencement of any portion of such payments is
required in order lo avoid a prohibited distribution under Code Scetion 409A () 2)(3)(i) and
the related adverse taxation under Seclion 4094, such payments shall not be provided to you
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priot to the earliest of (i) the first date following expiration of the six-month period following
the dale of your Separation from Service with the Company, (ii) the date of vour death or {iii)
such earlier date as permitted under Scetion 409A without the imposition of adversc taxation.
Upon the first busincss day following the expiration of such applicable Code Section
409A{a)2)BXi) peried, all paymenls deferred pursuant to this Paragraph shall be paid in a
lump sum to you, and any remaining payments due shall be paid as otherwise provided herein
or in the applicable agreement. Wo interesi shall be due on any amounts so deferred. I the
severance benefits aye not covered by one or more exemptions from the application of Section
409 A and the Release Deadiine accurs in the calendar vear following the calendar year of your
Separation from Service, the Separation Agreement will not be deemed effective any carlier
than the Release Dieadline for purposss of determining the liming of provision of any severance
benefits.

10. Section 208G,

If any payment or benefit you will or may receive from the Company or otherwise (a “280G
Payment™) would (1) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of
the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject 1o the excisc tax imposed by Section 4999 of
the Code (the “Excise Tax™), then any such 280G Paywment pursuant Lo this Agreement of
otherwise {a “Payment™) shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced Ampount”
shall be cither (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no pottion of the
Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax or (y) the largest portion, up to and
including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount (i.c., the amount determined by clause
(x) or by elause (v)), after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment
taxes, income taxcs, and the Fxcise Tax {all compuled at the highest applicable marginal rate),
results i vour receipt, on an aller-tax basis, of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding
that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject 1o the Excise Tax. Tfa reduction in a
Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sontence and the Reduced Amount is determined
pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the reduction shall oceur in the manner (the
“Reduction Method™) that resulis in the greatest ceconomic benefit for you. If more than one
method of reduction will result in the game economic benefit, the ilems so reduced will he
reduced pro rata (the “Pro Rata Reduction Method™),

Notwithstanding the forepoing, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method
would result in any portion of the Payment being subject to taxes pursuant Lo Section 4094 that
would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section 4094, then the Reduction Methad
and/or (he Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the casc may be, shall be modified so as to aveid the
impogition of taxes pursuunt to Scetion 4094 as follows: {A) as a first priority, the modification
shall preserve to the grentest extent possible, (he greatest economic benefit for you as
determined on an after-tax basis; (B) as a sceond priotity, Payments thal are contingent on fiture
events (e.g., being lerminated without Cause), shall be reduced (or climinated) befare Payments
that are not contingent on future events; and (C} as a third priority, Payments that ave “dellrred
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compensation™ within the meaning of Section 409A shall be reduced (or eliminated) before
Pavments that are not deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 4094,

Unlcss you and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm, the accounting firm
engaged by the Company for generul tax compliunce purposes as of the day prior to the offective
dale of (he change in control transaction friggering the Payment shall perform the foregoing
caleulations. Tf the accounting firm so engaged by the Company is serving as accountant ar
auditor for the individual, cutity or group effecting the change in control fransaction, the
Company shall appoint a nationally recognized accounting firm to make the determinations
required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations
by such aceounting firm required to be made hereunder. The Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the accounting [irm engaged 1o make the delerminations hereunder
1o provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to you and the
Compeny within fifteen (15) calendar days after the dule on which your right fo a 280 Payment
becomes reasonably likely to occur (if requested at that time by you or the Company) or such
ather reasonable time as requested by you or the Company.

Ifyou receive a Payment for which the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clavse {x)
of the first paragraph of this Section and the Intermal Revenue Serviee determines thereafter
(hat some portion of the Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, you shall promptly return to the
Company a sufficient amount of the Payment (aller reduction pursuant to clause (x) of the firar
paragraph of this Scction so that no portion of the remaining Payment is subject to the Dxcise
Tax). For the avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amounl wus delermined pursuant to clause
(v) in the first paragraph ol this Scetion, you shall have no obligation to return any portion of
the Payment pursuant to the preceding senience.

11. Arbitration of All Disputes,

113 Agreement to Arbitrate. To ensure the timely and economical resolurion of dispnes
that may arise between you and the Company, both you and the Company mutally agres that
pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1-16, and to the fullest extent permitred by
applicable law, you and the Company will submit solely to final, binding and conlidential
arhitration any and 4ll dispules, claims, or causcs of action arising from or relating to: (i) the
negolialion, exceution, interpretation, performance, breach or enforcement of this Agreement;
or (if) your employment with the Company (including but not limited to all statutory claims);
or (iii) the (erminalion of your employment with the Company (including but net limited to all
gtatutory clzims). BY AGREEING TO TIIIS ARBITRATION PROCEDURE, BOTH
YOU AND THE COMPANY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO RESOLVE ANY SUCH
DISPUTES THROUGH A TRIAL BY JURY OR JUDGE OR THROUGH AN
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING.

11.2  Arhitrator Authority. The arbitrator shall have (he sole and cxelusive authority to
determine whether o dispule, claim or causc of action iz subject to arbitration under this Section
and to determine any procedural questions which grow out of such disputes, claims or causes
of action and bear on their final disposition.
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11.3 Individual Capacity Only. All claims, disputes, or causes of action under this Section,
whether by you or the Company, must be brought solely in an individuval eapacity, and shall not
he brought as a plaintiff (or claimant) or class member in any purported class or representative
proceeding, nor joined or consclidaied with the claims of any other person or entity.  The
arbitrator may not eonsolidate the claims of more than one person or entity, and may not preside
over any form ol representalive or class proceeding. To the exient thal the preceding senlences
in this Section are found to violate applicable law or are otherwise found unenforeeable, any
claim{s} alleged or brought on behalf’ of 4 class shall proceed in a court of law rather than by
arbitration,

1.4 Arbitration Process. Any arbitration procceding under this Scotion shall be presided
over by a single arbitrator and conducted by JAMS in Westlake Village, CA, or as otherwise
agreed (0 by vou and the Company, under the then applicable JAMS rules for the resolution of
employment  disputes  {available upon request and also  currently  available
at hitp:/www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/). You and the Compuny bolth have
the right to be represented by legal counsel at any arbitration proceeding, at each party”s own
expense, The arbitrator shall: (i) have the authority to compel adequate discovery for the
resolution of the dispute; (ii) issuc & written arbitralion declsion, to include the arbitrator’s
essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award; and (iii) be anthorized to award
amy or all remedies thal you or the Company would be entilled to seek in a courl of law. The
Company shall pay all JAMS arbitration fees in excess of the amount of court fees that would
be required of you il the dispute were decided in a court of Jaw.

11.5 Excluded Claims. This Section shall not apply to any action or ¢laim that cannot be
subject to mandatory arbitration as a matter of law, including, without limitation, sexual assanlt
disputes and sexual harassment disputes as defined in the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), claims
broughl pursuant to the California Private Attorneyvs Goneral Act of 2004, as amended, the
California Fair Fmployment and Housing Act, as amended, and the California Labor Code, as
amended 1o the exlent such claims are nol permilted by applicable law {o be submilted 1o
mandatory arbitration and are not preempted by the FAA (collectively, the *Excluded Claims'™).
Tnn the event you intend to bring multiple claims, including one of the Excluded Claims listed
above, the Excluded Claims may be filed with a court, while any other claims will remain
subject to mandatory arbitration.

12, General Provisions.

This Agreement, topether with the Confidentialiny Agreement, constitutes the entire apreement
between you and the Company with regard to this subject matter and is the complete, final, and
exclusive cmbodiment of the pactics’ apreoment with regard to this subjeet matter.  This
Agpreement. is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral,
other than those expressly conlained herein, and it supersedes any other such promises,
wartantics or representations, including that certain consuliing agreement with you, dated April
. 2021, as may have been amended from time to time. Modifications or amendments to this
Agreement, other than those changes expressly reserved io the Company’s discretion in this
letter, must be made in a written agreement signed by you and the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, or designee, Whenever possible, each provision of this Apreoment will be inforpreted
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in such manner as to be effective und valid under applicable law, bul if any provision of this
Apreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable
law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceabilily will not atfect any
other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement will be reformed, construed and
enforced in such jurisdiction to the extent possible in keeping with the intent of the parties. Any
waiver of any breach ol any provisions of this Agrcement must be in writing to be effective,
and it shall not thereby be deemed to have waivad any preceding or succeeding breach of the
same or anv other provision of this Agreement. This Agreement ig intended to bind and imire
to the benefit of and be enforceable by you and the Company, and their respective successors,
assigns, heirs, executors and administrators. The Company may freely assign this Agreement,
withoul your prior written consent.  You may not assign any of your duties hereunder and you
may not assign any of your rights hereunder without the written consent of the Company. This
Agresment shall become ellective as of the Start Date and shall terminate upen your termination
of employment with the Company. The obligations as forth under Sections 6-12 will survive
the termination of this Agreement, All guestions concerning the construction, validity and
interpretation of this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of California.

[Signature page te follow]

This offer is subject 1o satisfactory proof of your identity and right to work in the United States and
other applicable pre-employment screenings.
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We look forward to having you join Genelux, 1f vou have any questions about this Agreement, please
do not hesitate to call me.

Best regards,
GENELUX CORPORATION

JIaD. /J/u&.

Thomas 3. Zi
President and Chicl Exceutive Officer

Accepted and agreed:

; ||"l : ’r- [J‘ & )
e o — llf—"' -
£ Spk g Lol TR

Caroline Jewell I

Attachment: Emplovee Conlidential Information and Invention Assignment Agresment
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Trer Cali fornia Emplayess

GENELUX CORPORATION
EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND INVENTIONS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

In consideration of my emplovment or continued employment by Genelux Corporation (“Ewployer™), and its subsidiaties,
parents, alfiliates, soccessors and assigns (logether with Bmployer, “Company’™”), the compensation paid to me now and
during my employment with Company, and Company’s agreement to provide me with nocess to its Confidential Information
(as defined below), T enter into this Emplayee Confidential [nformation and Inventions Assignmoent Agreement with
Employer (the “Agreement™). Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein,
Employer (on behalt of itself and Company) and T apree as follows:

1. Confidential Informalion Protections.

1.1 Recognition of Company’s Rights; Nondisclosure, My employment by Company creates a relationship
of confidence and trust with respect to Confidentisl Information (a2 defined below) and Company has a protectable interest
in the Confidential Information. At all imes during and afier my employment, [ will hald in confidence and will not disclose,
use, lecture upon, or publish any Confidential Information, except as required in conneetion with my work for Company,
or as approved by an officer of Company. 1 will obtain written approval by an officer of Company before I lecture on or
submit for publication any material (written, oral, or otherwise) that discloses snd‘or incorporates eny Confidential
Information, T will take all reasonable precautions to prevent the disclosure of Confidential Information. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, pursnant o 18 U.S.C. Section 1833(b), I will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federnl or state
trade seerct law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: {1) i3 made in confidence o a federal, state, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to an aitorney, and solely for the purpose of reporting ot investigating a suspected
violaticn of law; or (2) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other procesding, il such [iling is
made under seal. I agree that Coropany information or docmmentatton to which I have access during my employmmert,
regardless of whether it containg Contidential Information, is the property of Company and cannot be downloaded or
refained for my persenal use or for any use that is oulside the scope of my duties for Company.

1.2 Confldential Information. “Confidential Informetion” means any and all confidential knowledge or datn of
Company, and includes any confidential knowledge ot data that Compuny has teveived, or receives In the future, from third
parties that Company has agreed to treat ps confidential and to use for only certain limited purposes. By way of illustration
but not limitation, Confidential Tnformation includes (a) trade secrets, inventions, ideas, processes, formulas, sollware in -
source or object code, data, technology, know-how, designs and techniaues, and any other work produet of any nature, and
all Tntellectual Property Rights (defined below) in all of the foregoing (collectively, “Iavemtions™), including all Company
Inventions {defined in Section 2.1); (b) information regarding research, development, new products, business and
aperational plang, budgets, unpublished financial slatements and projections, costs, marging, discounts, credit terms, pricing,
queting procedurey, future plans and stralegies, capital-raisiog plan, inlemal services, suppliers aud supplier information;
{e) information about customers and potential customers of Company, including customer lists, names, representatives, their
needs or desires with respect to the types of products or services offered by Company, and other non-public information;
(d) information about Company’s business partuers and their services, including names, representatives, proposals, hids,
contracts, and the prodieis and services they provide; () informalion regarding personnel, employes lists, compeangation,
and employee skills; and (f) amy other non-public information that a competitor of Company could use to Company’s
compeiitive disadvantage, However, Company agrees that Iam free [o use information, that T knew prior to my employment
with Company or that is, at the time of use, generally known in the trade or industry through no breach of this Agreement
by me. Company further agrees that this Apreement does not limit my right to disenss my employment or discuss or disclosc
information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harsesment or discrimination or any other conduct that T have
reason to believe i2 unlowhil, or report possible violations of law or regulation with any federal, state or local government
agency, or to discuss the terms and conditions of my employment with others to the extent expressly permitted by Section
7 of the National Labor Relations Act, or to the extent that such disclosure is protected nnder the applicable provisions of
law or regulation, including but not limited to “whistleblower™ statutes or other similar provisions that protect such
disclosure, to the extent any such rights are ot permitted by applicable law to be the subject of nondisclosure obligations.

Emplayes Conlidonliol lnformutivn and mvendions Assignmenl Agrecment
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1.3 Term of Nondisclosure Restrictions. T will only use or disclose Confidential Information as provided in this
Section 1 and | agree that the restrictions in Section 1.1 are intendzd to continue indcTinitely, even aller my employment by
Company ends. Howeyer, if a time limitation on my obligation not to use or disclose Confidential Information is required
under applicable law, and the Agreement or its restiiction(s) cannot otherwise be enfarced, Company and I agree that the
two year period afier the date my cmployment cnds will be the tlime limitatdon relevant to the contested restriction; provided,
however, that my obligation not to disclose or use wadz secrets that are protected without time limitation under appliceble
law shall continue indefinitely,

1.4 No Improper Use of Information of Prior Employers and Others, During my employment by Company, T
will not impreperly use or disclose confidential information or trade secrets, if any, of any former cmployer or any other
pemson to whom I have an oblipation of confidentiality, and I will not bring onte Company’s premises any unpublished
documents or property belonging to a former emplover or any other person to whom T have an obligation of cunfidentiality
unless that former employer or pergon has consented in writdng,

2, Assignments of Inventions.

2.1 Definitions. The term (v} “Futellectual Property Rights™ means all past, present and future rights of the following
types, which may exist or be created under the laws of any jurisdiction in the world: trade secrets, Copyrights, trademark
and trade name rights, iask work rights, patents and industrin} property, and all proprictury rights in technology or works
of authership (including, in each case, any application for any such rights, all rights to priority, and any rights to apply for
any such rights, as well os all rights to pursue remedies for infringement or violation of any such rights); (b} “Copyright’
means the exclusive legal ripht to reproduce, perform, display, distribute and make derivative works of a work of anthorship
{for example, a |iterary, musical, or artistic work} recognized by the laws of any jurizdiction in the world; (&) " Morwl Rights”
means all patemily, mlegrily, disclosure, withdrawal, special and similar rights recognized by the laws of any jutisdiction
in the world, and (d) “Compeny Inventions™ means any and all Inventions {and all Intellectual Property Rights related to
Inventions) that are made, conceived, develeped, preparcd, produced, authored, edited, amended, reduced to practice, or
learned or set out in any tangible medinm of expression or otherwise creared, in whole or in part, by me, either alone ar with
others, during my employment by Company, and all printed, physical, and eleelronic copies, and other tangible
embodiments of Inventdons,

2.2 California Limited Exclusion Notifieation,

(a) T acknowledge that California Labor Code section 2870(a) provides that I cannot be required
to agsign fo Company any Inventlon that I develop entively on my own time withont using Company’s equipment,
supplies, facilities or trade secret information, except for Inventions that either (i) relate at the time of conceptlon or
reduction to practice to Company’s business, or actual or demonsirably anticipated research or development, or {ii)
result from any work performed by me for Company (*Nonassignable Tnvenfions™).

(b}  Te the exteni that a provision in this Agreement purports to require me to assign a
Nonassignable Invention to Company, the provision is against the public policy of the state of California and Is
unenforceable,

(e} This Kmited exclusion does not apply te any patent or Tnvention covered by a contract
between Company amd the United Statey or any of its agencies requiring full title to such patent or Invention to be
in the United States.

2.3 Prior Inventioms,

{(a) On the signature page fo this Agreement is a list describing any Inventions that (i) are owned by
me or in which [ have an inlerest and (hal were made or acquired by me prior to nry date of first employment by Company,
and {it) may relate to Company’s business or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, and (iii) avc not
to be assigned to Company (“Prior Inventions™). 17 no such list is attached, I represent and warrunt that no Inventions that
would be classified as Prior Inventions exist as of the date of this Agreement,

(b} T agree that it T use any Prior Inventions and/or Nonassignable Inventions in the scope of my
employment, or if I include any Prior Inventions and/or Nonassignable Inventions in any product or service of Company,

Emplopes Confidentizl Information and Inyeations Assignment Agreament
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or if my rights in any Prior Inventions and/or any Nonassignable Inventions may block or interfere with, or may olberwise
be requirad for, the exercise by Company of any rights nssigned to Company under this Agreement {each, 4 “License
Event™), (1) I will immediately notify Company in writing, and (il) unless Company and [ agree otherwise in writing, [
hereby grant to Company a non-exclusive, perpewmal, transferable, fully-paid, royalty-free, irrevocable, worldwide liconse,
with rights to sublicense through multiple levels of sublicensees, to reproduce, make derivative works of, disttibute, publicly
perform, and publicly display in any form or medium {whether now known ot later developed), male, have made, use, sell,
import, offer for sale, and cxercise any and all present or fulnre rights in, such Prior Inventions and/or Nonassignable
Inventions. To the extent that any third parties have any rights in or to any Fricr Inventions or any Nonassignable Inventions,
1 represent and warrant that such third party or parties have validly and imrevocably granicd 1o me the right to grant the
license stated above. For purposes of this paragraph, “Prier Taventions” inclndes any Inventions that would be classified
a3 Prior Inventions, whether or not they are listed on the signature page 1o this Agreement.

2.4 Assignment of Company Inventions, I hereby assipn to BEmplover all my right, title, and inferest in and to any
and all Company Inventions other than Nonassignable Inventions and agree that such assigniment includes an assignment
of all Motal Rights, To the cutent such Moral Righis cannol be assigmed to Employer and t the extent the following is
allowed by the laws in any country where Moral Rights exist, I hereby unconditionally and ircevoecably waive the
entorcement of such Moral Rights, and all elaims and causes of action of any kind against Employer or relaled to Employer’s
customers, with respect to such rights. 1 further agree that neither my successors-in-interest nor legal heirs retain any Moral
Riglts in any Company Inventions. Nothing contained in this Agreement may be construed to teduce or limit Company’s
righty, title, or interest in any Company Inventions so as to be less in any respect than that Company would have had in the
absence of this Agreement,

2.5 Obligation to Keep Company Informed. During my employment by Company, T will promptly and fully
disclose to Compatty in writing all Inventions that 1 author, concelve, ot reduce fo practice, either alone or joimly with
others, Al the time of cach disclosurc, T will advise Company in wriling of any Inventions that T believe constitute
Nonassignable Inventions; and I will at that time provide 10 Company in writing all evidence necessary to substantiate my
belief, Subject to Ssetion 2.3(h), Company pprees to keep in confidenee, not use for any purpose, and nod disclose to third
parties without my consent, any confidential information relating to Monassignable Inventions that I disclose in writing to
Company.

2.6 Government or Third Party. T agree that, as directed by Company, I will assign to a third party, including
without limitation the United States, all my right, title, and interest in and to any particular Company Invention,

2.7 Ownership of Work Product. T acknowledge that all original works of authorship that are made by me (solely
or jointly with others) within the scope of my employraent and that are protectable by Copyright are “worls made for hire,”
parsuant o Uniwd Stales Copyright Act {17 U.8.C,, Section 101},

2.8 Enforcement of Intellectwal Property Rights and Asslstance, I will assist Company, in every way Company
requiests, including signing, verifying and delivering any documends and performing any other acts, Lo oblain and enforee
United States and foreign Intellectunl Property Rights and Moral Rights relating to Company Inventions in any jurisdictions
in the world. My obligation to assist Company with respect to Intellectual Property Rights telating to Company Tnventions
will continue beyond the termination of my employment, but Company will compensate me at a reasonable rate after such
termination for the time ] actually spend on such assistance. If Company is unable for any reason, efier reasonable effort,
to sceuwre my signature on any document nceded in commestion with the actions specified in this paragraph, T hereby
irrevocably designate and appoint Employer and its duly authorized officers and ngents as my agent and attorney in fact,
which appointment is coupled with an interest, to act for and on my behalf to ecxeeute, verify and file any such documents
and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the purposes of this Agreement with the same legal force and effect as
if executed by me, Therehy waive and quitclaim to Company any and all claims, of any nature whatseever, which I now ur
may hereafter have for infringement of any Inteltectual Property Rights assigned to Employer under this Agreement.

2.9 Toecorporation of Software Code. T agrec not to incorporale inlo any Invenlions, including any Company
software, or otherwise deliver to Company, any software code licensed under the GNU General Public License, Lesser
General Public Licenss, orany other license that, by ita kerms, requires or condilions (he use or distribution of such code on
the disclosure, licensing, or distribution of any source code owned or licensed by Compaily, except i stiict compliance
with Company’s policies regarding the uge of such software of as directed by Company.

Hrmlayes Confidential Infermation and bryentions Assignment Agroemaont
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3. Rerords. Tapree to keep and maintain adequate and current records (in the form of notes, sketches, drawings and in
any other form that is required by Company) of all Confidential Intonmetion developed by me and all Company Invenlions
mude by me during the period of my employment at Company, which records will be available to and remain the sole
property of Employer at all times.

4. Tty of Loyalty During Finployment, During my employment by Company, T will not, without Company’s written
comsent, directly or indivectly engage in any employment or business activity that is direcily ot indirectly competitive with,
or would otherwise conflict with, my employment by Company.

5. No Solicitation of Employees, Consultants or Contractors. To the extent permitted by applicable law, I agree that
during my employment and for the one year period after the date my employment ends for any reason, including but not
Hmited 1o voluntary termination by me or involuntary termination by Company, I will not, as an officer, director, employee,
consultant, owner, partner, or in any other capacity, sither direetly or through others (except on behalt' of Company) solicit,
induce, encourape any person known lo me to be an employee, consultant, or independent contractor of Company to
terminate hig, her or its relationship with Company.

%, Reasonableness of Restrictions, [ haveread this entire Agrecment and understand it. I egree that (a) this Apreement
does not prevent me from earting a living of pursuing my careet, and (1) the restrictions contained in this Agreement are
reasonable, proper, atd neceasitated by Company’s legitimate husiness inferests. T represenl and agree that T am entering
into this Agreement freely, with knowledge of its contents and the intent to be bound by its termis. 1f a court finds this
Agresment, or any of it restrictions, are ambignous, unenforceable, or invalld, Company and T agree that the court will read
the Agreement as a whole and interpret such restriction(s) to be enforceable and valid to the maximuom extent allowed by
Iaw. I the cowt declines to enforee this Agreement in the manner provided in this Section and/or Section 12.2, Company
and T agree that this Agreement will be antomalically modified to provide Company with the maximum protection of its
business itterests allowed by law, and 1 agree to be bound by this Agreement as modified.

7. No Conflicting Agreement or Obiigation. Trepresent that my performance of all the wrms of this Agreement and as
an employee of Company doas not and will not breach any agreement to keep in confidence information acquired by me it
contidence or in trust prior to my employment by Company. I have not entered into, and T agree T will not enter into, any
written or oral agreement in conflict with this Agreement.

8. Return of Company Property. When I cease to be employed by Company, 1 will deliver to Company any and all
muderials, together with all copies thereof, contsining or disclosing any Company Invenfions, or Confidential Information,
1 will not copy, delete, or altec any information contained wpon my Company computer or Company equipment before T
relurn it to Company. In addition, il Thave used any porsonal compuler, server, or e-mail system to receive, store, review,
prepars of transmit any Company information, including but not limited to, Confidential Infotmation, 1 agres to provide
Company with a computer-useable copy of all such information and then permancntly delete such infurmation from those
systems; and [ agree to provide Company access to my system as reasonably requested to verify that the necessary copying
and/or deletion i3 completed. 1 turther agree that any property situated on Company™s premises and owned by Company,
including disks and other storage media, filing cabinets or other work aress, is subject to inspection by Company’s personnel
at any time during my employment, with ot without notice. Prior to leaving, T hereby agree to: provide Company any and
all information needed to access any Company property or information retumed or required te be returned pursuant to this
paragraph, including withont limitation any login, password, and account information; cooperate with Company in attending
an exit intervisw; and complete and sipgn Company’s terminabion staterent i required to do so by Company.

9. Legal and Equitable Remedies. I agree that (a) it may be impossible to assess the damages coused by my viclation
of this Apreement ur any of ily terms, (b} any threatened or actual violation of this Agreement or any of its terms will
congtitute immediate and irreparable injury 1o Company, and {¢) Company will have the right to enforce this Agreement by
injuneiion, specific performance or other cquitable relicl, without bond and without prejudice to any other rights and
remedies that Company may have for a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement. If Company enforces this Agresment
through a court order, T agree that the restrictions of Section 5 will remain in offect for a period of 12 months from the
effective date of the order enforcing the Agreement,

Employes Cenfidentizl Information and Invetlon: Assigrment Agrecment
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10, Notices. Any nofices required or permitted under this Agreement will be given to Company at its headquarters location
at the time nolice is given, labeled “Altention Chiel Executive Officer,” and to me at my address as listed on Comapany
payroll, or at such other address as Company or L may designate by written notice to the other. Notice will be effictive
upon receipt or refusal of delivery, TF delivered by certificd or registered madl, notice will be considered to have been given
five business days after it was mailed, as evidenced by the postmatk. 1f delivered by courier or express mail service, notice
will be eansidered to have been given on the delivery date reflected by the courier or express mail service receipt,

11. Publication of This Agreement to Snbsequent Emplover or Business Assoclates of Employee. If | am offered
employment, or the opporfunity to enter into any business venture ot ownet, pariner, consultant or other capacity, while the
restrictions in Scetion 5 of this Agreement arc in effect, I agree to inform my potential employer, partner, co-owner and/or
others involved in managing the business | have an opporfunity to be associated with, of my obligations under this
Agreement and to provide such person or persons with 4 copy of this Apresment, I agree to inform Company of all
employment and business ventures which I enter into while the resirictions described in Section 5 of this Agreement are in
effect and I anthorize Company to provide copics of this Agrecment to my cmployer, partner, co-owner and/or others
involved in managing the business I have an opporfunity to be associated with and to make such persons aware of my
obligations under this Agreement.

12, General Provisions.

12,1 Governing Law; Consent te Personal Jurisdiction. This Agreement will he governed by and construed
according to the laws of the State of California without regard to any conflict of lawe principles that would require the
application of the laws of a different jurisdiction. I expressly consent to the personal jurisdiction and veme of the state and
federal courts Jocated in California For any lawsuil Fled thete against me by Company arising from or related to this
Agreement,

122 Sevorability. IT any pocion of this Agreement is, for any reason, held iy be invalid, illegal or unenforceable,
such invalidity, illegality or imenforceability will not affect the other provisions of this Agrecment, and this Agreement will
be construed as if such provision had never been contained in this Agreement. If any portion of this Agreement is, for any
reason, held (o be excessively broad as to duraiion, peographical scope, activity or subject, it will be construed by Imiting
and reducing it, so as 0 be enforceable to the extent allowed by the then applicable law.

12,3 Successors and Assigns. This Agreoment is for my benefit and the benefit of Company and its and their
successors, assigns, parent corporations, subsidiaries, affilintes, end purchasers, and will be binding npon my heirs,
sxeeutors, administrators and other legal represcniatives,

12.4 Survival, Thiz Agreement will survive the termination of my employment, regardless of the renson, and the
assignment of this Agresment by Company to any successor in interest or othor assignee.

(2.5 Employment At-Will. T understand and agree that nothing in this Agreement will change my at-will
employment status or confer any right with respect o centinuation of employment by Company, nor will it interfore in any
wity with my right or Compeany’s right to lermmate my emplovment at any time, with or without cause or advansce notice.

12.6 Waiver. No waiver by Company of any breach of this Agreement will be o waiver of any proceding or
succceding breach, No waiver by Company of any right under this Apreement will be construed as a waiver of any other
right, Company will not be required to give notice to enforce strict adherence to all terms of this Agreement.

{27 Expart. Tagree nol Lo export, reexpord, or (ransler, dircotly or indirectly, any U.S. teclmical data acquired from
Company or any produets whilizing such data, in violavion of the United States export laws of regulations,

12.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be execuled in two or more counlerparts, cach of which will be deemed
an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument, Counterparts may be delivered via
facsimile, electronic mail (inchuding pdf or any clectronic signelure complying with the U.8. federal ESIGN Act of 2000,
Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable law) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered
will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and olfetive for all purposes.

Employes Confidential Information and Mvemtions Assipnment Agresmeat
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12,9 Advice of Counsel. I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT, IN EXECUTING TIIIS AGREEMENT, 1 HAVE HAD
THE OPFORTUNITY TO SEEK THE ADVICE OF INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, AND I HAVE READ
AND UNDERSTOQOD ALL OF THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT
WILL NOT BE CONSTRUED AGAINST ANY PARTY BY REASON OF THE DRAFTING OR PREPARATION
Or THIS AGREEMENT.

12,10 Entire Agreament. The obligations in Sections 1 and 2 {except Section 2.2 and Section 2.7, in cach case,
with respect to a consulting relationship} of this Agreeinent will apply to any time during which I wae previously engaged,
or am in the foture engaged, by Company as a consuliant, employee or other service provider if no other agreement governs.
nondisclosure and assignment of inventions during such period. This Agresment is the fnal, complete and exclusive
agteement of the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes and merges all prior discussions
between us, provided, however, if, prior to execution of this Agreement, Company and T wore parties to any agreement
regarding 1he subject matter hereof, that agreement will bo superseded by this Agreement prospectively only. No
modification of or amendment to this Apreement will be effective unless in wtiting and signed by the party tu be charped.
Any subsequent change or changes in my duties, salary or compensation will not affect the validity or scope of thiy
Agreement.

[Signatures to follow on next page)
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For California Employees
This Agreement will be effective as of the date signed by the Employee below.

EMPLOYER: Genelux Corporation EMPLOYEE:

(Signature) P

i "-:- s A & R b
.h “ vz g fe { G R e ,f—l'\ 2 *-.—,!\; LA t{
{Printed Name) (Printed Name)
(e s.ufe at g CEO - (S <JuM 20623
‘ (Title) {Date Signed)
PRIOR INVENTIONS
1. Prior Inventions Disclosure. Except as listed in Scetion 2 below, the following is a complete list of all Prior

Inventions:
] Mo Prior Inventions,

O See below:

] Additional sheets attached.
%, Duge to a prior confidentiality agreement, [ cannot complewe the disclosure under Section 1 above wilh respect to the
Prior Inventions generally listed below, the intellectual property rights and duty of conlidentiality with respect to which T
owe Lo the following party(ies):

Excluded Invention Party(ies) Relationship

L
2
3.

[0  Additional sheets attached.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas Zindrick, J.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Genelux Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. 1 am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)):

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. | have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2023

By: /s/ Thomas Zindrick, J.D.

Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Thomas Zindrick, J.D., President and Chief Executive Officer of Genelux Corporation
(the “Company”), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2023, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the
“Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 14, 2023

By: /s/ Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
Thomas Zindrick, J.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of Genelux Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.




